

A Grammar of Lepcha

Plaisier, H.

Citation

Plaisier, H. (2006, February 16). *A Grammar of Lepcha*. Retrieved from https://hdl.handle.net/1887/4379

Version: Not Applicable (or Unknown)

License: License agreement concerning inclusion of doctoral thesis in the

Institutional Repository of the University of Leiden

Downloaded from: https://hdl.handle.net/1887/4379

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

A Grammar of Lepcha

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van

de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden
op gezag van de Rector Magnificus Dr. D.D. Breimer,
hoogleraar in de faculteit der Wiskunde en
Natuurwetenschappen en die der Geneeskunde,
volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties
te verdedigen op donderdag 16 februari 2006
klokke 16.15

door

Heleen Plaisier geboren te Eindhoven in 1968

Promotiecommissie:

Promotores: Prof. Dr. G.L. van Driem

Prof. Dr. F.H.H. Kortlandt

Referent: Prof. Dr. R. Bielmeier, Universität Bern (CH)

Overige leden: Prof. Dr. W.F.H. Adelaar

Prof. Dr. A.M. Lubotsky Prof. Dr. J. Schaeken

De totstandkoming van dit proefschrift werd mede mogelijk gemaakt door financiële ondersteuning van de Nederlandse Organisatie voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek (NWO).

CONTENTS

| LIST OF DIAGRAMS | |
|--|-----|
| ABBREVIATIONS AND CONVENTIONS | |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | |
| CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| CHAPTER TWO: PHONOLOGY AND ORTHOGRAPHY | |
| 2.1 Vowels | |
| 2.2 Consonants | |
| 2.3 Syllables | 23 |
| 2.4 Native Lepcha orthography | 24 |
| 2.5 Romanisation and spelling | 30 |
| CHAPTER THREE: PARTS OF SPEECH | 39 |
| 3.1 Derivational affixes | 39 |
| 3.2 Gender-specific endings | 41 |
| 3.3 Compounding | 43 |
| 3.4 Reduplication | 44 |
| 3.5 Causative verbs | 44 |
| CHAPTER FOUR: NOMINAL MORPHOLOGY | 47 |
| 4.1 Number | 48 |
| 4.2 The definite and indefinite article | 54 |
| 4.3 Pronouns | |
| 4.3.1 Personal pronouns | |
| 4.3.2 Demonstrative pronouns | |
| 4.3.3 Interrogative and relative pronouns | |
| 4.3.4 Indefinite pronouns | |
| 4.4 The ablative suffix | |
| 4.5 The lative suffix | |
| 4.6 The genitive and comitative suffixes | |
| 4.7 The locative suffix | 81 |
| 4.8 The dative suffix | |
| 4.9 Adjectives | |
| 4.10 Comparative and superlative constructions | 87 |
| 4.11 Numerals | 88 |
| 4.12 Telling time | 93 |
| CHAPTER FIVE: VERBAL MORPHOLOGY | 97 |
| 5.1 Verb stems | 97 |
| 5.2 Permission, ability, opportunity, exigency | |
| 5.3 Verbs 'to be' | 104 |
| 5.4 Negation | |
| 5.5 Gerund and the participle | |
| 5.6 Infinitive | |
| 5.7 Aorist | |
| 5.8 Progressive tense | |
| | |

CONTENTS

| 5.9 Non-preterite tense | 115 116 116 117 118 119 |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| SUBORDINATION | 125 |
| 6.1 The request particle | |
| 6.2 The authorative particle | |
| 6.3 The dubitative particle | |
| 6.4 The possibility particle | 127 |
| 6.5 The inferential particle | 127 |
| 6.6 The certainty particle | |
| 6.7 The discovery particle | |
| 6.8 The reported speech particles | |
| 6.9 Coordination | |
| 6.10 Subordination | |
| 6.11 The factitive marker | 137 |
| TEXT ONE: THE MOUNTAIN DEVIL | 139 |
| TEXT TWO: THE STORY OF THE JACKAL | 159 |
| TEXT THREE: THE GREAT KING GYEBÚ | 163 |
| TEXT FOUR: TWO LEPCHA GIRLS | 179 |
| GLOSSARY | 189 |
| BIBLIOGRAPHY | 219 |
| INDEX | 225 |

LIST OF DIAGRAMS

| Diagram 1: Lepcha vowel phonemes | 10 |
|--|-------|
| Diagram 2: Lepcha consonant phonemes | 14 |
| Diagram 3: Syllable-initial consonant clusters | 23 |
| Diagram 4: Original order of the syllabary | 25 |
| Diagram 5: Consonant letters | 27 |
| Diagram 6: Vowel signs | 27 |
| Diagram 7: Final consonant signs | |
| Diagram 8: Affixed consonant signs | |
| Diagram 9: Retroflex consonants | 29 |
| Diagram 10: Romanisation systems | 34-35 |
| Diagram 11: Transliteration and transcription of Lepcha vowels | 36 |
| Diagram 12: Personal pronouns | 60 |
| Diagram 13: Singular oblique pronouns | 6 |
| Diagram 14: Lepcha numbers | |
| | |

ABBREVIATIONS AND CONVENTIONS

1 first person
2 second person
3 third person
ABL ablative marker
adj. adjective
adv. adverb

AST assertive particle
AUTH authorative particle
cf. confer, compare
CMP completive auxiliary
CRT certainty particle

D dual

DAT dative suffix
DEF definite article
DSC discovery particle
DUB dubitative particle

ed. editor eds. editors

et al et alii, and others etc. et cetera, and the rest exhaustive auxiliary **EXH** factitive marker FCT genitive suffix **GEN** gerund marker **GER** inferential particle IFR IND individuative suffix infinitival marker INF locative suffix LOC

n. noun

NEG negative marker

NPR non-preterite tense marker

num. numeral oblique form

P plural

ABBREVIATIONS AND CONVENTIONS

pf. prefix

PL.H human plural suffix PL.NH non-human plural suffix

PRF perfect auxiliary

PRG progressive tense marker

pron. pronoun

PSB possibility particle

PTC participle

Q interrogative particle REP reported speech particle

REQ request particle RES resultative auxiliary

S singular sal. salutation sf. suffix v. verb

viz. *videlicet*, or by substitution

vs. versus

[] phonetic transcription; analytical note

// phonological transcription <> morphological transcription

italics transliteration

~ alternates (allomorphs, allophones)

- word-internal morpheme boundary or boundary be-

tween a word and an affix in glosses

· syllable boundary in phonetic transcription

syllable boundary in transliteration
 vowel sign in Lepcha orthography
 consonant sign in Lepcha orthography

wowel or consonant sign in Lepcha orthography

ABBREVIATIONS AND CONVENTIONS

Nepali is transliterated from the devanāgarī script conventionally in accordance with Indological tradition:

| | | a | | | | ā | | |
|-------------|---|----|---|------------------|---|----|---|----|
| | | i | | | | ī | | |
| | | u | | | | ū | | |
| | | | | ŗ | | | | |
| | | e | | • | | ai | | |
| | | o | | | | au | | |
| | | ṁ | | | | ķ | | |
| | | · | | | | · | | |
| k | | kh | | g | | gh | | 'n |
| c | | ch | | g j d d | | jh | | ñ |
| c t t | | ţh | | d | | фh | | ņ |
| t | | th | | d | | dh | | n |
| p | | ph | | b | | bh | | m |
| | y | | r | | 1 | | V | |
| | | ś | | Ş | | S | | |
| | | | | h | | | | |

The modern pronunciations of Dzongkha and Dränjoke are given in Roman Dzongkha, the official system for the phonological representation of Dzongkha, described in van Driem 1998.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Much gratitude is due to &3 & Ugen Shipmú, &3 & Car Sicon Drúp Shuzóng Támsáng and (\$5 & Car) Dorji Tshering, who provided most of the material on which the present study is based and who devoted a lot of time and patience to my research. I would like to thank concern since Lyángsóng Támsáng, \$350 \$ince Chúni Támsáng, \$150 \$ince

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

Lepcha is a Tibeto-Burman language spoken in Sikkim, Darjeeling district in West Bengal in India, in Ilām district in Nepal, and in a few villages of Samtsi district in south-western Bhutan. The tribal homeland of the Lepcha people is referred to as Q to the máyel lyáng 'hidden paradise' or Q to the areas in which Lepcha is spoken today were once Sikkimese territory. The kingdom of Sikkim used to comprise all of present-day Sikkim and most of Darjeeling district. Kalimpong, now in Darjeeling district, used to be part of Bhutan, but was lost to the British and became 'British Bhutan' before being incorporated into Darjeeling district. The Lepcha are believed to be the aboriginal inhabitants of Sikkim.

Today the Lepcha people constitute a minority of the population of modern Sikkim, which has been flooded by immigrants from Nepal. Although the Lepcha themselves estimate their number of speakers to be over 50,000, the total number is likely to be much smaller. According to the 1991 Census of India, the most recent statistical profile for which the data have been disaggregated, the total number of mother tongue Lepcha speakers across the nation is 29,854. While their distribution is largely in Sikkim and the northern districts of West Bengal, there are no reliable speaker numbers for these areas. In the Darjeeling district there are many Lepcha villages particularly in the area surrounding the small town of Kalimpong. There are reportedly roughly a hundred Lepcha households in Ilām, mainly in the villages Nāmsālin, Phikkal, Kolbun, Panckanyā, Kanyām, Śrī Antu and Cisopānī, and approximately a thousand Lepcha speakers in Samtsi District, in Denchukha north of the 'Amochu in Bhutan (van Driem 2001: 819). Although Lepcha is unmistakably a Tibeto-Burman language, its exact position within Tibeto-Burman is still unclear.

The English name 'Lepcha' derives from Nepali $l\bar{a}pce$ or $l\bar{a}pc\bar{a}$, which originally had the derogatory connotation of 'inarticulate

speech'. Nowadays, the term 'Lepcha' is widely used without this connotation. The Lepcha call themselves The system of the Rong and of God', or simply simply rongkup rumkup 'children of the Rong'. Alternatively, the Lepcha people may call themselves of assumptions of language' is assumption of the Rong tribe'. The Lepcha word for 'language' is assumption of the Lepcha call their own language of the rongring.

The four groups do not represent four different dialects; although there are regional differences between the Lepcha spoken in different areas, these differences are largely lexical. The Lepcha spoken by the Renjóngmú is generally more influenced by Dränjoke than the Lepcha spoken by the Támsángmú, which in itself is more influenced by Nepali than the Lepcha spoken by the Renjóngmú. Since there is a lot of mobility between Sikkim and Darjeeling district, with children going to school or college or finding jobs in areas different from where their parents live, the regional influences are not always straightforward. However, the sense of regional identity is strong enough, buttressed by a number of real cultural differences, between the Renjóngmú and the Támsángmú to make the distinction between these major groups within the Lepcha speaking community a vital one.

In Sikkim, Lepcha is one of eleven official languages. Lepcha is taught in schools, there is a textbook department that develops official learning materials, there is a Lepcha edition of a government newspaper, the Sikkim Herald, and the government radio station broadcasts news bulletins and cultural programmes in the Lepcha language. A special area in North Sikkim holds the AMD Dzongú [zónggú] Lepcha reserve, a Lepcha conservation area where but few outsiders have

been allowed to settle. In the Darjeeling district, the Lepcha have had to struggle to get official status in order to receive special benefits and to be able to have air time on the official radio stations. The Lepcha Association, which is a social and cultural organisation with several different branches and chapters in which all Lepchas have organised themselves, coordinates evening classes in the Lepcha language and other social and cultural initiatives, such as festivals and archery competitions.

The Lepcha are divided into various clans or families known as Nw putsho and each clan has its own ₹ dâ 'lake' and N cú 'mountain peak'. The cú are regularly honoured in of the cú rumfát 'mountain worship' ceremonies. In the Kalimpong area, the origin of the clan names is traditionally explained as follows: when the evil king x(cuta) hlaso ming 'Lhasa Devil' was killed by \$(\cuta) támsáng thíng 'Lord Támsáng', then Lord Támsáng expressed his gratitude to 108 men by bestowing upon each of them an honorary title, as well as placing each of them under the protection of a specific lake and mountain peak. The honorary titles developed into clan names, such as śśści lúksómmú, śc. śżż simíkmú, w*(zz sadámú. Although most Lepcha know to which putsho they belong, they do not always know the corresponding $d\hat{a}$ and $c\hat{u}$. Today the full clan name may be shortened, e.g. Simik from Jan simikmú, anglicised and shortened, e.g. Foning from (5,3) fonyung rumsóngmú, or the clan name may be substituted by the generic epithet 'Lepcha', e.g. Dorji Tshering Lepcha.

The Lepcha are known as excellent weavers and they weave the $\neq j$ dum 'cloth' for the dumprá themselves. The Lepcha are also famous for their unique knowledge of the medicinal properties of local plants. Bamboo, po, plays an important role in Lepcha life and the Lepcha sometimes refer to themselves as the 'brothers of the bamboo', because of their skilful use of various kinds of bamboo and rattan in building houses, weaving baskets, constructing bridges, rafts, fences and making bows, arrows and all sorts of household utensils.

The central religious roles in the Lepcha community are traditionally occupied by the z_1 mun and z_2 bóngthíng, who both function as shamans. The bóngthíng is traditionally a male shaman who presides at recurring religious ceremonies and seasonal festivals and may heal acute illness. The mun, often but not necessarily a female shaman, is a healer who exorcises demons, helps to heal illness and guides souls to the afterlife. It is possible for a bóngthíng to develop into a mun, in Sikkim such healers are known as 5% padem. In the eighteenth century, the Lepcha people were converted to Buddhism, although indigenous Lepcha shamanism managed to coexist with Buddhist customs and beliefs. Both Buddhist lamas and Lepcha bóngthíngs preside at many important ceremonies in Lepcha life, each to perform their own rituals. Since the middle of the nineteenth century, in the Darjeeling district a significant number of Lepcha people have converted to Christianity. Many Christian Lepcha people have lost their language and have distanced themselves from the old shamanistic rituals and beliefs. This stance occasionally gives rise to tension between Buddhist and Christian Lepcha.

The entire complex of Lepcha myths, legends, fables and fairy-tales that has been orally transmitted throughout the centuries is known as "" lúngten sung 'mythology, legends'. The Lepcha have their own indigenous script which dates back to the 18th century, explained in the next chapter. Although many written Lepcha texts are adaptations of Tibetan Buddhist literature, they clearly display a Lepcha character. Further research is required in order to determine the precise nature of the influence of Lepcha oral traditions, regional folkloristic influences and Tibetan Buddhism on Lepcha literature (Plaisier 2003b, Klafkowski 1983: 172).

Archibald Campbell published a short list of Lepcha words in 1840. In 1842, the independent clergyman William Start brought more than twenty German missionaries to Darjeeling in order to start

a Christian mission post there. Although the initiative was not a lasting success, William Start and his colleague Karl Gottlieb Niebel did run a school for Lepcha children in Tukvár, near Darjeeling, for some time and translated parts of the Bible into Lepcha (Start and Niebel 1849, 1872). When Start returned to England in 1852, Niebel continued his missionary work in the area. A commemorative plaque in St. Columba's Church in Darjeeling reads: '1865. Karl G. Niebel, 23 years translator with the Lepcha, died' (Perry 1997: 31). Some of the other missionaries that Start had brought over settled in the region and started up various businesses. Joachim Stölke, for example, became a tea planter, as did his sons John and William Stölke, who together wrote an as yet unpublished extensive Lepcha-English dictionary around 1900.

At around the same time that William Start became interested in the Darjeeling area, Colonel George Byres Mainwaring of the Bengal Staff Corps made his first visit to Darjeeling. The Lepcha customs and way of life had a great impact on Mainwaring, who saw all the traits of Lepcha culture he so admired reflected in their language. He was the first to write a grammar of Lepcha, which was published in 1876. Mainwaring worked on a Lepcha dictionary as well, the manuscript of which was edited and published in 1898 by Albert Grünwedel after Mainwaring's death. Mainwaring's work has been of pivotal importance for the survival of the Lepcha language, although it has also been criticised because of its strong latinate bias.

Apart from editing Mainwaring's dictionary, Albert Grünwedel published translations of Lepcha texts based on Tibetan sources. Lawrence Waddell published an article with remarks on a number of Lepcha place names in 1892, and in an article in 1899 he translated and explained nine Lepcha songs. In his account of Tibetan Buddhism, Waddell (1895) also described Lepcha religious practices. These works were followed by different short accounts of the Lepcha language by Schott (1881), Drouin (1901) and Feer (1898).

Several studies on Lepcha culture or aspects thereof have been published, such as those by Stocks (1925), Morris (1938), Gorer (1938), Hermanns (1954) and later Klafkowski (1980, 1983), Thakur (1988) and Chattopadhyay (1990). The Austrian tibetologist René de Nebesky-Wojkowitz published extensively on the religion of the Lepcha until his early death in 1959. The most important anthropological

study of the Lepcha people and their culture remains the monumental work by Halfdan Siiger and Jørgen Rischel, published in 1967.

Notable 20th century publications on the Lepcha language consist of studies on the field of classification (Benedict 1972, Shafer 1955, Forrest 1962, Bodman 1988), orthography and inconsistencies in spelling (Haarh 1959, Sprigg 1983, 1989, 1997, 1998, Chakraborty 1978) and phonology (Sprigg 1966a, 1996b, Bodman 1989). In 1966, Prabhakar Sinha wrote an unpublished grammar of Lepcha as a Ph.D. dissertation at Deccan College in Pune.

Only after writing the present grammar was I able to understand much of Mainwaring's descriptions, shrouded as they are behind its latinate veil. The same applies *a fortiori* to the unpublished dissertation written by Sinha, which contains numerous lists but is not exceedingly insightful and usually omits descriptions of the meanings of grammatical morphemes. The articles by Haarh, Bodman and especially Sprigg are useful studies of highly specific aspects of the language.

The Lepcha Textbook Department of the Government of Sikkim and the various Lepcha Associations of Kalimpong, Darjeeling and Sikkim have been publishing periodicals, books, plays and collections of poetry in Lepcha for decades. The Lepcha author Arthur Foning published his influential book Lepcha, My Vanishing Tribe in 1987, and the book was reprinted in 2003. Two other outstanding Lepcha scholars, گزیم بین Khárpú Támsáng and مرتب Dóngtshen Luksóm, have both published grammar textbooks of Lepcha written in Lepcha, i.e. Támsáng (1978), Luksóm (1981), as well as other studies. These grammar books should not be seen as comprehensive grammatical descriptions of the Lepcha language, but rather as language textbooks. Both books are of a prescriptive nature, apparently written with an audience of language learners in mind. Although both grammars appear to be based on Mainwaring's grammar of 1876, Luksóm follows Mainwaring much less closely than Támsáng does and offers several original and insightful discussions and examples.

Several dictionaries of the Lepcha language have been compiled (Grünwedel 1898a, Cemjong 1970, Kumar 1978). Khárpú Támsáng's magnificent *Lepcha English Encyclopedic Dictionary*, published in 1980, is indispensible to anyone working on Lepcha. In 1983, a *Lepcha Hindi English Dictionary* was compiled by Dóngtshen Luksóm. In 1996, an *English to Lepcha Dictionary* was published by the emi-

nent Lepcha authors ষ্টুট্টে Jugen Shipmú, হারে ১৯৮৬ চিন্টের Karma Lode Righimú, ৯৮১ ফুর্টের জেন্টের Nakú Tshering Likmú and ১৯৮৬ ফুর্টের ১৯৮৬ ক্রিক্রান্টের Dorji Wángdi Kunchúdyangmú.

Ever since its first issue in 1997, the quarterly Lepcha bilingual news magazine & (3) Aachuley [ácúle] published by the Lepcha Literary Organisation in Kalimpong and edited by (3) (Lyángsóng Támsáng, has proven to be an important forum for contributions on Lepcha language and culture written by authors from all over the world.

The present book is a descriptive study of the Lepcha language. The data for this study were collected during several pleasant sojourns amongst the cheerful Lepcha people in Kalimpong and Sikkim between 1994 and 1998. During my research, I also investigated the history and origins of old Lepcha texts. The results of this investigation have appeared in the form of a catalogue describing the unique collection of Lepcha manuscripts kept in Leiden, the world's largest collection of Lepcha texts. This catalogue also contains an introduction to Lepcha literary history and a survey of the smaller collections of Lepcha manuscripts in London, Gangtok and Vienna.

CHAPTER TWO

PHONOLOGY AND ORTHOGRAPHY

This chapter is concerned with the organisation of sounds as linguistic units in the Lepcha language. In this chapter, the phonemes of Lepcha are represented both in the romanisation used throughout this book, as well as in a phonetic transcription in the International Phonetic Alphabet. The phonetic transcription is given between square brackets. In example sentences, the original Lepcha orthography is included. The romanisation used in this book is in fact a transliteration of the native Lepcha orthography, which is faithful to the facts of the traditional orthography. Since the transliteration is consistent with the way text is written in traditional orthography, it remains possible at all times to derive the spelling in original Lepcha orthography from the transliteration. Moreover, the use of the transliteration eases comparisons to transcribed Lepcha forms used in other publications. The transliteration used here is largely phonological, the few phonological ambiguities that arise from the transliteration are discussed in this chapter. In the chosen transliteration, syllable boundaries in multisyllabic words are indicated by a hyphen only in those cases where they cannot be predicted on the basis of the phonotactic rules described in this chapter, or when it is necessary to separate phoneme symbols which might otherwise be read as a digraph for another phoneme, e.g. ல்தா lúk-hróng, ஆல் zúk-lât. If a syllable ends in a vowel the syllable boundary is not indicated, e.g. an indicated, e.g. an indicated, e.g. an indicated, e.g. and e. phonetic transcriptions, syllable boundaries are indicated with the symbol [·]. In glossed example sentences, a dash [-] is used to indicate a word-internal morpheme boundary or the boundary between a word and an affix.

2.1 Vowels

Lepcha has eight phonemic vowels, symbolised as i or i for [i], e for [e~ ϵ], u for [w], a or \hat{a} for [ə], \hat{a} for [a], \hat{u} for [u], o for [o], and \hat{o} for [ɔ]. The vowel phonemes are presented in Diagram 1, where their phonetic values are given between square brackets and their transliteration graphemes are given in italics. The qualitative contrast between the vowels involves four degrees of vowel height dimension and three degrees in the front-back dimension. There is no phonological vowel length, although a vowel in an open syllable tends to have a longer realisation than the same vowel in a closed syllable.

| | front | | back |
|------------|----------------|-------------------------|--------------|
| close | [i] <i>i,í</i> | [w] <i>u</i> | [u] <i>ú</i> |
| half-close | | | [o] <i>o</i> |
| half-open | [e~ε] <i>e</i> | [Λ] <i>a</i> , <i>â</i> | [ɔ] <i>ó</i> |
| open | | [a] <i>á</i> | |

Diagram 1: Lepcha vowel phonemes

The phoneme /i/ is an unrounded close front vowel [i]. In open syllables, /i/ is often realised as [i:]. In closed syllables, /i/ is generally realised as [i] but may occasionally move toward the more central quality of [i].

| ς ĕ ríp | [ri?p ⁻] | 'flower' |
|----------------|----------------------|----------|
| So bi | [bi] | 'give' |
| ς ξ ?ík | [?i?k¯] | 'still |
| ∫₹ 2ít | [?i?t̪ᠯ] | 'create' |

The phoneme /e/ varies in pronunciation between [e] and $[\epsilon]$ and sometimes $[\iota]$, especially before velar consonants. In general, we can

say that in open syllables the phoneme /e/ is realised as an unrounded half-close front vowel [e] or [I] and in closed syllables the phoneme /e/ is realised as an unrounded half-open front vowel [ϵ]. However, the variation between the different allophones is in fact slighly more complex, since the realisation [ϵ] does not seem to occur before [η] and [k]. Before [p], [m], [l], [n], [r], and [t] the phoneme /e/ may be realised as either [e], [I] or [ϵ].

| zpe | [pe] | 'grass' |
|------------------------|-----------|---------------|
| ट्रैव्ह renjóng | [rɛn·ʒɔŋ] | 'Sikkim' |
| 👸 len | [lɛn] | 'than' |
| 👸 len 👸 jer | [3Er] | 'gold' |
| if heng | [իւդ] | 'ginger' |
| Ri ž Pámlem | [?a·mlɛm] | 'face' |
| ‡ klek | [kle?k] | 'force, urge' |

The phoneme /á/ is an unrounded open front vowel [a], with allophones ranging to an unrounded back vowel [a].

| റ്റ് navár | [nʌ·var] | 'boat' |
|------------|-------------------|----------|
| ö(bám | [bam] | 'dwell' |
| N ngár | [ŋar] | 'slice' |
| &(₹ ?ákâ | [?a·kʌ] | 'hand' |
| ₩(Se záti | [dza <u>·</u> ti] | 'nutmeg' |

The phonetic value of the phoneme /a/, represented by the transliteration graphemes a and \hat{a} , varies considerably. This vowel can be described as an unrounded central vowel that usually approaches the quality of schwa [2]. This phoneme may also be realised as an unrounded half-open central vowel [Λ] or as an unrounded central vowel [Π]. From the point of view of widespread conventions regarding the use of diacritics with the Roman script, the circumflex accent above the a to represent a schwa may strike many as odd. However, this convention in transliterating Lepcha script dates back to Mainwaring and stems from the peculiar role of the diacritic flourish known as the \mathcal{F} \hat{ran} in Lepcha script and first described as a 'circumflex' sign by Mainwaring, a historically interesting orthographic device discussed in greater detail later in this chapter.

| ₹ dâ | $[d\Lambda]$ | 'lake' |
|---------------------------|--------------|-------------------|
| € fâk | [fəʔkᠯ] | 'scrape' |
| $\ddot{\mathfrak{o}}$ vâm | [vəm] | 'song' |
| oo cang | [can] | 'foster, nourish' |
| ગ્રહ્ય patung | [pəːt̞ɯŋ] | 'shoulder' |

The phoneme /u/ is an unrounded back vowel [\mathfrak{w}], sometimes realised closer to the value of [\mathfrak{i}]. The phoneme / \mathfrak{u} / is a rounded close back vowel [\mathfrak{u}].

| &(ö) ?ánum | [?a·nwm] | 'younger brother' |
|---------------|----------|--------------------|
| γγru | [rw] | 'cane' |
| જ્ઞાેં ?ulbú | [ʔɨl·bu] | 'salesman, seller' |
| ∗ 3 dú | [du] | 'umbrella' |
| €σ3 kajú | [kə·ʒu] | 'dog' |
| is thúk | [thu?k] | 'season' |
| ₹3 Pút | [ʔuʔt̪ᠯ] | 'otter' |

The phoneme /o/ is a rounded half-close back vowel [o]. This rounded half-close back vowel is usually a bit raised, viz. [o].

| $\propto hlo$ | [hlo] | 'hill' |
|-----------------|----------------------|------------|
| (‡ dop | [do?p ⁻] | 'burn' |
| (w go | [go] | 'I' |
| (3. To Potshón) | g [ʔoʦʰɔŋ] | 'that day' |

The vowel /6/ is a rounded half-open back vowel [5], usually raised, i.e. [5].

| &(芯 Pánóm | [?a·nɔm] | 'elder sister' |
|-----------|----------|--------------------|
| Å món | [mon] | 'pig' |
| Æv myóng | [mjɔŋ] | 'experience' |
| (Zv myón | [mjon] | 'forget' |
| tw gó | [gɔ] | 'be happy' |
| ₹ 7ót | [?ɔʔt̪ᠯ] | 'pluck, as fruits' |

The distinction between the phonemes /o/ and /ó/ is clearly phonetically differentiated in reading pronunciations and the cultivated enunciations of many literate speakers. However, the distinction is lost in the speech of non-literate speakers, particularly those highly fluent in

Nepali, where no comparable phonological distinction exists. It is difficult to ascertain whether this distinction, i.e. /o/ vs. /ó/, is an original phonological distinction which is on the way out or an artificial distinction inspired by the Lepcha literary tradition, which was invented in the eighteenth century.

2.2 Consonants

The phoneme inventory of Lepcha consonants is listed in Diagram 2, with a phonetic transcription between square brackets, followed by the transliteration used throughout this book in italics. In contrast to the Lepcha vowels, the phonemic units of the consonant system match the transliteration graphemes in a straightforward one-to-one correspondence. The phonemes are briefly described below, beginning with the velar, palatal, dental, retroflex and bilabial stops and nasals, followed by fricatives, affricates, approximants, the trill and the glottal stop.

The phoneme /k/ is an unaspirated voiceless dorso-velar stop [k]. Before the vowels /i/ and /e/, /k/ is slightly palatalised [k^j]. In syllable-final position, /k/ is found to be realised as a voiceless unreleased dorso-velar stop [k⁷], usually reinforced with a simultaneous glottal stop [?k⁷], as is the case in kakyók [ka·kjɔ?k⁷] 'nine'.

| €% kacer | [kv.cer] | 'wheat' |
|-----------------|------------------------|-------------------|
| હોર્ફેલ lúk?ál | [luk·?al] | 'tomorrow' |
| ∫ Ĕ kít | [k ^j iʔt̪ᠯ] | 'snatch' |
| ; (rák | [ra?k¯] | 'search, examine' |
| z(Ĵ-Ĕ, ?ákrím | [?a·krim] | 'bitter' |

The phoneme /kh/ is an aspirated voiceless dorso-velar stop $[k^h]$. The phoneme /kh/ occurs only in syllable-initial, not in syllable-final position.

| ن khek | [kʰeʔk̅] | 'freeze' |
|----------|--------------------|-----------------|
| હૈ(khák | [kʰaʔkᠯ] | 'choke' |
| 03 khú | [k ^h u] | 'loaf of bread' |
| ις khyú | [kʰju] | 'bathe' |

| | labial | dental | alveola | r retroflex | palatal | velar | glottal |
|----------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|-------------------|-------------------|---------|---------|
| | | | | | | | |
| voiceless | [p] | [t] | | [t] | [c] | [k] | [?] |
| stop | p | t | | tr | С | k | ? |
| aspirated | [p ^h] | [t ^h] | | [t ^h] | [c ^h] | $[k^h]$ | |
| voiceless stop | ph | th | | thr | ch | kh | |
| voiced | [b] | [d] | | [d] | | [g] | |
| stop | b | d | | dr | | g | |
| voiced | [m] | [n] | | | [ɲ] | [ŋ] | |
| nasal | m | n | | | ny | ng | |
| voiceless | | | [ts] | | | | |
| affricate | | | ts | | | | |
| aspirated | | | [ts ^h] | | | | |
| voiceless | | | tsh | | | | |
| affricate | | | | | | | |
| voiceless | [f] | | [s] [J | <u>[]</u> | | | |
| fricative | f | | s sl | i | | | |
| voiced | [v] | | [z] [ʒ | 3] | | | |
| fricative | v | | z j | i | | | |
| voiced | | | [r] | | | | |
| trill | | | r | | | | |
| voiced | [w] | [1] | | | [j] | | |
| approximant | W | l | | | у | | |
| voiceless | | | | | | | [h] |
| approximant | | | | | | | h |
| | | | | | | | |

Diagram 2: Lepcha consonant phonemes

The phoneme /g/ is an unaspirated voiced dorso-velar stop [g]. Before the vowels /i/ and /e/, the /g/ is slightly palatalised $[g^{i}]$. The phoneme /g/ occurs only in syllable-initial, not in syllable-final position.

| ы gán | [gan] | 'old, aged |
|-----------------|---------------------------|------------|
| (wor z gorúng | [goˈruŋ] | 'either' |
| స్ట్ og gek-lát | [g ^j ek·laʔtᠯ] | 'birth' |
| ŵł gyú | [gju] | 'skill' |

έων tagryú [tʌ·grju] 'cheek'

The phoneme /ŋ/, corresponding to the transliteration digraph ng, is a voiced dorso-velar nasal [ŋ]. The phoneme /ŋ/ also occurs in syllable-final position. There is a tendency to neutralise the difference between /ŋ/ and /n/ in syllable-final position. A small number of speakers occasionally realise an initial /ŋ/ closer to a dental nasal [n].

| ኝ(ngán | [ŋan] | 'remain, sit' |
|-----------|---------|---------------|
| († ngol | [ŋol] | 'early' |
| હ્યુ ?úng | [?uŋ] | 'water' |
| kryóng 🚓 | [krjɔŋ] | 'praise' |

In syllable-initial position, the phoneme /ŋ/ is sometimes realised as a voiced [h], as we can see in the three examples listed directly below this paragraph. The relationship between the relaxed state of the glottis and the lowered state of the velum conventionally termed nasality, is known as *rhinoglottophilia*. Examples discussed by Matisoff (1975), Michailovsky (1975) and Sprigg (1987), point to this phenomenon as an affinity resulting in the nasalisation of sounds such as [h] or [?], but the examples in Lepcha operate in the opposite direction, from a nasal to an [h]. Although not many examples of this phenomenon were found in Lepcha, the few attested instances are very common and widespread among Lepcha speakers of different ages and of different regions. Nevertheless, most speakers would deny having pronounced the initial /ŋ/ as [h] when confronted with this observation, and the alternation would be rejected in written Lepcha.

| 7 ngâk | [ŋəʔk¯~həʔk¯] | 'look, observe' |
|--------|---------------|-----------------|
| rz ngú | [ŋu~hu] | 'fish' |
| Kngún | [ŋun~hun] | 'become' |

The phoneme /c/ is an unaspirated voiceless palatal stop [c]. The phoneme /ch/ is its aspirated counterpart [c^h]. The phonemes /c/ and /ch/ occur only in syllable-initial, not in syllable-final position.

| (CO | [co] | 'tea' |
|--------|--------------------|------------------------------|
| Jỡ cí | [ci] | 'cí, fermented grain liquor' |
| (x cho | [c ^h o] | 'book' |

| 素 chet | [cʰεʔt̪ᠯ] | 'relate' |
|---------------|-------------|------------|
| ỗ(★ cechók | [ce·cʰɔʔk̄] | 'loveable' |

The phoneme $/\tilde{n}/$, corresponding to the transliteration digraph ny, is a voiced palatal nasal [n]. The phoneme $/\tilde{n}/$ occurs only in syllable-initial, not in syllable-final position.

| ₹ nyet | [ɲɛʔt̪t] | 'two' |
|-----------------|-----------|-----------|
| Šīk nyilop | [ɲi·loʔp] | 'earlobe' |
| (₺ nyók | [ɲɔʔk¯] | 'delay' |
| ∫ ₹ nyín | [nin] | 'milk' |

The phoneme /t/ is realised as a voiceless dental stop [t], or as a voiceless alveolar stop [t]. The phoneme /t/ is truly dental in that the tip of the tongue actually touches the back of the teeth. In syllable-final position, /t/ is found to be realised as a voiceless unreleased dental [t] or alveolar stop [t], usually reinforced with a simultaneous glottal stop, like [?t] or [?t].

| ່ອງເລັ tuknóm | [tm3k .uom] | 'nose' |
|---------------------------------------|---------------------|------------------|
| ėyເລັ tuknóm Jė̃y tímre ເຮັ tór | [tim·re] | 'respect' |
| (हैं tór | [tor] | 'silk' |
| ৰ্ছিচুক্তি títrepót | [t̪iʔt̪ᠯˈreˈpɔʔt̪ᠯ] | 'tamarind fruit' |
| &3 tyút | [tju?t] | 'scar' |
| &ાર્ષ્કુ ?áhret | [a.kɛ3k] | 'bone' |

The phoneme /th/ is an aspirated voiceless dental $[\underline{t}^h]$ or alveolar stop $[t^h]$. The phoneme /th/ occurs only in syllable-initial, not in syllable-final position.

| స్ట్ thámpót | [tʰam·pɔʔtᠯ] | 'fruit' |
|---------------|--------------|---------------------|
| S⊳c∈3 thikúng | [t̪ʰi·kuŋ] | 'great grandfather' |
| (£ thop | [tʰoʔpື] | 'get' |
| thyók | [tʰjɔʔkᠯ] | 'shelter' |

The phoneme /d/ is a voiced dental [d] or alveolar stop [d]. The phoneme /d/ occurs only in syllable-initial position, not in syllable-final position.

| ∫ ∗ di | [d̪i] | 'come' |
|---------------|---------|----------|
| §∓ díng | [din] | 'stand' |
| ₹ dâ | [dʌ] | 'lake' |
| w*\ sadu | [sə.dm] | 'slowly' |

The phoneme /n/ is realised as a voiced alveolar nasal [n]. The phoneme /n/ occurs both syllable-initially and syllable-finally.

| ÃN nâlá | [nʌ·la] | 'always' |
|---------|---------|----------|
| Ö(nám | [nam] | 'year' |
| ₹ mân | [mʌn] | 'meat' |

The phoneme /tr/ is an unaspirated voiceless retroflex stop [t], and the phoneme /thr/ is its aspirated counterpart [th]. The phoneme /dr/ is an unaspirated voiced retroflex stop [d]. The retroflex phonemes only occur syllable-initially, not syllable-finally. The retroflex series are written in the native Lepcha orthography as $\epsilon_i kr$ for /tr/, $\epsilon_i kr$ for /thr/ and $\epsilon_i kr$ for /dr/. In Lepcha orthography, the retroflex consonants are often distinguished from the clusters /kr/, /hr/, /gr/, by a small dot written below the consonant cluster. Retroflex sounds occur mainly in loanwords from Tibetan, although some Lepcha words with one of the native initial consonant clusters /kr/, /hr/ or /gr/ are now sometimes pronounced with retroflex sounds, especially in Sikkim. For example, the word $\epsilon_i kr$ tagrikup [ta·gri·kur?p] 'boy' is sometimes pronounced [ta·qi·kur?p].

| ∫Ę̃¾ trínchen | [tin·c ^h en] | 'kindness' |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|----------------|
| Sễ ½ trínchen É tróp | [ˈq?cj] | 'winnow' |
| € tre | [te] | 'mule' |
| Sty thri | [t ^h i] | 'throne' |
|) รู้ thri) รู๊ thrím | [t ^h im] | 'law' |
| (मुँ throm | [thom] | 'town, market' |
| Sw, dri | [di] | 'fort, palace' |
| ریم dróp | [dɔ?p ⁻] | 'moment' |
| w dre | [de] | 'demon' |

The phoneme /p/ is an unaspirated voiceless bilabial stop [p]. In syllable-final position the phoneme /p/ is often realised as a voiceless unreleased bilabial stop [p], often glottally reinforced, viz. [?p].

| \$ pel | [pɛl] | 'be tired' |
|------------------|----------------------|------------|
| Ş pel ≟(plák | [pla?k] | 'break' |
| In pano | [pa·no] | 'king' |
| ∫⊅pi | [pi] | 'write' |
| (⊅po | [po] | 'bamboo' |
| ff ríp | [ri?p [¬]] | 'flower' |

The phoneme /ph/ is an aspirated voiceless bilabial stop $[p^h]$, which occurs only in syllable-initial position. The phoneme /f/ is a voiceless labiodental fricative [f], occasionally realised as a voiceless bilabial fricative $[\phi]$. The phoneme /f/ occurs only syllable-initially, not syllable-finally. When children learn the Lepcha alphabet in the $\cos f$ lâzóng tradition, the letter ϵf , which is pronounced $[f \circ f]$, is sometimes pronounced as $[f \circ f]$, possibly to increase the contrast between the phonemes /f/ and /ph/. The difference between the two phonemes /ph/ and /f/ appears to be fading these days, no doubt under the influence of Nepali, although in the spoken language of some Lepcha speakers the contrast is still clearly audible.

| 🛱 (phám | [p ^h am] | 'defeat' |
|--------------------|----------------------|-------------------|
| $\bowtie pho$ | [p ^h o] | 'time, turn' |
| ∫ ౘ phíl | [p ^h il] | 'be distant' |
| 5(fá | [fa] | 'swim' |
| ∫ Ē fík | [fi?k ⁷] | 'tear' |
| syste fungfing | [fɯŋ·fiŋ] | 'blue' |
| জ় flet জৈ flók | [flɛʔtᠯ] | 'wash one's face' |
| | [flɔʔkᠯ] | 'peel' |
| sty fyek | [fjɛʔkᠯ] | 'sharpen' |

The phoneme /b/ is a voiced bilabial stop [b]. The phoneme /b/ occurs only in syllable-initial position, not in syllable-final position.

| ð(bán | [ban] | 'knife' |
|-----------|-------------------------|----------|
| so bi | [bi] | 'give' |
| J̃Š bík | [bi?k] | 'cow' |
| zış ?ábek | [?a·be?k ⁻] | 'middle' |

The phoneme /m/ is a voiced bilabial nasal [m]. The phoneme /m/ occurs both in syllable-initial and in syllable-final position.

| ર્ફ mák | [ma?k¯] | 'die' |
|------------------|----------|-------------------|
| ∫z mi | [mi] | 'fire' |
| Å món | [mon] | 'pig', 'medicine' |
| εν (mlyá | [mlja] | 'level, even' |
| zur ?árom | [?a·rom] | 'fear' |

The phoneme /ts/ is a voiceless alveolar affricate [ts]. The phoneme /tsh/ is an aspirated voiceless alveolar affricate [ts]. The phonemes /ts/ and /tsh/ occur only syllable-initially, not syllable-finally.

| შ(tsám | [tsam] | 'hold' |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|-----------|
| ($\bar{\overline{z}}$ tsót | [tso?t] | 'squeeze' |
| ਰ੍ਹੇ tsúk | [tsu?k] | 'bite' |
| ອັງອັງ tsurtsur | [tsur:tsur] | 'twinkle' |
| (To tshó | $[\mathfrak{t}^h\mathfrak{d}]$ | ʻaim' |
| نفير 🕏 tshukpót | [tsʰwk·pɔʔt̪t] | 'word' |
| ั้งงังเร็ tshâlum | [ts ^h n-lum] | 'orange' |

The phoneme /s/ is a voiceless alveolar fricative [s]. The phoneme /sh/ is a voiceless alveolopalatal fricative [\int]. Both /s/ and /sh/ occur only in syllable-initial position. The distinction between /s/ and /sh/ is neutralised before the vowel [i], as for example in $\int \mathcal{E} shi$ [$\int i \sim si$] 'see'.

| (Cw SO | [so] | 'rain' |
|------------|------------|----------|
| www sagrek | [sn·gre?k] | 'throat' |
| (w) sung | [swŋ] | 'story' |
| ર્હે shâk | [∫∧?k¯] | 'louse' |
| & sher | [∫εr] | 'glass' |
| È shól | [[c]] | 'fox' |

The phoneme /j/ is a voiced alveolopalatal fricative [3]. The phoneme /j/ occurs only in syllable-initial position, not in syllable-final position. The phoneme /z/ is a voiced alveolar or dental fricative [z], sometimes realised as a voiced alveolar affricate [dz]. The distinction between /j/ and /z/ appears to be fading in modern-day spoken Lep-

cha, as some speakers no longer distinguish between the two phonemes.

| 👸 jâl | [31] | 'dry' |
|----------------------|------------------|--------------|
| 👸 jer | [3Er] | 'gold' |
| ö̈(jám | [3am] | 'assemble' |
| ₹ zâ | $[z\Lambda]$ | 'err' |
| (₩ zok | [zo?k] | 'trickle' |
| #(∙∫ * záding | [dza·diŋ~za·diŋ] | ʻjug' |
| з (Ä ?ázóm | [?a:dzɔm~?a:zɔm] | 'rice, food' |

The phoneme /r/ is a voiced alveolar trill [r], which occasionally has a flapped articulation [r]. The phoneme /r/ occurs both in syllable-initial and in syllable-final position, and can also occur as a post-consonantal glide with a certain set of consonants in syllable-initial position. The initial consonants with which the post-consonantal glide /r/ may combine are /k/, /g/, /ŋ/, /p/, /f/, /b/, /m/, /h/ (cf. Diagram 3). The post-consonantal glide /r/ also combines with the post-consonantal glide /y/, in which case it always precedes the /y/, so we may find an initial consonant followed by the sequence /ry/, as in (5)0 mryóm 'spread over the ground, creep'.

The Lepcha script distinguishes special symbols for the phoneme /r/ in its syllable-initial use, its syllable-final use, and its post-consonantal use, cf. r(ra, (2 kor, (2 pro) pro)). In this respect, Lepcha orthography structurally uniquely resembles the Limbu script, a writing system which was designed in the same region and time as the Lepcha script. The cluster r_{1} hr is realised as a voiceless apico-alveolar trill r_{1} and is only found in syllable-initial position.

| ry ru | [rɯ] | 'cane' |
|----------------|---------|------------------|
| ς̈́ rám | [ram] | 'thunder' |
| & rok | [ro?k] | 'read, study' |
| (∉ kor | [kor] | 'wander, stroll' |
| ₹ krón | [kron] | 'scratch' |
| gy tsur | [tsur] | 'radiate' |
| (ty hro | [ro] | 'come up' |
| ψ, hryám | [r̞jam] | ʻjerk' |
| 📆 hrún | [r̥un] | 'hot' |

The phoneme /v/ is realised as a voiced labiodental fricative [v] and the phoneme /w/ is a voiced bilabial approximant [w]. The native Lepcha orthography offers a distinction between the two graphemes for [v] and [w], i.e. Θ v for [v] and ∇ w for [w]. This distinction is still adhered to in written Lepcha, but in spoken Lepcha the distinction is marginal, and is only made when Lepcha speakers feel the need to contrast two lexemes containing either /v/ or /w/ that are spelt differently (but normally pronounced the same), or when the alphabet is read out loud. The phonemes /v/ and /w/ occur only in syllable-initial position, not in syllable-final position. Although the distinction between /v/ and /w/ is fading in spoken Lepcha, no doubt under influence of Nepali, which lacks a phoneme /v/, I have chosen to retain the distinction in writing.

| Ö vóm | [vom] | 'salt' |
|--------------|-----------|----------------|
| Bus Pávyo | [ʔa·vjo] | 'tibia' |
| ∫ỗ vík | [vi?k] | 'soldier' |
| S, vyet | [vjɛʔt̪t] | 'ask, inquire' |
| (THE WOMÚ | [wo·mu] | 'spindle' |
| જ્જરાં wómú | [wɔ·mu] | ʻjackal' |
| જેં}(∗ wúrdo | [wur·do] | 'sling' |

The phoneme /l/ is a voiced alveolar lateral approximant [1]. The phoneme /l/ occurs both in syllable-initial and in syllable-final position. The phoneme /l/ also occurs as a post-consonantal glide with a certain set of consonants in syllable-initial position. For these initial consonant clusters with /l/, there is a special series of consonant letters in the native orthography, i.e. $5 \, kla$, $6 \, gla = pla$, $6 \, fla$, $6 \, pla$, $7 \, pla$, $8 \, pla$. All consonant letters in this series actually do represent consonant clusters, although the phonological cluster $8 \, pla$ is realised as a voiceless alveolar lateral fricative [1].

| र्त्छ lót | [lɔʔt̪ᠯ] | 'repeat' |
|------------------|----------|-------------------|
| 🐧 láp | [la?p] | 'bury' |
| SÃ lít | [liʔt̪t] | 'sift' |
| જ્ઞે ?ul | [ɯl] | 'sell' |
| శ్రీ ?ul ఉnól | [lcn] | 'skin' |
| $\propto hlo$ | [lo] | 'hill' |
| ιχι hláng | [laŋ] | 'harden, as yams' |

| (x hlok | [lo?k] | 'break, as eggs' |
|-----------------|--------|------------------|
| 💢 (hlyám | [ljam] | 'shake, quiver' |

The phoneme /h/ is a voiceless glottal approximant [h], which occurs only in syllable-initial position.

| ψ(hák | [ha?k] | 'carve' |
|---------------------|--------|----------|
| ь ў heng | [heŋ] | 'ginger' |
| ษ์(háp | [ha?p] | 'shut' |
| S v híp | [hi?p] | 'shave' |

The phoneme /y/ is a voiced palatal approximant [j], which can occur in syllable-initial position, but not in syllable-final position. The phoneme /y/ also occurs as a post-consonantal glide with a certain set of consonants in syllable-initial position. The initial consonants with which /y/ combines as a post-consonantal glide, are /k/, /kh/, /g/, /t/, /th/, /d/, /p/, /ph/, /f/, /b/, /m/, /r/, /l/, /h/, /hl/ and /v/, cf. Diagram 3.

Glottal hiatus is a pre-vocalic glottal closure followed by abrupt voice onset which occurs word-initially in words beginning with a vowel and word-internally between vowels. In native Lepcha orthography, a glottal stop is indicated by the symbol \mathfrak{F} , e.g. \mathfrak{F} if [?aˈre] 'this', \mathfrak{F} if [?i?t]' 'create'.

| (wẫ so?âm | [so.3əm] | 'summer' |
|-----------|----------|----------|
| &o∑ ?áre | [?a·re] | 'this' |

The sequence that is written w 2y- at the beginning of a word, indicates an initial glottal stop [?] followed by a voiced palatal approximant [j]. Some of the examples starting with w 2y [?j] listed immediately below form minimal pairs with words with an initial voiced palatal approximant [j].

| i yok | [jo?k ⁷] | 'top, summit' |
|--------------------|----------------------|--------------------|
| ₹ ?yók | [?jo?k] | 'work, job, chore' |
| ‡ yel | [jɛl] | 'know a language' |
| 💸 ?yel | [?jɛl] | 'divert' |
| ξyâ | [jʌ] | 'know' |
| & (?yá | [?ja] | 'formerly' |
| E yor | [jor] | 'row' |

| (ॐ ?yor | [?jor] | ʻpitfall' |
|-----------------|----------|-------------|
| č (yáp | [jaʔpᠯ] | 'grope' |
| & (| [ʔjɑʔp¯] | 'chop' |
| 🕉 ?yen | [?jɛn] | 'last year' |

2.3 Syllables

Each syllable in Lepcha contains a vowel phoneme at its core. The syllable contains an initial consonant or consonant cluster, and may or may not contain a final consonant. While all consonants may occur as syllable-initial consonants, not all consonants may be combined with the post-consonantal glides -y- and -r-, nor with post-consonantal -l-. All possible combinations for initial consonant clusters are listed in Diagram 3.

| -y- | - <i>r</i> - | -ry- | <i>-l-</i> | -ly- |
|------------------|------------------------|---------------------|----------------------|---------|
| & ?ya | | | | |
| € v kya | 🗲 kra/tra | 🚓 krya/trya | 5 kla | אי klya |
| 🕠 khya | | | | |
| w gya | കൃ gra∕dra | (y) grya/drya | ₩ gla | ₩ glya |
| | א ngra | | | |
| sv tya | | | | |
| by thya | | | | |
| ★v dya | | | | |
| איג pya | $\supset_1 pra$ | 🔊 prya | ≃ pla | plya |
| y phya | | | | |
| Sv fya | \mathfrak{S}_{1} fra | 5 y frya | | 👀 flya |
| 💸 bya | o, bra | | 🕥 bla | 🕠 blya |
| w mya | 5) mra | ъ, mrya | \mathfrak{F} mla | ₹v mlya |
| rya rya | | | | |
| 🕠 lya | | | | |
| ₩ hya | ் hra∕thra | ₩ hrya/thrya | | |
| x hlya | | | | |
| Ov vya | | | | |

Diagram 3: Syllable-initial consonant clusters

The following consonants may appear in syllable-final position: /k/, $/\eta/$, /t/, /n/, /p/, /m/, /r/, /l/.

Lepcha morphemes are monosyllabic. Many Lepcha words are composed of different syllables, with the stress usually on the second syllable. Richard Keith Sprigg analyses Lepcha as having contrastive stress (1966b: 199-200). The intonation of Lepcha is characterised by the clustering of syllables into groups, often these are phrases or groups of words marked by suffixes, postpositions or particles. The intonation of Lepcha from northern Sikkim is markedly different to the intonation of Lepcha from other regions, in that it is much slower and much less monotonous. This type of intonation is believed to represent an older and more elegant style of speaking, less influenced by neighbouring languages such as Nepali or Dränjoke.

2.4 Native Lepcha orthography

The Lepcha script is written from left to right, with spaces between words. In Lepcha, no distinction is made between capital and lower-case letters. Punctuation marks are similar to the ones used in the Tibetan orthography, although nowadays full stops, commas and question marks from the Roman alphabet are also used. The 'alphabet' or 'syllabary' is referred to in the Lepcha language as CG kakha 'ABC', CAST choming 'written letters' and STA mingzât 'treasure of letters'. The native Lepcha orthography is systematically treated in the text CNCA lazóng, the book on the Lepcha alphabet, which is traditionally used to teach Lepcha orthography (Plaisier 2003: 31-32).

The order of the Lepcha alphabet as given in the \mathfrak{N} (\mathfrak{A} lazóng, is different to the order in which the Lepcha alphabet is taught and read out today. The original Lepcha syllabary was built out of five units, as given below in Diagram 4, the first units running from \mathfrak{F} to \mathfrak{F} ma, and the second unit running from \mathfrak{F} ha to \mathfrak{F} tha, etc. Although most \mathfrak{N} (\mathfrak{F} lazóng books use the same order, occasionally there is some variation in the order of the units. A similar conclusion was pointed to by R. K. Sprigg in his article 'Original and sophisticated features of the Lepcha and Limbu scripts' (Sprigg 2003). The order of the consonant symbols within the five units may vary slightly between different versions of the \mathfrak{N} (\mathfrak{F} lazóng, between the introductory summary of the alphabet in the opening part of \mathfrak{N} (\mathfrak{F} lazóng and the actual listing of all

possible syllables in wa lazóng books. However, the differences are minor and most of them are apparently oversights of the copyists.

| & ?a | € ka | w ga | ⊅ pa | s fa | o ba | ъ та | | |
|-----------------|--------------|-------------|-------------|-----------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|
| ₩ ha | y ra | & kha | ≥ ta | > tha | | | | |
| * da | ⋈ la | 5 kla | ₩ gla | ⊆ pla | % fla | ෆ bla | | |
| 3 mla | x hla | ∂ va | 7 nga | ⋄ ca | 🌣 pha | ≈ nya | s na | $\overline{\sigma}$ tsa |
| ₹ wa | ∢ ja | ∦ za | € ya | & sha | ≾ cha | نه tsha | (w sa | |

Diagram 4: Original order of the syllabary

In the wat lazóng, all the orthographic symbols and combinations of symbols are treated in a specific order, building from simple consonant or vowel signs to more complex syllables. Apart from a few paragraphs which introduce the different sections making up the book, the wat lazóng does not contain running text as such. The traditional method of instruction is for the teacher to recite sections of the WF lazóng in a set melody and for the students to read and chant along with the teacher, until the students have memorised the values of the letters and the syllables and are able to read and to recite by themselves. Although most people nowadays learn to read and write Lepcha through primers and textbooks based on different methods, the traditional method based on recitation of the wa lazóng is still practised. The list of possible syllables in Lepcha given by Mainwaring in his grammar (1876: 12-18), is clearly based on the wat lazóng. The order of the syllabary that is mostly used in primers and textbooks today, clearly influenced by the order of the devanāgarī alphabet, is given in Diagram 5 below, starting with ϵ ka, ω kha, ω ga, γ nga, and ending with \mathfrak{S} bla, \mathfrak{F} mla, \mathfrak{S} hla.

Although many Lepcha believe that a literary tradition existed among the Lepcha before the arrival of Buddhism in the area, thus far no evidence has been found to corroborate this claim. It seems more likely that the invention of the Lepcha alphabet was motivated by the

religious activities of Buddhist missionaries. The Buddhist monks were keen to communicate with the Lepcha people in their own language, and as so often happens when the influence of a new religion spreads, religious texts were translated into the local language of the area, in this case Lepcha, for which an alphabet had yet to be created (Plaisier 2003: 20-23, Risley 1894: 13, Sprigg 1983, 1996).

The Lepcha script is understood to be devised during the reign of the third chögel of Sikkim, र्क्स्य सुवार्द्धमार्द्द्र स्वासुवार् Chögä Châdo 'Namgä (imperabat 1700-1716). According to Lepcha tradition, the native Lepcha orthography was created by the Lepcha scholar joint zunto Thikúng Mensalóng, who is believed to have been a contemporary of द्वासाञ्चानर्द्व केंद्रार्थे 'Lama Lhatsün Chenpo, i.e. द्वासाञ्चानर्द्व द्वासासानव विदेशासाने सामान 'Lama Lhatsün Namkha Jimi (1597-1654), the patron saint of Sikkim, who is considered to have played a definitive part in the Sikkimese conversion to Buddhism. Since sources mention that Funds Mensalóng and Lhatsün Chenpo met each other (Foning 1987: 152), it might well have been the case that they worked together on the Lepcha orthography, which would account for a Tibetan tradition which ascribes the introduction of the Lepcha script to Lhatsün Chenpo. The Lepcha tradition that credits for Mensalóng with the invention of the Lepcha script, seems even more plausible when we realise that during the reign of Châdo 'Namgä not just the Lepcha script, but also the Limbu or Kiranti script was developed, not by *Châdo 'Namgä* himself, but by the Limbu monk *Śirijangā* (van Driem 2001: 674-675).

The 36 consonant symbols (AST 2016 choming 24mo or 2013 2015 24mú 24ming 'consonants, mother letters' are given below in Diagram 5 with a Roman transliteration of each symbol. When the consonant is not marked by any vowel sign, the inherent vowel of the consonant is the vowel transliterated as a.

Vowel diacritics may be added to the consonant symbols. The nine vowel diacritics are traditionally known as (A) & (E) choming ?ákup or & ?ákup ?ákup ?ákup vowel signs, child letters, small letters' and & ?áky \$(5) ?ákúp thámbyín or \$5 £y \$(5) míngkup thámbyín 'diacritical vowel signs', cf. Diagram 6. Mainwaring claims that the term & ?ákup was 'formerly applied by the Lepcha exclusively to the Finals' (1876: 3).

| | S kha | | | | | |
|----------|-----------|-----------------|-----------------|--|--|--|
| | ⊳ tha | | | | | |
| | w tsha | | | | | |
| & sha | Cw SA | or wa | | | | |
| 5 kla | ₩ gla | | % fla | | | |

Diagram 5: Consonant letters

| © | © (| õ | j © | ∫õ | (© | © | © | © 3 | ≻ ⊚ |
|---|------------|---|------------|------------------|------------|----------|---|------------|------------|
| a | á | â | i | ∫ ⊚̃ í | 0 | ó | и | ú | e |

Diagram 6: Vowel signs

At the beginning of a syllable, any Lepcha consonant may occur. Although all Lepcha vowels may be found at the end of a syllable, only a limited number of consonants can occur syllable-finally. The consonants found at the end of syllables are: -k, -t, -n, -p, -m, -r, -l and -ng. The sys sign tyelbú thámbyín or styllables are signs míngtyel thámbyín 'final consonant signs' are given in Diagram 7.

The $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (+ ny indo \text{ sign, i.e. '}) \otimes$, transliterated here as -ang, is used to indicate a final velar nasal when no specific vowel sign is indicated, as in $0 \times sang$. The $0.0 \times lakang$ sign is used to indicate a final velar nasal in combination with diacritical vowel signs, as in the syllables $0 \times sang$, $0 \times sang$, and $0 \times sang$. The distinction between the $0 \times sang$ and the $0.0 \times lakang$ is not always made when people discuss orthography, often the $0 \times sang$ is used as a general term for a written final velar nasal.

| symbol | 6 | | ô |
|-----------------|--------------------|------------|-----------------|
| transliteration | -k | -m | -1 |
| name of symbol | いそ | いを | Wai(|
| | lakát | lanyet | lasám |
| examples | () rok | ∫Ę̃ kím | Β̈́(pál |
| symbol | 3 | % | % |
| transliteration | -n | <i>-p</i> | -r |
| name of symbol | งล้า | いきり | N ¥ |
| | lanun | lakup | ladar |
| examples | З(bán | É óp | (₹ kor |
| symbol | <u>-</u> | € ® | ∮ ⊛ |
| transliteration | -t | -ng | -ang |
| name of symbol | いそ | N9E | J₹(* |
| | lakat | lakang | nyíndo |
| examples | Ē(fát | róng | 3 ⊅ pang |
| | | | |

Diagram 7: Final consonant signs

For those consonant clusters in which the initial consonant is followed by one of the post-consonantal glides -y, -r or -l, the term $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{S}}$ $\mathfrak{M}_{\mathfrak{S}}$ \mathfrak

| symbol | © v | ©) |
|-----------------|----------------------|-----------|
| transliteration | <i>-y</i> | -r |
| name of sign | દાખી yathyú | rw rathyú |
| examples | 🚓 kya, 🚓 kra, 🚓 krya | , |
| | , | |

Diagram 8: Affixed consonant signs

For retroflex sounds, which occur mainly in loanwords from Dränjoke, the clusters \mathcal{E}_1 kra, \mathcal{E}_1 hra and \mathcal{E}_2 gra are used, e.g. \mathcal{E}_3 gra gra are used, e.g. gra g

| €) | W | $\mathfrak{t}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ | ÷ | (iy) | મં |
|-----|-----|-------------------------------|-----|------|------|
| kra | gra | hra | tra | dra | thra |

Diagram 9: Retroflex consonants

The $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ rân 'circumflex' sign is a diacritic flourish written over a consonant sign or over a vowel sign '\$\tilde{\mathcal{F}}\$, as in \$\tilde{\mathcal{F}}\$ rân, \$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}\$ 2î. Although the original function of the \$\tilde{\mathcal{F}}\$ rân sign is still unclear, it is often present in closed syllables, in which case the circumflex sign should be written above the final consonant sign. It has been suggested that the function of the \$\tilde{\mathcal{F}}\$ rân is to indicate stress or pitch, in order to distinguish stressable syllables from syllables that never appear in a stressed position, and this hypothesis may well be correct (Plaisier 2003: 28-29, Sprigg 1983: 316). However, because the function of the \$\tilde{\mathcal{F}}\$ rân sign is unclear to most writers, nowadays the sign is

used by the Lepcha in a variety of ways and opinions vary strongly as to which is the correct usage.

2.5 Romanisation and spelling

In order to represent Lepcha in the Roman alphabet, either a transliteration or a transcription system may be used. Transliteration systems carefully substitute orthographical symbols by Roman letters and should follow the same spelling conventions and particularities that are used in the native orthography. Transcriptions are devised with the pronunciation of a language in mind and are used to characterise the phonology of a language. Not all systems that are used for the representation of Lepcha in the Roman alphabet are fully systematic in the sense that they can be called either a proper transliteration or a transcription, but the most popular ones represented in Diagram 10 below are systematic and fairly easy to grasp.

The prevailing transliteration system is that of Mainwaring, and most other romanisations are based on his system (1876: 2-3), albeit with some modifications. The transcription system used by Gorer (1938) is based on the pronunciation of well-known western European languages such as English, French and German. The basis of the transcriptions of Stocks (1925) and Hermanns (1954) is unclear.

Grünwedel (1898: viii-xi) uses Mainwaring's system, but introduces several changes in order to conform to the spelling of Tibetan words according to the Jäschke transcription. Also, Grünwedel arrived at a different treatment of Lepcha vowels, as can be concluded from Diagram 10. Mainwaring did not romanise the $\frac{\pi}{2}$ rân sign, which flaws his system, and Grünwedel chose to be more systematic in the transliteration of Lepcha vowels. Grünwedel also decided to romanise syllables with an initial a as 'a-, whereas Mainwaring would have transliterated this initial as ay-. In Grünwedel's system, the retroflex sounds are not distinguished from the consonant clusters kra, gra, hra, but he does mark each form that he believes to be a Tibetan loan with an asterisk *. Grünwedel's work is often criticised because it did not include the original Lepcha orthography. It should be noted that it was not his own choice to publish the manuscript dictionary left by Mainwaring and carefully edited by Grünwedel with just a transcription of the Lepcha words and examples, but that it was demanded by

the British Government, which commissioned the publication of the Lepcha dictionary manuscript (Grünwedel 1898a: ix).

In his publications on the Lepcha language, R.K. Sprigg also uses a transcription that is based on Mainwaring, although he replaces *ch* by *c* and *chh* by *ch*. Sprigg adds an apostrophe to indicate an initial glottal stop, and to avoid the suggestion of disyllabicity in words with an initial as he chooses to romanise this initial as 'y- instead of with Mainwaring's *ay*-. (Sprigg 1983: 305).

The system of transliteration used in Siiger and Rischel's monograph (1967) is in principle the same as Grünwedel's system, but for typographical reasons some diacritics are replaced by consonants. Bodman (1988:1) also used a system based on Grünwedel's transcription with a few modifications. Bodman replaced n with ng, s with sy, and s with sy, and s with sy, and s with sy, and sy with sy

K. P. Támsáng chose a transliteration system that is close to Mainwaring's in the realm of the consonants, apart from *chya* for α , *jya* for σ , shya for ε , and ta for ε as well as retroflex ε , da for ε as well as retroflex ω_1 , and hta for retroflex ω_2 . As can be seen from Diagram 10 below, Támsáng's system differs a great deal from other systems in the representation of the vowels. Khárpú Támsáng chooses to avoid the \(\frac{1}{2} \) \(\times \) nyindo sign; where others spell sw sang, he spells \(\omega \). In his Lepcha-English Encyclopedic Dictionary, Khárpú Támsáng (1980) does not romanise the \tilde{r} rân, although from examples in the Lepcha orthography it is evident that he uses the diacritic systematically in closed syllables where no vowel diacritic is used. Khárpú Támsáng sometimes uses the \mathcal{F} rân in open syllables ending in -a, i.e. in syllables where no vowel diacritic is used, which implies a distinction between syllables ending in -a and -â. In other words, Támsáng implies that the difference between open syllables ending in -a and $-\hat{a}$ is lexical.

Sometimes, Lepcha is transcribed in the *devanāgarī* script, which does not accurately reflect the original orthography but merely represents a phonetic approximation of Lepcha, which may lead to confusion as to the pronunciation and spelling of words. Nevertheless, many Lepcha find a representation in *devanāgarī* script helpful, especially those who are not familiar with native Lepcha orthography but

have learned to read and write Nepali in *devanāgarī* script. A standardised representation of Lepcha orthography into *devanāgarī* script could be helpful for this group of people.

The romanisation used throughout this book is based on Mainwaring's system, but the following modifications have been made: ca is used instead of cha for the consonant symbol \mathfrak{D} , and for the symbol \mathfrak{L} , cha is used instead of chha. The clusters tra, dra and thra are used for the retroflex sounds, the symbol \mathfrak{L} is systematically transcribed as 2, \mathfrak{L} is transcribed as 2y-, \hat{a} is used for \mathfrak{L} , and i is used for \mathfrak{L} .

From Diagram 11, in which the native orthography, the transliteration used throughout this book, and a phonetic transcription of Lepcha vowels are put side by side, it can be seen that the native Lepcha orthography is not wholly phonological. On the one hand, the native orthography distinguishes between symbols that do not, or no longer, represent a phonological distinction, i.e. $\int_{\mathbb{S}} \hat{i} \operatorname{vs.} \int_{\mathbb{S}} \hat{i}$, and \hat{s} \hat{a} vs. a (for example in ϵka). On the other hand, the orthography does not adequately distinguish between the sounds [e] and ϵ , as will be shown below.

In older manuscripts, the symbols \mathfrak{J}_{\odot} i and \mathfrak{J}_{\odot} i are used in a systematic manner: \mathfrak{J}_{\odot} i is used only in closed syllables and \mathfrak{J}_{\odot} i only in open syllables. Since Mainwaring's time and possibly through his influence, the distribution of the orthographic symbols \mathfrak{J}_{\odot} i and \mathfrak{J}_{\odot} i has become much more random.

The function of the $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ rân sign in the Lepcha orthography remains unclear to me, although, as mentioned above, old texts suggest that the circumflex sign originally occurred mainly in closed syllables and could serve to point to the presence of a final consonant diacritic. It is also possible that the circumflex sign was used to indicate stress, or stressable syllables. Nowadays the usage of the circumflex sign appears to be unsystematic or even unpredictable, and a closer study of the usage of the $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ rân sign in old texts is likely to shed more light on this matter.

The $\{y_{i}\}$ yathyú, the infixed $\{y_{i}\}$ -y-, is often used before the vowels /e/ and /i/ to indicate the palatalisation of certain consonants before these front vowels. Not all Lepcha writers favour this approach, which is found to be more common in Sikkim than in the Kalimpong and Darjeeling hills. The word for 'give', for example, can be found spelt as $\{y_{i}\}$ by $\{y_{i}\}$, and the word for 'play' may be written either $\{y_{i}\}$ lem or $\{y_{i}\}$ lyem. The orthographic sequences $\{y_{i}\}$ -ya, and $\{y_{i}\}$ -ya of-

ten point to a realisation of the phoneme /e/ as $[\varepsilon]$, as in $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathcal{K}}$ gyal $[gj\varepsilon l]$, which is sometimes found written $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathcal{K}}$ gyál $[gj\varepsilon l]$.

There is rather a lot of variation and some inconsistency in the spelling of many Lepcha words. Some spellings are spontaneous, others idiosyncratic. The spelling used in certain books or by certain scholars is often seen as indicative. Opinions about what is and what is not correctly spelt are generally strong. There are quite a lot of regional differences when it comes to the spelling of words, and some spellings are clearly influenced by either Dränjoke, Tibetan or Nepali.

Especially in the realm of vowels, the spelling of Lepcha words is often seen to be confusing if not inconsistent, although a number of recurring variations can be recognised. In several papers, Sprigg points to the phonetic reasons underlying a number of spelling variations. In short, we can conclude from his work that an important role is played by the difference in realisation between vowels that occur in closed syllables as opposed to vowels that occur in open syllables. The presence of certain distinctions between vowels in one kind of syllable and the lack of the same distinctions in the other kind of syllable appear to make it impossible for the vowels to alternate in a consistent manner, as is discussed in more detail below (cf. Sprigg 1983, 1989).

In some Lepcha words, variant spellings correspond to differences in pronunciation, such as in & Pyók vs. & Pyúk 'work' and & thop vs. 🖏 thúp 'get', but at other times another phenomenon can be seen at work. This is the influence of nasalisation on the spelling of words. While it does not make a difference to the meaning of a Lepcha word if vowels are nasalised or not, it does appear to make the spelling of such words less straightforward. In the case of the variation between written $(\odot \ o \ \text{and} \ \odot) \ \acute{u}$, Sprigg points to the fact that while the three rounded back vowels $\otimes \lambda$ u [u], u [o], and u [o] may occur in syllables with non-nasal initial consonants, in syllables with an initial nasal consonant the vowel is nasalised, and in such syllables only two back vowels occur, i.e. $\odot \chi$ ú and $(\odot \phi)$. In other words, Sprigg claims that there are only two lip-rounded vowel units in nasal-initial syllables, i.e. $\otimes \lambda$ u [\tilde{u}] ~ (\otimes o [\tilde{o}] and ($\tilde{\otimes}$ o [\tilde{o}] versus three, i.e. $\otimes \lambda$ u [u], (\otimes o[o], and \odot δ [o] in other syllables. Sprigg also points out that a spelling with © o would often yield a spelling closer to a Tibetan cognate, but that perhaps for this very reason many Lepcha prefer a spelling with $\odot \lambda \dot{u}$ (Sprigg 1989: 229).

| | Plaisier | Mainwaring | Grünwedel | Támsáng | |
|--------------|----------|------------|-----------|---------|---------------|
| Æ | ka | ka | kă | ka | Ę |
| C | kha | kha | k'ă | kha | S |
| w | ga | ga | gă | ga | 7 |
| 7 | nga | nga | 'nă | nga | 7 |
| v | ca | cha | čă | cha | X |
| X | cha | chha | č'ă | chya | X |
| Ø | ja | ja | jă | jya | ₹ |
| * | nya | nya | nyă | nya | ₹ |
| \$ | ta | ta | tă | ta | બ |
| બ | tha | tha | t'ă | tha | b |
| * | da | da | dă | da | - |
| B | na | na | nă | na | • |
| コ | pa | pa | рă | pa | ¤ |
| ¤ | pha | pha | p'ă | pha | Ø |
| ಕ | fa | fa | fă | fa | 109 |
| 0 | ba | ba | bă | ba | • |
| 76 | ma | ma | mă | та | •• |
| σ | tsa | tsa | tsă | tsa | (se |
| (se | tsha | tsha | ts'ă | tsha | (se |
| # | za | za | ză | za | 9 |
| ٤ | ya | ya | уă | ya | \subseteq |
| 7 | ra | ra | ră | ra | ~ |
| N | la | la | lă | la | * |
| \mathbf{f} | ha | ha | hă | ha | X |
| 0 | va | va | vă | va | • |
| હ | sha | sha | šă | sya | હ |
| Cw | sa | sa | să | sa | હ |
| Cas | wa | wa | wă | wa | 5 |
| 5 | kla | kla | klă | kla | 5 |
| ₩ | gla | gla | glă | gla | • |
| (9) | fla | fla | flă | fla | 109 |
| = | pla | pla | plă | pla | \subseteq |
| 0 | bla | bla | blă | bla | (1) |
| F | mla | mla | mlă | mla | \mathcal{F} |
| X | hla | hla | hlă | hla | X |

| | Plaisier | Mainwaring | Grünwedel | Támsáng | |
|----------------|------------|--|------------|-------------------------|----------------|
| ~ | tra | ķra | = | ta | Ę |
| (in) | dra | gra | _ | da | (i) |
| | thra | ъrа ḥra | _ | hta | |
| & | ? | ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, | _ | a | & |
| 3(| 7á | á | a | aa | 3 (|
| ã | 7â | aa | á | - - | ã |
| ja Ja | 7a ?i | i | i | ae | sa Sa |
| | ri Pí | î î | í Í | ai | |
| Ĩ | 70 | | | | ÍÃ |
| (3. | 76 | о о́ | o ó | ao | (Z |
| (3) | 10 ?и | | о й | aao | æ |
| &) | | u | | аи | &) |
| 23 | ?ú | ú | и | aoo | 23 |
| & | ?e | e | e , | aey | Ŗ |
| 84 | 2у- | ay- | 'a- | ay- | 84 |
| ©(~ | -á | -á | -a | -aa | ©(~ |
| <u>©</u> | -â | -â | -á | <i>-a</i> | õ |
| S © | - <i>i</i> | - <i>i</i> | -i | - <i>e</i> | j © |
| Sõ | - <i>ĺ</i> | - <i>ĺ</i> | -í | - <i>i</i> | J © |
| (© | -0 | -0 | -0 | -0 | (© |
| (© | -ó | -ó | -ó | <i>-ao</i> , <i>-oo</i> | (© |
| © | -u | - <i>u</i> | - <i>ŭ</i> | -u | © |
| ©} | -ú | -ú | - <i>u</i> | -00, -0 | © 3 |
| © | -e | -e | - <i>е</i> | -ey | © |
| ® v | -y- | -y- | -y- | -y- | ⊛ γ |
| ©) | -r- | -r- | -r- | -r- | ©) |
| 6 | - <i>k</i> | - <i>k</i> | - <i>k</i> | - <i>k</i> | • |
| . | -m | -m | -m | -m | . |
| \$ | <i>-l</i> | -1 | -1 | <i>-l</i> | • |
| % | -n | -n | -n | -n | & |
| 6 | - <i>p</i> | - <i>p</i> | -p | - <i>p</i> | % |
| % | - <i>r</i> | -r | -r | -r | ≈ |
| ⊚ | -t | -t | -t | -t | <u>@</u> |
| 3 © | -ang | -ang | -ă'n | _ | 9 © |
| € | -ng | -ng | -'n | -ng | € |
| | | | | | |

Diagram 6: Romanisation systems

| phonetic transcription | native grapheme | transliteration |
|------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------|
| [i] | j © | i |
| | ∫ ⊚ ∫ ⊚ | í |
| [e~ε] | ę | e |
| | ©v | -ya |
| [a] | © (| -á |
| [\Lambda] | © | â |
| [Λ] | © | a |
| [w] | ©) | и |
| [u] | © 3 | ú |
| [o] | (© | 0 |
| [5] | <u>©</u> | ó |
| | | |

Diagram 11: Transliteration and transcription of Lepcha vowels

Similarly, in this context, according to Sprigg, there is a discrepancy between the oral and nasalised sets of vowels that would account for spelling variations between \odot u and the consonant-inherent vowel a, i.e. when no vowel diacritic is added to a consonant symbol. The three spread vowels \odot u [w], a [ə] and \odot (\acute{a} [a] are clearly distinguished from each other in syllables with non-nasal initial consonants and, according to Sprigg, in such syllables no spelling variations should occur. Sprigg claims that the situation in syllables with an initial nasal consonant is such that only two spread vowel units may be distinguished from each other, i.e. \odot u [\widetilde{u}] \sim \odot a [\widetilde{a}] vs. \odot (a [a], which results in spelling variations between \odot u and the consonant-inherent vowel a (Sprigg 1989: 229).

The variation between spellings with a and \acute{a} , in words like $\dddot{\omega}$ (sám 'three', which is sometimes written $\dddot{\omega}$ sam, could, Sprigg explains, be attributed to the difference between open syllables and closed syllables. In open or vowel-final syllables, there is a distinction between an open front or back vowel [a~a], romanised as \acute{a} , and a half-close central vowel [ə], romanised as a. In consonant-final or closed syllables, the half-close central vowel [ə], is written as \tilde{a} and the vowel

realised as $[a \sim a]$ may be written either \odot (\acute{a} or not explicitly indicated by any consonant grapheme implied inherent vowel romanised here as a (Sprigg 1983: 317).

CHAPTER THREE

PARTS OF SPEECH

Lepcha distinguishes nouns, verbs, adjectives, adverbs, pronouns, numerals, postpositions, suffixes, conjunctions and particles. Nouns refer to objects, entities and individuals, and express the subject or object of verbs. Verbs describe states, events and actions, and relate to the referents of noun phrases. Adjectives modify nouns, while adverbs modify verbs to specify the time, manner, place or direction of the event described by the verb. Adverbs may also modify adjectives or other adverbs. Suffixes and postpositions express a range of semantic relations between the parts of speech they attach themselves to or combine with. Conjunctions are used to connect or combine words, phrases, clauses or sentences. Particles add a semantic notion to a whole sentence. Nouns, pronouns, adjectives and numerals comprise the group of nominals which may be pluralised and take nominal suffixes or postpositions. Verbs may be marked by auxiliary verbs and take verbal suffixes. A small group of suffixes and particles is used to mark nouns, verbs and whole sentences.

This chapter provides an overview of derivational processes in Lepcha. It should be noted that an analysis of word classes or parts of speech in a language cannot be made on purely formal grounds. A single root can belong to more than one word class, that is, it may function as a noun, as an adjective or as a verb. Apart from looking at the internal structure of words, the syntactic context and semantic properties of words should also be taken into account.

3.1 Derivational affixes

When we look at the internal structure of nouns, verbs, adjectives and adverbs, we can recognise certain derivational relationships. For example, we see that verbs are often monosyllabic, whereas nouns, adjectives and adverbs often consist of two or more syllables. In many

nouns and adjectives we recognise the prefix $\mathfrak{A}(2\acute{a}$ - and a verbal root, as in the following examples.

```
§ ?ít 'create'
                         સાર્જે ?á?ít 'origin, creation'
蔼 ?óm 'shine'
                         ষ্কু ?á?óm'radiance'
\varpi g \acute{o} 'be happy'
                         But Págó 'joy, happiness'
Æ kón 'taste'
                         &(Æ ?ákón 'taste'
ώ gek 'be born'
                         عربي ?ágek 'birth'
Jw li 'say, speak'
                          así ?álín 'speech, talk'
(# zo 'eat'
                         æ(# ?ázóm 'rice, food'
אין ryú 'be good'
                         સાંજ ?áryúm 'good'
jw li 'carry'
                         χ(j̄κ̄̄̄ ?álím 'heavy'
¥3 dúm 'be white'
                         સ(ઋૅૅૅૅૅ ?ádúm 'white'
```

The prefix $\mathfrak{A}(2\acute{a}$ -, phonetically [?a], may be shortened to [?], e.g. $\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{H})$?áhrún [?a-run] vs. \mathfrak{H} hrún [?run], $\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{H})$?áhyâng [?a-hjəŋ] vs. \mathfrak{H} hyâng [?hjəŋ]. This optional variation prompted George Mainwaring to state that 'the retention or rejection of the \acute{a} , is merely a matter of euphonic consideration, it is in general more elegantly retained' (Mainwaring 1876: 120). The prefix at once reminds one of the Burmese nominalising prefix a-.

The suffix M - $l\acute{a}$ creates adverbs when it is added to the verbal root, e.g. $ry\acute{a}$ 'be good', $ry\acute{a}l\acute{a}$ 'well', $r\acute{s}$ thyen 'laugh', $r\acute{s}M$ thyenlá 'laughingly'.

The suffix $\tilde{\otimes}$ - $l\hat{a}t$ is added to verbs or adjectives to create abstract nouns and *nomina actionis*, as $\sqrt[4]{\tilde{\otimes}}$ $z\hat{u}k$ - $l\hat{a}t$ 'action, performance' from $\sqrt[4]{3}$ $z\hat{u}k$ 'make', and $\sqrt[4]{\tilde{\otimes}}$ $thyenl\hat{a}t$ 'laughter' from $\sqrt[4]{3}$ thyen 'laugh', $\sqrt[4]{\tilde{\otimes}}$ $g\hat{a}nl\hat{a}t$ 'oldness, old age' from $\sqrt[4]{3}$ $g\hat{a}n$ 'old', $\sqrt[4]{\tilde{\otimes}}$ $n\hat{o}k$ - $l\hat{a}t$ 'blackness' from $\sqrt[4]{3}$ $l\hat{a}$ 'freshness, newness' from $\sqrt[4]{3}$ 'new'.

The suffix $(\varepsilon - ko)$ creates concrete nouns from verbs or nouns, as $\int_{\infty}^{\infty} (\varepsilon) \ln ko$ 'speech, statement' from $\int_{\infty} (i) \ln ko$ 'say', and $\int_{\infty}^{\infty} (\varepsilon) \ln ko$ 'planet' from $\int_{\infty} (\varepsilon) \ln ko$ 'energy, force' from $\int_{\infty} (\varepsilon) \ln ko$ 'strength', $\int_{\infty} (\varepsilon) \ln ko$ 'paper' from $\int_{\infty} (\varepsilon) \ln ko$ 'book', $\int_{\infty} (\varepsilon) \ln ko$ 'basket' from $\int_{\infty} (\varepsilon) \ln ko$ 'bundle'.

The morpheme ($\mathring{\nabla}$ lóm 'way, road, path' adds its meaning to nouns to create manner nouns, e.g. \tilde{z} (mát 'do', \tilde{z} ($\mathring{\nabla}$ mátlóm 'conduct, act of conducting, guidance'.

The suffix \$\opi_3\)-m\u00fa creates nominals denoting people or things deriving from a certain place of origin, and is added to place names or location words, e.g. \$\opi_{\infty}\opi_3\) renj\u00fangm\u00e4 'Sikkimese', \$\opi_3\) p\u00e3 p\u00e4n\u00e4 'Bhutanese', \omis_3\) gyag\u00e4rm\u00e4 'Indian', \$\opi_3\opi_3\) phil\u00eda gra\u00e3 t\u00eang\u00e4n\u00e4 'plainsfolk'. Another element \$\opi_3\) -m\u00e4, derived from \$\opi_3\u00e3\u00e2 \u00e4\u00e4m\u00e4 'mother', occurs as a part of compounds in which it expresses the sense 'main, origin, mother', e.g. \$\u00e4\u00e4\u00e4\u00e3\u00e3\u00e3\u00e4rm\u00e4\u00e4 'the main stream of the Rungny\u00e4t'.

The suffix N_{2} -lu forms deverbative nouns, e.g. $\sqrt[3]{5}$ (mát 'do', $\sqrt[3]{5}$) mátlu 'habit, custom', $\sqrt[4]{2}$ dun 'say, tell', $\sqrt[4]{3}$ dunlu 'remark'. The suffix $\sqrt[5]{3}$ -thup creates adjectives from verbs, e.g. (4 zo 'eat', $\sqrt[4]{3}$) zómthup 'edible', $\sqrt[4]{3}$ zúk 'make', $\sqrt[4]{3}$ zúkthup 'manageable'. The suffix $\sqrt[5]{3}$ -shet can be recognised in nouns and adjectives that are formed from verbs, e.g. $\sqrt[4]{3}$ thóng 'drink', $\sqrt[4]{3}$ thóngshet 'drinkable', $\sqrt[5]{3}$ li 'say, speak', $\sqrt[5]{3}$ línshet 'speech, means of speaking', $\sqrt[5]{3}$ ngán 'remain, sit', $\sqrt[5]{3}$ ngánshet 'seat'.

The word $\xi_y kup$ 'child, small', also $\mathfrak{A}(\xi_y) 2 \hat{a} kup$ 'child', acts as a diminutive suffix in nouns, e.g. $\delta_0 \hat{b} \hat{a} n$ 'knife', $\delta_0 \xi_y \hat{b} \hat{a} n kup$ 'small knife', $\mathfrak{A}(\xi_y) \hat{b} \hat{a} n kup$ 'small boy'. The word $\xi_y kup$ may also be attached to other nominals, e.g. $\mathfrak{A}(\xi_y) \hat{b} n kup$ 'small, little', $\mathfrak{A}(\xi_y) \hat{b} n kup$ 'a little bit', $\mathfrak{A}(\xi_y) \hat{b} n kup n$

3.2 Gender-specific endings

Lepcha has no grammatical gender. There are gender-specific derivational suffixes, some of which are given below with examples.

oy -bu 'male of animals' (表 -mót 'female of animals' 'sow' 'sow' 'boar'

w=(₹ sakamót 'female deer, doe'

(\$\sigma -bo\$ 'father, uncastrated male parent animal' 'boar, uncastrated male of swine'

TO lóngbo 'bull'

Jõio bíkbo 'bull, steer'

 $\omega \mathbf{j} - g\mathbf{u}$ 'female animal that has given birth'

ງ້ວເຜງ bíkgú 'cow' ຮີເຜງ mán-gú 'sow'

(with sakagú 'doe, female deer'
(with sakagú 'female goat'
(with sungvogú 'female buffalo'
(with saburgú 'female musk deer'

الله lóng 'ox, steer' الله biklóng 'ox' الله savínglóng 'stag'

'wild buffalo'
wong saburlóng 'musk deer'

ري –tsu 'male of pigs and goats' 'goat, billy goat'

buck, stag' 'buck, stag'

່ອ້ວງ móntsu 'boar, uncastrated boar'

*f*_₹ –*mi* 'female animal that has not had young'

(รี้)ัง mónmi 'fallow sow'

(♂ −bop 'young of bulls'

joint biklóngbop 'bullock, castrated male bovine'

'young of bulls' ენოდავ bíklóngcúng 'young bull' ოდავ lóngcúng 'young bull'

'ଧ' 'barren, sterile' (ବିକ୍ଲୋ mónsháng 'barren sow'

(₹ −*tâng* 'corpulent male animal, pig or dog'

ষ্ট বৈর্মানর 'a fat male beast' হত্যাই kajutâng 'fat male dog' ইন্ট móntâng 'fat boar'

 $(\ddot{o}-bom)$ 'brooding female animal' $f_{\bullet}(\ddot{o})$ 'female hen having chickens'

3.3 Compounding

Compounding is a common process in Lepcha word formation. A compound may involve verbal as well as nominal constituents.

So bi 'curry', Rus Páfong 'green', Sous bifong 'green leafy vegetable'

thyák 'recognise, identify', & (thyák 'head', thyákdám 'scalp', thyáktuk 'hat, cap'.

ตั้ง lót 'repeat', ตั้งเอ lótthi 'come back again', ตั้งเอ lóttho 'put again', ตั้งเอ lótbi 'give back', ตั้งเล lótzúk 'remake'.

双環 Pátsóm 'hair', 環境 tsómbleng 'single hair' 環境 tsómrík 'ribbon', 環域 tsómcúng 'pigtail', 環長 tsómtrat 'comb'.

Compounding sometimes results in the dropping of prefixes or bound morphemes, e.g. ω_0 satsuk 'sun', ω_0 tsukkyer 'west'.

 $\mathfrak{L}(\mathcal{Z})$ $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{L})$ $\widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{L})$ $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{L})$ $\widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{L})$ $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{L})$ $\widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{L})}$ \widehat

我似身 ?áthong 'leg', 似境 thongjóm 'toe', 似め thongtung 'heel', 似境 thongpyól 'footprint'

表(味) ?ádyáng 'lower leg', 味)(dyánglyók 'sole of foot', 味)(ま) dyángtung 'heel', 味)(dyángpók 'calf', 味)(dyángpak 'knee'.

a(ft ?ámík 'eye', ft ä míkcóm 'eyelash, eyebrow', ft æ míkmyóng 'eyelid', ft míkgrúng 'tear'.

名(信 ?áfo 'tooth', (音菜 fonyel 'gums' (気徳 fogóm 'molar', (音菜 fozâl 'incisor' (舌鷸 folún 'wisdom tooth'.

(# zo 'eat, food, rice',) rí 'smell', (#) zorí 'fragrant rice'

環(thám- 'thing, object', 環境 thámcâng 'animal', 環境 thámbík 'insect', 環境 thámbóng 'plant', 環境 thámbu 'worm', 環境 thámpót 'fruit', 環境 thámlí 'seed', 環境 thámvyet 'question'

Sometimes it is hard to distinguish between compounds and juxtaposed elements, e.g. 50% vimân 'kin, offspring, relatives' (literally 'flesh and blood'), 40% hánlon 'not simultaneously' (literally 'before and after').

3.4 Reduplication

Lexical reduplication yields adverbials of time, e.g. \ddot{o} ($n\acute{a}m$ 'year', \ddot{o} ($n\acute{a}mn\acute{a}m$ 'yearly', \rat{w} tasó 'yesterday', \rat{w} sósó 'lately'. This process is different from the syntactic reduplication of words in colloquial speech, e.g. \rat{s} tú 'who', \rat{s} 3 tútú 'such as who', 'who exactly', \rat{w} 6 ($sab\acute{a}$ 'where', \rat{w} 6 ($sab\acute{a}$ 'where', \rat{w} 6 ($sab\acute{a}$ 'such as where', 'where exactly', which may well be an areal phenomenon influenced by Nepali.

3.5 Causative verbs

Lepcha causatives express transitive notions derived from intransitive meanings or causative motions derived from a base meaning. In the former cases, the subject of the intransitive verb, e.g. 'die', 'stay', corresponds to the object of the derived transitive verbs, e.g. 'kill', 'keep'. In the latter cases, the semantic relationship between the two verbs connected by means of this now defunct morphological process is more subtle, e.g. 'push' vs. 'cause to quiver'. A closed class of causative verbs is derived by palatalisation of the initial consonant of the base verb. Lepcha native orthography, as reflected in most trans-

literation and transcription systems, uses the symbol y representing the affixed glide /y/ to indicate palatalisation of consonants, as in ε_v kya [kja], ∇v pya [pja]. The palatal nasal [n], however, is written in Lepcha orthography with the consonant sign ε_v , which is transliterated here as /ny/. Some examples of causative verbs and the verbs they are derived from by palatalisation of the initial consonant are listed here.

```
to nók
             'push'
₹ nyók
             'cause to quiver, shake'
ર્ફા mák
            'die'
ซ่ง myák
             'kill'
ö( bám
             'dwell, stay, reside'
             'keep, leave behind'
Ö byám
≅ plâ
             'come forth, come out, rise'
⊆, plyâ
             'produce, bring forward'
N3 lú
            'rise'
ouz lyú
             'erect'
äy ?um
             'ripe, sweet, tasty'
Ży Pyum
             'ripen, bring to maturity'
            'fall'
sin tyul
å (tyal
            'fell' (also spelt 🛊 tel)
```

When the stem of the root verb ends in a vowel, in some cases a final /t/ is added to the derived causative, viz. $\omega_J gl\acute{u}$ 'fall down', $\omega_J glyat$ (also spelt $\omega_J glet$) 'drop, decline, suspend' and $\omega_J bu$ 'carry', $\omega_J bet$ 'load'.

CHAPTER FOUR

NOMINAL MORPHOLOGY

This chapter is devoted to the morphosyntax of nominals, which comprise the following parts of speech: nouns, pronouns, adjectives and numerals. Nouns lack a grammatical gender distinction and show no agreement with articles, adjectives or verbs. Pronouns include personal, demonstrative, interrogative and indefinite pronouns. Adjectives may be used adnominally, predicatively or independently as nominal heads.

Nominals may be pluralised and may take case endings. Case endings are suffixes or postpositions attached to the nominal. In Lepcha, it is possible to make a distinction between 'genuine' case endings, which are suffixes that exhibit morphological behaviour proper to suffixes and postpositional case endings, which do not show any morphophonological interaction with the nominal which they modify. The set of 'true' case endings, as it were, comprises only the definite article χ -re 'the' and the dative marker $\tilde{\otimes}$ -m. All other case endings are actually postpositions. This having been said, all such case endings are treated together in this chapter for the sake of convenience. Two or more case endings may co-occur attached to a single noun when this yields a desired and semantically plausible combination.

A number of Lepcha morphemes index grammatical categories which can be combined with constituents of different syntactic status, i.e. with nouns, with verbs and with entire clauses. The apparent difference in sense expressed by such morphemes, e.g. the locative morpheme ϵ_{i} - $k\hat{a}$, is a straightforward function of the difference in syntactic status of the constituent which they modify. The morpheme in question can be shown to express the same invariant meaning. For coherence of presentation, such morphemes are discussed in all the relevant chapters of this grammar and the sections pertaining to such morphemes are cross-referenced.

4.1 Number

Plural number in nouns is expressed by the suffixes 33 -pang and 300 -sang. The non-human plural suffix 37 -pang (PL.NH) is used to express plurality of animals, things and, indeed, all entities except humans. The human plural suffix our sang (PL.H) indexes the plurality of human beings and personified, anthropomorphic beings such as benevolent heavenly creatures, gods, goddesses and good spirits. It is a point of ethnopsychological interest that nouns denoting benevolent supernatural beings take the human plural suffix ow -sang (PL.H), whereas nouns denoting malevolent beings take the non-human plural suffix on -pang (PL.NH), e.g. Fy flow rumdár-sang 'gods' vs. flost dutmúng-pang 'demons'. Despite the fact that the distinction described here between the two plural suffixes is used by most speakers of Lepcha, a small number of Lepcha speakers use the plural suffixes differently. These less fluent speakers use both suffixes interchangeably in free variation, without making any distinction between human or non-human referents.

```
1
         1607
         bik-pang
         cow-PL.NH
            'cows'
2
         (なり)プ
         cho-pang
         book-PL.NH
            'books'
3
         (B)(w
         ?óng–sang
         boy-PL.H
            'boys'
4
         5) 9(w
         rum-sang
         god-PL.H
            'gods'
```

- 5 ÄGĞ ÄGĞOD thámbík thámcâng-pang insect animal-PL.NH 'animals, creatures'
- 6 క్రాస్ట్ స్ట్రాహ్లు faleng nómleng-sang young.boy young.girl-PL.H 'youngsters, teenagers'
- 7 FIN SUBSTENT SUBSTE

About the distinction between w-sang (PL.H) and standard -pang (PL.NH) George Mainwaring wrote:

The difference between the two plural terms, is, *sang*, is applied chiefly to human beings; *pang*, to inferior animals, and to inanimate things. *pang*, may, however, be made to denote the plural of human, or inferior beings, and of inanimate things, indifferently. *sang*, although it may be applied to all living animals, human or inferior, can never be correctly affixed as a plural sign to inanimate things...' (1876: 27)

The plural category in Lepcha is not equivalent in meaning to the plural category in English or, for that matter, most European languages. In English, the grammatical category of plural indexes a meaning which means simply more than one of a countable entity or item. The Lepcha plural category denotes manifoldness. A fundamental distinction between manifoldness and plurality lies in the fact that plurality is numerically definite, i.e. European-type plurality expressly denotes a quantity greater than one of a countable item. Therefore, the plural is automatically used when an English nominal is modified by a numeral denoting a quantity greater than one, e.g. two boys. It is in-

herent in the meaning of manifoldness that a definite number of items precludes manifoldness. This is why the Lepcha 'plural' suffixes are not used when a nominal is modified by a numeral denoting a quantity greater than one, e.g. Lepcha (xi, cho sám 'three books'. The definite quantity expressed by the numeral is incompatible with the meaning of manifoldness denoted by the Lepcha plural suffixes, e.g. (8).

By the same token, whereas English has a zero-marked singular, Lepcha lacks a singular. A form such as $(\not\propto cho)$ 'book', in $(\not\propto cho)$ 'cho sám 'three books' is simply not marked for number.

A Lepcha plural ending does not denote, but stresses what we call plurality in English. English or European plurality of a noun is often indicated by the context and in such cases is not expressed by a plural suffix in Lepcha. Modifiers like 'many' or 'how many' will take a plural in English, but not in Lepcha, for manifoldness need not necessarily be stressed in such a context, e.g. (9), (10).

```
9
         211*(w) 21&) JZ(#)
                                  nví–wám
         ?ádo–sá
                         ?ákup
         2s.obl-gen
                         child
                                  be-PRG
            'Do you have children?'
10
         B(1*(w) B(23) , (w) B() (w)
         ?ádo-sá
                         ?ányúr–re
                                     satet
                                                  ?átím
                                                           go
         2s.obl-gen
                         ear-DEF
                                     how.much
                                                 big
                                                           be
            'Your ears are so big!'
```

Moreover, Lepcha plural endings such as the human plural suffix such -sang can be used with proper names or kinship terms, e.g. Setsum nyímá-sang 'Nyima and his friends'. Here the human plural suffix such -sang conveys the sense of English 'and the like' or 'and company' or Latin cum suis. In this sense, the suffix such -sang de-

notes a group surrounding a particular person. Since Nyima is the proper name of an individual, of which there is only one, a 'literal' translation with an English plural form, i.e. *Nyimas, would yield an essentially different and somewhat absurd meaning. The notion expressed is the identification of a group surrounding an individual or set of individuals or, in other words, of more specimens of the same. The Lepcha plural in *\omega_\circ_-sang* occurs in such expressions as *\omega_\circ_\c

The lack of plural suffix in (13) leaves unspecified the number of friends who have left the speaker, whereas the use of the human plural suffix $\delta \omega$ -sang in (14) enhances the sense of desolation of the speaker and the manifoldness of the friends which have abandoned him. In sentence (15), the numeral ξ_i kát 'one' is used to express explicit singular number.

11 ειξ (Γοως διοικι ή)(*

káyú róng-sang-re ?ácálá lúk-do

1P Lepcha-PL.H-DEF still get.up-self

శర్పెన్తిందు ma–khut–ne–bám NEG–be.able–NEG–PRG

> 'We Lepcha are still unable to stand up for ourselves.'

12 ງຄອງຈະພະ ສແຕ້ ຜັງ tíngmú–sang ?ánók gum plainsfolk–PL.H black be.AST 'Plainsfolk are black.'

'People from the plains are black.'

'My friend has disappeared.'
'My friends have disappeared.'

14 ຮູ້ພາງ ເຮົ້າຈະພະ ຮູ້ເຕື້ອຮ kasu tyól-sang fát-nón ma 1S.OBL friend-PL.H lose-RES AST 'My friends have disappeared.'

15 ຮູ້ ເຈົ້າ ຮູ້ ເຂົ້າເດື້ອ kasu tyól–kát fát–nón ma 1S.OBL friend–one lose–RES AST 'One of my friends has disappeared.'

The plural morphemes & -sang (PL.H) and \$\tau -pang (PL.NH) are directly suffixed to the nominal constituent which they modify. This entails that the suffixes precede all case endings, postpositions, articles or demonstrative pronouns which modify the nominal, but that, when a nominal consists of a noun immediately followed by a modifying adjective, the morphemes \$\circ_{\omega} -sang (PL.H) and \$\sigma_{\omega} -pang (PL.NH) follow the adjective, i.e. they follow the nominal constituent as a whole.

16 (ω ιβᾶγιθως τωτ go ?ingngá-sang-re-m gó ma 1s child-PL.H-DEF-DAT be.happy AST 'I am fond of children.'

17 జుయ్ క్స్ జుస్ట్ కుడ్ 2álóng muró 2átím—sang ma—nyí—n now man big—PL.H NEG—be—NEG

'There are no tall men around at the moment.'

The suffix 37 -pang (PL.NH), which is otherwise restricted to non-human referents, can be used with any nominal to convey the sense of a collective, group or gang.

18 ÆGGS káyú–pang 1P–PL.NH 'we (collectively, as a group)'

```
19
         पाठा है। इस दिल्ल
         hu–nu
                                   ?áre ?ábá–pang
                 li
                       thámcang
         3S-ABL say
                       animal
                                         here-PL.NH
                                   this
        (1) JE (18)
        lá
              nyí-wám
         also be-PRG
           'He said that such an animal also lives over here
           with us.'
```

When the definite article χ -re is added, the specificity of the group in question is indicated.

```
20 ε(ε) (ΓοΣ) káyú róng-pang-re

1P Lepcha-PL.NH-DEF

'We, the Lepcha.'

'We, as Lepcha'

21 ε(ε) (Γοω) káyú róng-sang-re

1P Lepcha-PL.H-DEF

'We Lepcha...'

'Us Lepcha...'
```

The meaning of the morpheme & -sang is in fact 'whole, entire' and the meaning of the morpheme & -pang is 'thing, things'. With regard to the non-human plural marker & -pang, Grünwedel suggests that & -pang was not only used as a non-human plural marker attached to nominals, but also as a nominal head: mlo-păñ [mlo-pang] 'things', să-re gŭn-nă păñ [sare gunna-pang] 'every thing', kă-sŭ-să păñ [kasu-sá-pang] 'my things, mine' (Grünwedel 1898a: 209). In his grammar, Mainwaring mentions the form nyí-pang 'possessions' (Mainwaring 1876: 97). Grünwedel also suggests that the use of & -pang with human referents indicates a certain disrespect for these

referents (Grünwedel 1898a: 209). Although we do not, or no longer, find these usages, if the meaning of \$\times -pang\$ was indeed at one point strongly associated with 'things', an implied disrespect would have made sense.

I have not been able to corroborate the analysis of the morpheme "> -nyum as a pronominal dual suffix, or as a dual suffix for nouns, as was first reported by Mainwaring in 1876, and repeated by Sinha (1966: 67) and Támsáng (1978: 10), for example in Mainwaring maro nyum 'two persons' (1876: 27), go nun to nyum ká byi sho 'to whom (two) I shall give it' (1876: 42). If the speaker intends to express the dual number of nouns explicitly, the numeral "> nyet 'two' is used, as in example (22).

```
22 
Tyf Sylver (

muró-nyet thi-wám

man-two reach-PRG

'Two men are arriving'
```

Grünwedel analyses z̄ -nyum as a possible variant of the bound pronominal morpheme ʃ̄z̄ -nyím, as in a-nyǔm [ʔányum]'you two', kā-nyǔm [kanyum] 'us two', but this usage appears to have fallen into disuse (Grünwedel 1898a: 108). Mainwaring provides examples such as áre nyum [ʔáre nyum] 'these two' (1876: 43), áre nyumká sare ryú [ʔáre nyumká sare ryú] 'of these two which is good?' (1876: 33), reflecting a usage of the morpheme z̄ -nyum in the sense of 'a pair'. We indeed still find -nyum used in this meaning in spoken Lepcha today, e.g. (23).

```
23 RIT FIFE WITH THIS TO THE SAME THE S
```

4.2 The definite and indefinite article

The numeral $\xi(k\acute{a}t)$ 'one' is not an indefinite article as such, but can be used in some of the same functions as the indefinite article in English, e.g. (15), (24) and (25), where the speaker wishes to make explicit the singularity of the referent.

4 ອັງ ເປັນວຽງ ເວັເຂົາ ເວົ້າ ເວົ້າ
hu lát-thi-bú-re nám-kát nahán nón
3s return-reach-FCT-DEF year-one before RES

'His return here was a year ago'

'He returned here a year ago'

25 §\$7(\varepsilon \tau (\sqrt{\varepsilon} \varepsilon \varepsilo

Lepcha $\mathcal{E}(k\acute{a}t)$ 'one' can be used in the sense of 'a certain' or 'a', e.g. $\mathcal{E}(mur\acute{a})$ kát 'a man, one man, a certain man'. It is also used in a few set phrases, like $\mathcal{E}(N)$ see kátnu plângká 'again and again', literally 'one and then on top of that'.

26 (ພດງ ພດົ ອງ€ເ ສອ໌ເສຣ໌ ອ໋ອົເ go—nu saróng bu—kát pacák—do tyak—hát 1S—ABL today snake—one almost—self tread—PRF 'I almost stepped on a snake today.'

The ending γ -re is the Lepcha definite article (DEF). The definite article γ -re acts as a true suffix in that it forms a prosodic word unit with the stem or phrase with which it combines. The suffix γ -re is attached to nouns, e.g. τ_{γ} muróre 'the man'. Like the definite article in English, the Lepcha definite article fulfils a thematic or even contrastive function, e.g. (20), (28), (29). The use of Lepcha γ -re as a topic marker is a function of the meaning of a definite article.

28 JÑ WY (¾Jơể) ÁJ(b lí sare dorji–nun zúk–tho house which Dorji–ABL make–EXH

> (&TT &T &) 20re-re 2áre gum that-DEF this be.AST

> > 'This is the house that Dorji built.'

29 ຮູ້ແນງ ຈັງ ເຈັ້ນ ເພິ່ງ fán-tho-bú mân-re món-sá gum burn-EXH-FCT meat-DEF pig-GEN be.AST 'The meat that was burnt is pork.'

30 すりため まいゃ auk-tho-bú ?ázóm man-ABL make-EXH-FCT food

ধ্যেণ্ড প্রাকেঁ দী zo-shang-re Pájóm ngún eat-INF-DEF easy become

'It's easy to eat food that somebody else has cooked.'

The fact that the numeral $\mathcal{E}(k\acute{a}t)$ one' is a numeral and not a genuine indefinite article in the Western European sense is underscored by instances such as $\mathcal{E}(\mathcal{K}) = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{K}) - \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{K}) = \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{$

31 \$(#) (6) \$(4) (6) \$(4)

ren-do-m-re go-re jen-sung-lá kám sir-self-DAT-DEF 1S-DEF other-story-also little.bit

क्रिश्ट क्लांग्रिंगा सांग्रिंगा सारी

vyet–shang sákcíng–bá–re ?yá–nám–ká–re káyú inquire–INF think–then–DEF past–year–LOC–DEF 1P

(F)(w(w() (X,2)(w((w)))

róng-sang-sá-re hlo-múng-sá sung-re Lepcha-PL.H-GEN-DEF peak-devil-GEN story-DEF

型(いくる)のろいいり モにろし

Pyá–sá munjú–sang–nu káyú–m–re past–GEN grandmother–PL.H–ABL 1P–DAT–DEF

क्षेत्रांशिर हाहीर । अड्रेहार

dun-?ám-bá-re káyú-re ?otet-ká-re tell-PRG-when-DEF 1P-DEF that.much-LOC-DEF

(TO) TY(V) 5(A)Q

ro–nu ryúlá ma–thyo–ne fear–ABL well NEG–hear–NEG

'Sir, I want to ask you about another story as well. In the past, when our grandmothers told us the Lepcha stories about the devil of the mountains, we were so very frightened, that we didn't listen to them very well.'

In contrast with English, the Lepcha definite article χ -re can be affixed to pronouns to single out the person or persons in question, e.g. (32), (33).

32 ΨηΕζ «ΤΟ ΕΙ ΤΟ ΒΙΎ ΒΙΎ ΒΙΫ Β΄ς ΝΑ Β΄ς ΝΑ

> IJŢ (¥Ö(hu−re dok−bám 3S−DEF be.ill−PRG

> > 'According to my younger brother, he is ill.'

The following two examples illustrate the contrast between the use and the non-use of the Lepcha definite article τ -re, whereby the article in sentence (35) singles out the house in question and highlights the house as the topic.

34 Suffering Supering Superin

There is no zero morpheme expressing an indefinite category in Lepcha, i.e. the non-use of the definite article in Lepcha is not tantamount to expressing the notion of indefiniteness with respect to a noun. In examples (36) and (37) below, one of two actants in the sentences, viz. $\sqrt{2} 7 \frac{26ng-re}{r}$ 'the boy', is marked by the definite article $\frac{1}{r}$ re, whereas $\frac{1}{r} \frac{1}{r} \frac{1}{r}$

37 ຜູ້ ຮູ້ ຮູ້ວ່າໃຈ້ ວ່າໃຈ້ 26ng-re-m kajú-nun-do tsúk ma boy-DEF-DAT dog-ABL-self bite AST 'The dog bit the boy.'

Clearly, the Lepcha definite article expresses another meaning than for example the English definite article category. In Lepcha, the grammatical category of definiteness, like the Lepcha plural, takes part in a privative opposition, and not in an equipollent opposition like the English definite article, that contrasts with the corresponding indefinite article. In colloquial speech, the definite article is even on occasion observed to occur twice, as if to emphasise the singling out of the referent, e.g. $\sqrt[3]{7}$ maró-re-re-m [man-DEF-DEF-DAT] 'to that very man'.

Mainwaring (1876: 23) and Támsáng (1980: 655) mention yet another 'definite article' \Im -mu. However, this morpheme is not an article, but an individuative suffix for people, evidently cognate with the first element in both Lepcha \Im muzu 'body' and Lepcha \Im muró 'person'. We find this morpheme also in expressions such as \Im mu sâ 'purify the body after childbirth', with \Im sâ meaning 'purify', as in the expression \Im mung sâ 'exorcise, purify ghosts'.

The human individuative suffix $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{I}}$ -mu (IND) is attached directly to the numeral. In combination with $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{I}}$ kát 'one', the individuative suffix conveys the sense of 'that very person, that specific person' and in combination with $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{I}}$ nyet 'two' it conveys the sense of 'both of them'. In the following sentences, Lepcha $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{I}}$ -mu can be translated by the Nepali suffix $-c\bar{a}h\tilde{\imath}_{\mathfrak{I}}$, although it would be premature to simply equate the two categories.

38 807 = 609 = 600 2600 = 600 6000 = 600

'Give it to him and to no one else.'

4.3 Pronouns

4.3.1 Personal pronouns

The personal pronouns, listed below in Diagram 12, differentiate three persons and three numbers.

| 1st person | singular (\omega go (1s) \overline{ge} h\delta (2s) | dual Æ(∫≋ kányí (1D) &()≅ ?ányí (2D) | plural EB káyú (1P) |
|------------|---|--|------------------------|
| 2nd person | τη hό (2s) | કાર્ફ≋ ?ányí (2D) | &ાદ્યું ?áyú (2P) |
| 3rd person | τη hu (3s) | મુદ્ર≋ hunyí (3D) | ન્કા huyú (3P) |

Diagram 12: Personal pronouns

The third person \mathfrak{F}_{J} hu denotes only human referents. When the referent is non-human a demonstrative is used, except in the case of fables or other tales in which animals are personified and the third person pronoun \mathfrak{F}_{J} hu is used to refer to these animals. The morpheme \mathfrak{F}_{L} ka, first person singular marker (S1) used in oblique and derived forms, forms a minimal pair with the morpheme \mathfrak{F}_{L} ká (P1), the corresponding first person plural marker. These morphemes should not be confused with the locative suffix \mathfrak{F}_{L} ká (LOC), or with the word \mathfrak{F}_{L} ka \mathfrak{F}_{L} kâ, meaning 'hand', which is taken to be a shortened form of \mathfrak{F}_{L} ka \mathfrak{F}_{L} ká (P1).

may be followed by a numeral to indicate the specific number of people included in the activity mentioned.

```
41 EIGIN SECTION SEC

ká-sám-nun 2yók ?áre zúk-nu lel-ká

P1-three-ABL work this make-ABL complete-LOC

'Let us three get this job over and done with.'
```

Singular possessive pronouns are formed by suffixing the genitive marker ω (-sá (GEN) to the oblique forms of the singular pronouns listed in Diagram 13. The oblique forms listed in Diagram 13 are also used with the dative suffix, e.g. Section 4.9.

```
1st person 2nd person 3rd person

**Ewy kasu 2nd **Pádo **y** hudo

'1s.obl' '2s.obl' '3s.obl'
```

Diagram 13: Singular oblique pronouns

The meaning of the element ω_y su in the first person singular oblique pronoun is as yet unclear. In everyday conversations, the first person singular marker ε ka (S1) may be directly followed by the genitive suffix, as in $\varepsilon \omega_0$ (81) kasá ?ábryáng 'my name'. In the second and third person singular oblique pronouns we recognise the

element (* do 'self', which accentuates the identity of the referent denoted by the constituent to which it is suffixed, in the sense of 'this very one, by himself, on his own, of his own accord', viz. 7% maródo 'the man himself', 10% tado 'oneself', 10% dodosá 'personal, of one's own'.

Dual and plural possessive pronouns are formed by suffixing the genitive marker to the dual and plural personal pronouns, viz. EGECUK kányísá, EGGCUK káyúsá, EGGCUK káyúsá, EGGCUK káyúsá, EGGCUK káyúsá, Eurther usage of the genitive marker CUK -sá is discussed below in Section 4.6.

46 בוציין יודי káyú-sá kyóng 1P-GEN village 'our village'

4.3.2 Demonstrative pronouns

The Lepcha demonstrative pronouns $\mathfrak{L}(\tau)$?áre 'this' and $\mathfrak{L}(\tau)$? ?ore 'that' and the interrogative pronoun $\mathfrak{L}(\tau)$ sare 'what' are morphologically transparent in the sense that they appear to consist of the element τ -re, cognate with the definite article, combined with one of the following deictic elements: the proximal morpheme $\mathfrak{L}(\tau)$, the distal morpheme $\mathfrak{L}(\tau)$ are or the interrogative morpheme $\mathfrak{L}(\tau)$. The proximal and distal morphemes refer to a location relative to that of the speaker. Some speakers use the proximal deictic morpheme as a

nominal head in itself, e.g. $\mathfrak{A}(\omega)$?ásá 'with this'. The proximal element $\mathfrak{A}(\mathcal{A})$ could conceivably be etymologically related to the pronominal root found in the second person pronouns $\mathfrak{A}(\mathcal{A})$?ádo, $\mathfrak{A}(\mathcal{A})$?ányí and $\mathfrak{A}(\mathcal{A})$?áyú.

In the following list of demonstratives, in which which we find not only demonstrative pronouns but also adverbs, we see the proximal element $\mathfrak{A}(2\hat{a}$ - prefixed to other morphemes that refer to a location relative to the speaker.

| 3(%) | <i>?átháng</i> | 'this up there (to or at any point that is considered |
|------------------|----------------|--|
| | | higher)' |
| 8(6) | <i>?áthú</i> | 'this up over there, this up above there' |
| B(0(| ?ábá | 'this here' |
| BISO | ?ábi | 'this right here' |
| B(JS | ?áfi | 'this just here, this nearby here, this in this direc- |
| | | tion, this to or towards here' |
| વાક | ?áthól | (adj.) 'very near, very close' |
| ひわり | <i>?ápun</i> | (adj.) 'near, close' |
| સાણ | <i>?álem</i> | 'in this direction, hither' |
| હાાહ | <i>?álon</i> | 'in this direction' |
| સાાઉ | ?álol | 'this way, in this direction' |
| 3(23) | ?áchú | 'this down here, this down below, this lower |
| • | | down' |
| સ (જૈંદ્ર | ?ácún | 'below, lower down, beneath' |

Many of these demonstratives have counterparts formed with the distal morpheme $\otimes 2o$ -.

| (B,10) | <i>Potháng</i> | 'that up there' |
|--------|----------------|----------------------|
| (BB) | <i>?othú</i> | 'that up over there' |
| (RXI) | ?ochú | 'that down here' |

In some demonstratives we recognise a noun indicating a location, such as $\int_{0}^{\infty} pin$ 'the other side, the opposite side', and $\int_{0}^{\infty} bon$ 'side'.

| સ ()ર્સે | ?ápín | 'this on the other side' |
|-----------------|--------------|--------------------------|
| હાર્ટ્સ | ?opín | 'that on the other side' |
| ઢ ાાઉ | <i>?ábon</i> | 'on this side' |
| (સ(ઉ | ?obon | 'on that side' |

ສເງລື້ ສແດ້ ?ápín ?ábon 'on both sides, here and there'

Three other deictic elements commonly encountered are $\not \supseteq pe$ -, also spelt $\not \supseteq pi$ -, 'over there', $\not \supseteq me$ - 'down there', and $\not \subseteq t\acute{a}$ -, also spelt $\not \supseteq ta$ -, 'up there'. These elements may also be prefixed to the article $\not \supseteq re$, viz. $\not \supseteq pere$ 'that over there', also spelt $\not \supseteq p\acute{z}$ $\not \supseteq p\acute{z}$ $\not \supseteq pyir$, $\not \supseteq pyir$

All the deictic elements introduced thus far form part of many demonstratives and their corresponding interrogatives in Lepcha, as for example in the pair (3 so) ($20\text{th\acute{a}}$) 'then, at that time', 6 so ($3 \text{ sath\acute{a}}$) 'when, at what time'. The demonstratives encode notions such as whether or not an indicated or implied referent is close to the deictic center, whether the referent is at a higher or lower elevation, moving toward or away from the deictic center. Some common demonstratives are listed below in order to illustrate this phenomenon. In the first set of examples, all the demonstratives and the corresponding interrogative contain the element $6 \text{ (} -b\acute{a}$), indicating a location relative to the speaker.

```
?ábá
              'here'
3(0(
     ?obá
              'there'
108)
              'there'
      pebá
700
      mebá
              'there below'
₹0(
      tábá
              'there above'
8(0(
              'where'
      sabá
(w0(
```

The following pronouns of manner contain the element $\ddot{\otimes} \sim (\ddot{\otimes} l\acute{o}m \sim lom)$, 'road, path'.

```
'like this'
ZIII
         ?álom
                   'like that'
         ?olom
BUÜ
        pelom
                   'like that'
ジラス
        melom
                   'like that down there'
あい
         tálom
                   'like that there above'
Ø1119
(۱۷)س
         salom
                   'how, like what'
        salomlá 'anyhow, anyway'
الالالااس
```

The element $\ddot{\infty}$ -lem, expresses the meaning 'towards, in the direction of', is found in the following demonstratives.

```
*in this direction, hither'

*in that direction, thither'

*in that direction, thither'

*in what direction, whither, where'

*in the direction there above'
```

The element (δ *lol* 'bend' which forms part of a set of demonstratives is also used as a verb meaning 'bend, bend onwards, turn or incline in a forward direction, be directed'.

```
ສແດ້ Pálol 'this way, in this direction'
(ຮເດັ Polol 'that way, in that direction'
ຜເດັ salol 'which way, in which direction, whither'
ຈເດັ talol 'up above there'
```

In the following examples the morpheme $(\mathfrak{S} - lon)$ 'in this direction' is found.

```
auổ Pálon in this direction
(ଷ୍ଟାଉଁ Polon in that direction
ଖାଉଁ 🗲 talon kón in the direction there above
```

The morpheme ξ *tet*, also spelt ξ *tyet* and ξ *tyat*, expresses the meaning 'until, up to'.

```
Ris Pátet 'this much, this many'
```

```
'that much, this many'

— ই satet 'how much, how many'

petet 'up to that place over there'
```

The morpheme \(\bar{z}\) tet is used as an approximative suffix with nominals and verbs, indicating a limit or boundary, a continuation or extension as far or as much as specified, e.g. \(\omega\)\(\bar{z}\) satet khut tet 'as much as possible'. When used with verbs, the morpheme \(\bar{z}\) tet is suffixed to the verb to express a limiting event with respect to the situation expressed by the main verb. Occasionally the element \(\bar{z}\) tet also occurs as a verb meaning 'touch, aim'.

```
47 ຜິງຜູ້ ສເງື້ອວງ ຜິງຜູ້ ສເອັງອັ
gun-len ?átím-nu gun-len ?ácum-tet
all-than big-ABL all-than small-until
'from the greatest of all to the smallest'
```

4.3.3 *Interrogative and relative pronouns*

Many interrogative pronouns contain the element ω sa-. In addition to these pronouns Lepcha uses the pronouns ω_3 shú 'what' and ω_3 tú 'who'. Occasionally, as in (51), interrogative pronouns are reduplicated. The pronoun ω_2 sare 'which' is used with both human and non-human referents, whereas ω_3 tú 'who' is only used with human referents. Some interrogative pronouns are also used as relative pronouns, like ω_2 sare 'which' in example (53). The notion 'why?' is expressed by the expression ω_3 shúmátne 'why', sometimes spelt ω_3 shúmátnu. Questions containing an interrogative pronoun are sometimes facultatively marked by the clause-final interrogative particle ω_3 so (Q). Yes/no questions are not marked by the interrogative particle.

- 49 البدن (الله على الله على
- 51 (ω τι√κι* εξεξ έξωι go cálóng-do shú-shú zúk gát 18 now-self what-what do must 'What should I do now?'
- 52 &(T) + &(3) + T &(+v) &(3) (Q)
 2áre-zang shúmú-dep-re ?ádyút shúmátne
 this-like man-with-DEF fight why

dóng–shang gó search–INF Q

'Why are you picking a fight with a guy like him?'

53 いまいろん いんしょうい あいてりれいいいき sukdum-sá ?áre-zang lyáng-kát zónggú–re Dzongú-DEF land-one world-GEN this-like شا سار خدار سامار دال gum sare-ká-re sabá-re róng be.AST which-LOC-DEF where-DEF Lepcha સાર્વે છેલ ?ágít thop-sho tribe get-NPR

'Dzongú is one of those places on earth in which, where, we can find Lepcha people.'

Notions such as 'everywhere' and 'everyone' are expressed in Lepcha by using interrogative pronouns reinforced with the morpheme on $l\acute{a}$ 'also', e.g. $\omega_0(s)$ sabálá 'everywhere', $\omega_0(s)$ shúlá 'everything, whatever', $\omega_0(s)$ sathálá 'always', $\omega_0(s)$ túlá 'everyone, someone, anyone, whoever'. When these are combined with a negative verb they convey the senses 'nowhere', 'no one', etc, e.g. (55). The pronoun $\omega_0(s)$ tú 'who' is also found reinforced with $\omega_0(s)$ 'self', viz. $\omega_0(s)$ túdo 'any person, anybody, anyone'.

54 (ษี เมษเฟเ ซี้ย์ hó sathálá ma-yâ-n 2s always NEG-know-NEG

> ezni viế shưc shúlá ma-yâ-n li-sho everything NEG-know-NEG say-NPR 'You're always saying: I don't know, I don't know anything.'

55 (ພວງ ອຽດ) ຈະເດ go-nu shúlá ma-mát-ne 1S-ABL everything NEG-do-NEG 'I didn't do anything.'

56
2\(\delta\) \(\tilde{\xalpha}\) \(\cdot\) \(\cdot\) \(\delta\) \(\delta\)

4.3.4 Indefinite pronouns

Common indefinite pronouns referring to unspecified persons or things are frel 'each', & for ?áflík 'some', & gun 'all, every', & tyâng 'whole, all', Eyez kumdúng 'other', & rangsâ ~ & rangsâr 'other', & jen 'other'.

The adjective of w rangsâ ~ of w rangsâr, sometimes spelt of w rangsó ~ of w rangsór or of of w rungsó ~ of w rungsór, expresses the

meaning 'another, second, different' in the sense of 'a second one', 'one more', but also in the sense of a different one from the one at hand'. The adjective $2a\hat{sar}$ is taken to be a short form of $a\hat{sar}$ rangsâ ~ 37 the adjective & jen 'other, another, different, additional' might be a loan from Dzongkha or Dränjoke স্বৰ্জনী zhenmi or স্বৰ্থ zhen 'other', although the Lepcha and Dränjoke meanings cannot be simply equated. In older texts, we find the form σ_{δ}^2 jemen 'other, another, different, additional', which is taken to be an older form of \mathfrak{F} jen. The etymological relationship between the forms 💰 jen and 🐧 jemen and the Dzongkha and Dränjoke forms is as yet unclear. The adjective & jen 'other, another, different, additional' is used in much the same way as so war rangsa, e.g. of wy jen sung 'another story' in example (31) of this chapter, or & single fen thampang dep [other object with] 'with other objects'. The form & jen 'other, another, different, additional' is also used as what could be called a true indefinite pronoun, i.e. used independently as a pronominal head, which can be directly followed by suffixes and/or a definite article, e.g ອັງພາງ jen-sang-nu [other-PL.H-ABL] 'by others'.

- 57 ອູ້ ເອງເລ ເປ ຜູ້ງ ເກດງ ເລືອ jen múng-pang lá gun ro-nu nóng ma other devil-PL.NH also all fear-ABL go AST 'All the other devils were also afraid and left.'
- 58 róng lí–kát gang nyí Lepcha house-one if ૧૫ જું કાર્રિજી ક્ષા કું કાર્ણ કું ક્ષાણ rungsâr ?ágít-sá ?ágyáp nyí–sho other tribe-GEN house much be-NPR 'If there is one Lepcha house there, there will be many more houses of other tribes.'

The meaning expressed by the adjective $\exists y \in \exists j \text{ kumdúng}$ is 'other, different, strange, foreign, alien', in the sense of 'someone or something that does not resemble the person or thing referred to'. The noun $\exists G \text{ maro}$ 'man, person' may also be used to express the notions 'someone, someone else, anyone, whoever, another person', e.g. (60).

When the noun $\sqrt[4]{r}$ maró is reinforced with (** do `self'), this yields the meaning 'the man himself', as in $\sqrt[4]{r}$ $\sqrt[4]{s}$ (maródo zúkbám [manself make-PRG] 'the man is doing it himself'.

- 59 えらべり でたく きょ でし pe kumdúng maró-re tú gó over.there other man-DEF who Q 'Who is that strange man?'
- 60
 (&)(* 55()) **(50)(**

 20re-do ma-mát le maró thyo-sho that-self NEG-do REQ man hear-NPR 'Please don't do that. People will hear.'

In example (61), we see the adjective $\sqrt[3]{jen}$ 'other, another', the noun $\sqrt[3]{r}$ maró 'man, person', the adjective $\sqrt[3]{s}$ kumdúng 'different, strange' and the plural suffix $\sqrt[3]{w}$ -sang, all grouped together in one phrase.

'Other people, outsiders, they were not allowed to come here.'

The adjective $\mathfrak{L}(\mathfrak{H})$ $2 ext{aflik}$ 'some', referring to either persons or things, is derived from the verb \mathfrak{H} \mathfrak{H} \mathfrak{H} \mathfrak{H} 'divide, separate', from which the adverb \mathfrak{H} \mathfrak{H} 'apart, aside' is also derived. The form $\mathfrak{L}(\mathfrak{H})$ \mathfrak{H} 'some' is also found, albeit less frequently.

'Some people were not given any.'

The form \hat{r} rel occurs as a noun expressing the meaning 'piece' and as an adverb in the sense 'separate, separately, respectively'. As a main verb \hat{r} rel expresses the meaning 'separate maize from the cob'. The form \hat{r} rel is also used as an indefinite pronoun expressing the meaning 'each'. More often than not the reduplicated form is used, expressing the meanings 'one by one, one after the other, each one individually'.

63 ψης της το huyú-m rel-rel bi
3P-DAT each-each give
'Give one to each of them.'

For the concepts 'all', 'every' and 'whole', the words & gun and & tyâng are used. In order to grasp the difference between & gun 'all, every' and & tyâng 'all, whole', it is important to realise that when & gun 'all, every' is used, everybody or everything that is referred to is seen as an individual person or item, whereas when & tyâng is used a reference is made to the whole or the entirety of a group of things or people.

64 & (O(C) (N) &) & (*)

4.4 The ablative suffix

The invariant meaning of the ablative suffix $\partial_{y} \sim \partial_{y}$ -nun \sim -nu is source or cause. Lepcha $\partial_{y} \sim \partial_{y}$ -nun \sim -nu is cognate with the Limbu comitative suffix -nu 'with, from', which also fulfils an ablative function. Lepcha $\partial_{y} \sim \partial_{y}$ -nun \sim -nu is suffixed to nominals, verbs or clauses and the apparently different types of meaning which the morpheme $\partial_{y} \sim \partial_{y}$ -nun \sim -nu expresses in these combinations are a function of the difference in the syntactic status of the constituent to which the morpheme is attached.

There are native speakers and Lepcha authors who consistently use the form $\partial_1 -nun$ after nouns and the form $\partial_1 -nu$ after verbs. This is generally regarded as proper or correct usage. However, this is clearly a cultivated norm because in practice most speakers and writers do not observe any distinction. This is just one facet of a wider sociolinguistic phenomenon in Lepcha, for in Lepcha textbooks norms of speech are often prescribed which deviate from the actual norms observed in natural speech. In the examples which I adduce below, the two allomorphs ∂_{y} -nun and ∂_{y} -nu are used seemingly at random. Two general tendencies can be observed. One is the tendency to use the form $\partial_1 -nun$ more frequently in combination with nouns and the form on -nu more frequently with verbs, an artificial tendency which, as already pointed out, is not observed consistently. A second tendency is to use the form form ∂_{y} -nun in the sense of 'by, through', whereas the abbreviated form form of -nu more often occurs in the sense of 'from, since', but here too there is little consistency. The situation therefore appears to be in flux, and widespread bilingualism may have exacerbated the confusion because in certain areas fluent monolingual speakers of Lepcha are in the minority.

One sense which the suffix $\partial_y \sim \partial_y -nun \sim -nu$ expresses when affixed to nouns and adverbs denoting a place or time is the ablative, viz. to mark the source, origin or point of departure for the activity denoted by the main verb. In such contexts the ending is comparable in function to English 'from'.

```
66

(ω (Ε΄(Δ), ωο(ω) (Ε΄ ξ)

go kóm ?ore sabá-nu thop te

1s money that where-ABL get DUB

'Where would I get that kind of money from?'
```

```
67 ພາກາງ ແລ ເສງັ້ລະເ າເລເຮ
saróng—nu go cholí—ká nóng—sho
today—ABL 1S school—LOC go—NPR
```

'As of today, I shall go to school.'

68 **SINYOY**Pálut-nu
heart-ABL
'from the bottom of my heart'

69

(**O(A*)

h\(\delta \) sab\(\delta - nu \)

2S where—ABL

'Where are you from?'

'Where do you come from?'

'Where did you come from?'

70 ຊີເອງເທເດັງ ເເຊັເລງຈູ້ dárjúlyáng-nun kálenpúng-tet Darjeeling-ABL Kalimpong-until 'from Darjeeling to Kalimpong'

71 Subject Sub

The Lepcha ablative suffix $\partial_y \sim \partial_y -nun \sim -nu$ can be affixed to nominals to express an agent, which in some other languages such as Limbu or Kulung would be termed ergative or instrumental. For a further discussion of the meaning and function of the ablative suffix, the reader is referred to Section 5.13 below.

4.5 *The lative suffix*

In its ablative sense, the Lepcha ablative suffix $\partial_0 \sim \partial_0 -nun \sim -nu$ contrasts with the Lepcha lative suffix $\partial_0 -lom$ 'via, through'. The lative suffix indicates via which or through which motion a location is reached. Whereas the Limbu root -lam occurs both as a noun meaning 'road, way' and as a mediative suffix meaning 'via, from', the Lepcha

root $\overset{\bullet}{\otimes}$ -lóm occurs as the lative suffix, as a noun in the meaning 'road, way' and as a verb in the meaning 'walk'. Both the Lepcha and the Limbu forms reflect the Tibeto-Burman root *lam 'road, direction'. As examples (72) and (73) show, the Lepcha ablative suffix $\overset{\bullet}{\otimes}_1 - nun \sim -nu$ and the lative suffix $\overset{\bullet}{\otimes}_1 - lóm$ 'via' are closely related in function but distinct in meaning. Whereas in example (72) Lepcha $\overset{\bullet}{\otimes}_1 - lóm$ suggests a particular direction or pathway, in sentence (73) only the point of origin is suggested by $\overset{\bullet}{\otimes}_1 \sim nun \sim -nu$. In sentences (74)-(77), we see more examples of the suffix $\overset{\bullet}{\otimes}_1 - lóm$ 'via'.

- 72 (ເພ (ລັກເນກ(ເຈັ້)ໂອ go prolyáng–lóm thi 1s Bhutan–via reach 'I arrived by way of Bhutan.'
- 73 (ພ (ລັກເປັນເວງ ໂອ go prolyáng–nu thi 1s Bhutan–ABL reach 'I arrived from Bhutan.'
- 74 ເອງເຈັ ເອງເອ ຜູ້ເລື້ອ kúng-lóm kúng-kóng glet-nón ma tree-via tree-branch drop-RES AST 'Branches fell down from the tree.'
- 75 ອງ ໂຮເຕັ້ວຮ hu lí-lóm plâ yet-nón ma 3S house-via come.out descend-RES AST 'He came out of his house and went down.'

```
77 ອົງ ຮັດ ເຮັນ ຍັງຮັນຈີເພເັ້ນ ແລ ເສນ
hu mák myóng shumyú-sang-lóm go thyo
3S die experience person-PL.H-via 1S hear
'I heard from these people that he died.'
```

There are a number of Lepcha suffixes which are similar in meaning but distinct from both the ablative and the lative suffixes. One of these is the Lepcha suffix \mathcal{F} -ren 'since'. Whereas \mathcal{F} -ren 'since' has a straightforward temporal meaning 'since', e.g. (78), the use of the ablative suffix $\partial_{y} \sim \partial_{y}$ -nun \sim -nu implies a cause, a change of heart or some similar implication because of its meaning denoting origin, e.g. (79).

```
18 المنت يُ tasó-ren
yesterday-since
'since yesterday'

79 المنت ي tasó-nu
yesterday-ABL
'since yesterday, from yesterday on'
```

Another such suffix is the Lepcha ending $\stackrel{\sim}{\mathcal{L}}$ - $k\acute{o}n$ 'side, towards, in the direction'. This Lepcha morpheme to some extent resembles the frequent usage of the suffix - $patt\bar{t}$ 'side' in some varieties of colloquial eastern Nepali and, for that matter, the use of the English postposition 'side' in Bhutanese and Lepcha English, e.g. 'He went Darjeeling side', i.e. 'He went to/towards Darjeeling'. As a noun, Lepcha $\stackrel{\sim}{\mathcal{L}}$ - $k\acute{o}n$ translates into English as 'side'.

```
80

France (France)

hó ka-sá kón tyúk

2s S1-GEN side kick

'You kicked it towards me.'
```

- 81 (See (so nóng-kón tho inside-side put 'Put it inside.'
- 82 (い はいい (そうで)に go prolyáng-kón nóng-sho 1s Bhutan-side go-NPR 'I am going in the direction of Bhutan.'
- 83

 (W) (INCHE) (TOLE

 go prolyáng-ká nóng-sho

 1S Bhutan-LOC go-NPR

 'I am going to Bhutan.'

4.6 The genitive and comitative suffixes

The Lepcha suffix ω (GEN) expresses possession, part-whole relationships and related semantic functions.

- 85 そいらい 名(そ 菜 気柔る kasu-sá ?ákâ nyet nyí ma 1S.OBL-GEN hand two be AST 'I have two hands.'
- 86 కట్పుడు కి.పీ కే సేకేశ kasu–sá ?ákup nyet nyí ma 1s.OBL–GEN child two be AST 'I have two children.'

The Lepcha comitative suffix $\omega_0 \sim \omega - sa$ 'with' is partially homophonous with the genitive suffix $\omega_0 - sa$. Usage of the genitive suffix $\omega_0 - sa$ is straightforward and ubiquitous in the language, but the usage of the comitative suffix requires some discussion and must be contrasted with the instrumental function of the Lepcha ablative suffix $\delta \sim \delta - nun \sim -nu$. The comitative suffix can be used to indicate the instrument or means by which an action is enacted or takes place.

- 89 (మ శ్రెస్టుల్ వి.డ్ ుళుల go ?úng-sá ?ákâ cóng-sho 1S water-with hand wash-NPR 'I wash my hands with water.'
- 90 (w \sigma
- 91 (ຕັ້ນສັງເພ(ງໍເຄັ ເຕັ້ນ phyokmú-sá lí phyok broom-with house sweep 'Sweep the house with the broomstick.'
- 92 ກັ່ງເພ(ະັງ ຖ້າ ryúm-sá dum hráp needle-with cloth sew 'Sew cloth with a needle.'

Whereas the suffix $\partial_1 \sim \partial_1 - nun \sim -nu$ marks the agent performing an action, the Lepcha comitative suffix $\omega (\sim \omega - sa \sim -sa)$ marks the implement with which the situation is enacted, e.g. (93)-(96). The situation in Lepcha is markedly different from that in Limbu, where the Limbu comitative suffix $\partial_1 \sim \partial_1 -nun \sim -nu$ fulfils both comitative and ablative functions. In Lepcha, the suffix $\partial_0 \sim \partial_0 -nun \sim -nu$ denotes origin, whereas the suffix $\omega_0 \sim \omega - s\dot{a} \sim -sa$ denotes belonging and expresses the comitative sense 'with'. The comitative suffix ω \(\(\sigma\) ω -sá ~ -sa is especially used when the referent of the constituent it modifies is the obvious choice of means by which to enact the situation denoted by the main verb, i.e. when the activity denoted by the verb, in a manner of speaking, belongs to the implement. It is via the sense of belonging that an etymological relationship with the nearly homophonous Lepcha genitive suffix becomes plausible. However, note that in examples (93) through (95), the ablative suffix $\delta_1 \sim \delta_1$ -nun ~ -nu could be used instead of Lepcha ω (~ ω -sá ~ -sa , whereas in sentence (96) the use of $\partial_{y} \sim \partial_{y} - nun \sim -nu$ would yield an awkward or less obvious reading. This is because the notion of origin, cause or source would yield suitable applications in examples (93) through (95), but not in utterance (96), where the knife is merely an implement accompanying the action.

- 93 (w &() \$\frac{7}{5}\tilde{6}\tilde{6}\tilde{6}\tilde{6}\tilde{7}\tilde{6
- 94 (మ &(కొ)డు(కైర్) go ?ányúr—sá nyen—bám 1S ear—with listen—PRG 'I listen with my ears.'
- 95 ເພ ສະເເດພະເ ເຈົ້ ວັເ go ?ábong-sá jók-bám 1s mouth-with talk-PRG 'I talk with my mouth.'

```
96 (ເພ ້ຽເ-ເຜົ່າວັເ
go bánkup-sá tyók-bám
18 knife-with cut-PRG
'I am cutting with a knife.'
```

In the following examples, both the Lepcha ablative suffix $\partial_0 \sim \partial_0$ -nun \sim -nu and the Lepcha comitative suffix $\partial_0 \sim \partial_0 \sim -sa$ are used. The difference in meaning is that in example (97) the pen is depicted as a means or point of origin and therefore highlighted as the means by which the writing takes place, whereas in example (98) the pen is merely mentioned as the obvious means with no special highlighting of its function as the implement.

```
97
         સ્ત્રુહ્યુતા હતું મેંગુહ
         nyúgú–nu
                           zúk–sho
                    shú
         pen-ABL
                     what make-NPR
            'What do you use a pen for?'
98
         3636 63 HILE
         nyúgú–sá
                     shú
                           zúk-sho
         pen-with
                     what make-NPR
            'Why are you using a pen?'
```

The comitative suffix $\omega_0 \sim \omega - sa \sim -sa$ 'with', is also used with numerals, e.g. (99) and Section 3.12. Occasionally, the comitative suffix is also used to coordinate arguments, e.g. (100), (101), (102) and (104).

```
99 S(\mathcal{E}(\omega \mathcal{E}(kh\acute{a}-k\acute{a}t)) = sak\acute{a}t score—one with one 'twenty one'
```

```
100 ສ່າງວາ ພ ອ້ວງ ອາເອີດ
phyuk-bú sa jen-bú ma-flí-ne
be.rich-FCT with other-FCT NEG-separate-NEG
```

'Don't distinguish between the rich and the poor.'

101 באיט איט איט איל אָלָּלּ sathang sá sacák punzók tiger with leopard forest

> స్యాప్లు thámcâng–pang gum animal–PL.NH be.AST

> > 'Tigers and leopards are animals of the jungle.'

The postposition $\frac{2}{5}$ dep 'together, along with' is often used in combination with or as an alternant to the comitative suffix $\omega_0 \sim \omega - s\acute{a} \sim -sa$ 'with'. The postposition $\frac{2}{5}$ dep 'together' indicates accompaniment.

- 103 (F t) \$\frac{1}{2}\$ (To ho hu-dep nong 2S 3S-together go 'You go with him.'

```
106
         म्) (मुंस्र क्)िर्दे क्रिंग्र
                               muró-dep
                                               ma-nóng-ne
               throm–ká
         38
               market-LOC
                               man-together NEG-go-NEG
            'He went to the market without anyone else.'
107
         t) t)(*(w( (南水
         hu
               hudo-sá
                               tyól–dep
         3s
               3S.OBL-GEN
                               friend-together
         0(100(¥ O(
         cálóng-do
                         lát
         just.now-self
                         return
            'He just came together with his friend.'
```

A verb that should be mentioned here is $(\mathbf{x}) ch\delta$ 'unite, join'. Támsáng lists the word $(\mathbf{x}) the \mathbf{x} the \mathbf{x}$ 'together', but no examples of this form have been attested (Támsáng 1980: 376).

```
108 (ຜ (ຊັດ້) ເລີຍ(
go chó-nun nóng-ká
1s join-ABL go-LOC
'I'll join you and then let's go.'
```

4.7 The locative suffix

The invariant meaning of the Lepcha suffix $\epsilon(\cdot k \hat{a})$, which I have expediently labelled 'locative', is one of 'direction', and the locative suffix may be attached to nominals, verbs and entire clauses. The invariant meaning of direction yields the notion of a supine when the locative suffix $\epsilon(\cdot k \hat{a})$ is affixed to a verb, e.g. (107), and produces an adhortative meaning when suffixed to an entire clause, e.g. (108). The latter uses of the locative suffix $\epsilon(\cdot k \hat{a})$ are treated in Section 5.12. When the locative morpheme $\epsilon(\cdot k \hat{a})$ is suffixed to a noun, it denotes the site of an activity or the destination towards which an activity is directed. The supine, adhortative and locative senses of the Lepcha locative morpheme $\epsilon(\cdot k \hat{a})$ are all functions of the same meaning, i.e. the goal toward which the action or situation is directed. The locative, supine and adhortative senses of the Lepcha locative category are

treated in separate sections of the grammar, but the same gloss (LOC) is used throughout the grammar in keeping with the analysis of this morpheme as indexing a single grammatical category with a uniform Gesamtbedeutung in all cases. Comparativists should keep in mind that the fact that the locative $\epsilon(\cdot k \acute{a})$ in its various functions synchronically represents a single grammatical category in modern Lepcha does not necessarily preclude that the three syntactically distinct uses of this morpheme may actually derive from historically distinct etyma through convergent evolution or analogy. The Dzongkha locative suffix $\beta \times khar$, more usually pronounced kha, which particularly occurs in toponyms, might reflect the same etymon as Lepcha locative $\epsilon(\cdot k \acute{a})$, but it is unclear at this point whether an etymological relationship obtains between the two.

```
109 (ω οῷ ξε ( οῖοξ το go lyem-ká nóng-det ma 1s play-LOC go-move AST 'I am going to play.'
```

111
$$\int \widetilde{N} \otimes \widetilde{N} = \widetilde$$

The Lepcha locative morpheme ϵ_0 - $k\hat{a}$, when suffixed to a nominal constituent, can fulfil a regular locative function indicating the

location, place or site of an activity or situation, e.g (112)-(113).

```
112 SÕE(
lí-ká
house-LOC
'at home'
```

```
113 ביו אין איל בּין אונט

sáthang punzók–ká bám–sho

tiger forest–LOC dwell–NPR

'Tigers live in the jungle.'
```

The locative ending ϵ (- $k\acute{a}$ can also express the destination or entity towards which an activity or situation is directed, e.g. (114)-(115). Example (112) can therefore be correctly translated into English 'home', in the sense of 'homewards' or 'at home', depending on which of the two meanings the speaker wishes to express.

```
114 (ພ ະເຊັ້ນສັງະເ ເດີເຣ
go kalenpúng-ká nóng-sho
1s Kalimpong-LOC go-NPR
'I am going to Kalimpong.'
```

When affixed to a nominal denoting an animate referent, as in the following example, Lepcha ϵ_{ζ} - $k\dot{a}$ can be contrasted with the Lepcha dative suffix -m, e.g. (115) vs. (116) and the discussion in Section 4.8.

```
115 (\omega \in \sigma) \in (\mathcal{H})0

go \quad kaju-ka \quad kam \quad zo \quad bi

1S dog-LOC little.bit food give

'I gave some food to the dog.'
```

```
116 (\omega \not\in \sigma); \ddot{\mathcal{E}} (#\mathfrak{f}o go kaju-re-m kám zo bi
18 dog-DEF-DAT little.bit food give 'I gave the dog some food.'
```

4.8 The dative suffix

The dative suffix -m (DAT) indicates the entity towards which the action or situation expressed by the verb is directed, but in a much more personal way than the locative suffix -c(-ka). The meaning expressed by the locative suffix may be called 'local, directional', whereas the meaning expressed by the dative suffix may be called 'af-

fected'. The Lepcha dative suffix marks what in many Western languages would be called the 'direct object' of a sentence. When an activity expressed by a verb is directed 'to' or 'for' someone or something, the goal is marked by the dative suffix -m. The dative suffix may mark the place to or towards which the motion is directed, or the person or thing to whom the action is directed, or for whom the action is intended. In other words, the verb expresses an activity that is targetted at an entity or object and the affected target or beneficiary of the activity or emotion is marked by the dative suffix.

- 117 ອົງເອງ ອະດີ (ສ ໂວເອ hu–nu kasu–m rangsâr cho bi–sho 3S–ABL 1S.OBL–DAT other book give–NPR 'He'll give me the other book.'

- 120 ونتني (خونة) kasu-m dok-wám 1S.OBL-DAT be.ill-PRG 'I am feeling ill.'

A combination of the meanings of the dative suffix with the meaning of the locative suffix is not semantically plausible. Therefore, the dative suffix is not likely to be combined with the locative suffix. The meanings of the two suffixes can be contrasted as follows: When a referent is marked by the locative suffix, the action is directed towards the referent, which may be a person, place or thing. When a referent is marked by the dative suffix, we can say that the described action or state is more emphatically intended to affect the referent, or

that the referent is or would be affected in a more immediate way. We can see this illustrated in examples (121) through (128) below. For example, in (121) the general act is expressed of more or less accidentally coughing in someone's face without meaning to do so. If the speaker had used $\Re (\vec{\sigma} \vec{\tau}) / 2$ amlem-re-m [face-DEF-DAT], rather than $\Re (\vec{\sigma} \in (\text{Pámlem-ká}))$ [face-LOC], it would have been clear that the act of coughing into someone's face had been deliberate.

- 121 すりでい えばそい なりない muró-sá ?ámlem-ká ma-hleng man-GEN face-LOC NEG-cough 'Don't cough into someone's face.'
- 123 (آن چن پخ پائی) hó kasu-m tyúk 2S 1S.OBL-DAT kick 'You kicked [it to] me.'
- 124

 (F \(\varphi\) (F \(\varphi\) (F \(\varphi\) (F \(\varphi\))

 h\(\otimes\) ka-s\(\otimes\) k\(\otimes\) n-k\(\otimes\) ty\(\otimes\) kick

 2S \(S1-GEN\) side-LOC kick

 'You kicked it in my direction.'
- 125 (which is) which is wife go-nun hu lyáng-ká yuk klóng 1S-ABL 3S land-LOC letter send 'I sent a letter to his place.'
- 126 syrto by
 2ingngá-re-m buk
 child-DEF-DAT hit
 'Strike the child!'

```
127 (sỹ ở(
fo-re-m tsám
bird-DEF-DAT hold
'Catch the bird!'
```

```
128 ε(ε)(‡ζ τ)ορ

káyú-do-m-re ma-bi-ne

1P-self-DAT-DEF NEG-give-NEG

'We were not given it.'
```

4.9 Adjectives

The Lepcha equivalent to an English adjective may be an adjective or a verb expressing a state or a condition. Many adjectives are formed from verbs by adding the prefix χ_{i} $2\acute{a}$ - and sometimes suffixing -m to the verb root, e.g. m_{i} $ry\acute{u}$ 'be good', χ_{i} $ry\acute{u}$ "good', as mentioned in Chapter 3. Some common adjectives are listed below.

| & (૪૪) | ?áhyur | 'red' |
|-------------------|--------------|-----------------|
| જાર્જ | ?ánók | 'black' |
| B(#} | ?ádúm | 'white' |
| સારો | <i>?ácor</i> | 'sour' |
| B(4) | ?ázuk | 'pretty' |
| BOÜZ | ?áryúm | 'good' |
| Blais | ?ásúm | 'spicy' |
| 3 (5) | ?áklyam | 'sweet' |
| ટ (માં | ?áhyâng | 'cold' |
| 3(E v | ?ákyâng | 'light, bright' |

An adjective describes or specifies the properties or attributes of a noun. Adjectives used adnominally generally follow the noun they modify, e.g. $\ddot{\otimes}$ $\dot{\otimes}$ (lóm $2\acute{a}l$ [road new] 'the new road', although the order may be reversed for emphasis.

'Do not drink cold water.'

Nouns are modified by adjectives, whereas adjectives may be modified by intensifiers, such as $\Re(\mathcal{A}_{i})$?ágyáp 'much, very', sometimes shortened to $\Re(gyáp)$, and $\Re(gyáp)$, are combination of both as in (131) and (132).

- 131 Sự Sự Tổ Bướn F Ö C Páre tukpópót Págyáp-do klyam-bám this peach much-self be.sweet-PRG 'This peach is very sweet.'
- 132 SUTY WILL SUCJ Pare-re gyáp-do Pákhú this-DEF much-self expensive 'This is very expensive.'

4.10 Comparative and superlative constructions

A comparative construction is formed by means of the postposition \mathfrak{F}_{len} 'than, compared to', which follows the element it modifies. In other words, the postposition \mathfrak{F}_{len} 'than' is suffixed to the element with which the comparison is made.

- 133 THE WAYS THE PERKÍT LEN NURKÍT PERKÍT LEN NURKÍT BOOD BE
 'Nurkít is better than Perkít.'

'This dog is quicker than that one over there.'

A superlative meaning is expressed by comparison with a totality expressed by ω_{gun} 'all, every'.

136 ແລ້ງស៊ី ໂຮ້ວງ ຜັງ
$$go gun-len tím-bú gum$$
1S all—than big—FCT be.AST
'I am the biggest one of all.'

A superlative meaning may also be expressed by suffixing $\frac{2}{3}$ -chúk 'most, worthy', or $\frac{2}{3}$ -cho 'best, greatest', to the root.

4.11 Numerals

The Lepcha numerals from zero through ten are as follows:

| ∫રુ | ti | 'zero' |
|-------------|------|---------|
| = (| kát | 'one' |
| \$ | nyet | 'two' |
| (سار | sám | 'three' |
| 5JN | fali | 'four' |

| 573 | fangú | 'five' |
|-------------------|--------|---------|
| \$(F | tarók | 'six' |
| ~(* | kakyók | 'seven' |
| €€) | kaku | 'eight' |
| ₹(Ž i | kakyót | 'nine' |
| ≠io | kati | 'ten' |

The numerals from eleven through nineteen are formed through suffixation of the morpheme $\mathcal{E}(-th\acute{a}p)$ to the numerals from one through nine. The numerals for the teens have both a full and an abbreviated form. The full forms are felt to be more formal and precise. The abbreviated numerals are formed by dropping the decimal numeral $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{F}$ kati 'ten'.

| full form | | short for | rm | |
|---------------------|------------------|------------|-------------|-------------|
| <i>સ્</i> (ફેર્ક્ટ) | kati kát tháp | そん() | kát tháp | 'eleven' |
| સ્ટ્રેક્ટ્રિક | kati nyet tháp | ₹b(| nyet tháp | 'twelve' |
| ∉∫જેત્થાં (ધા | kati sám tháp | اگا)تنا) | sám tháp | 'thirteen' |
| FIREING | kati fali tháp | e juri | fali tháp | 'fourteen' |
| સ્ટ્રાંસ્ટ્રાફ્ટ | kati fangú tháp | 573b(| fangú tháp | 'fifteen' |
| <i>સ્</i> ૧૭૭૬ ફેં | kati tarók tháp | ર્લે દ્વાર | tarók tháp | 'sixteen' |
| そりゃそしきゅん | kati kakyók tháp | きずら | kakyók tháp | 'seventeen' |
| ಕೃತಿಕಕ್ಕುರೀ | kati kaku tháp | EE)b(| kaku tháp | 'eighteen' |
| Ej&Ejb(| kati kakyót tháp | ~(Ē,b) | kakyót tháp | 'nineteen' |

Starting with the numeral for 'twenty', Lepcha makes use of a vige-simal numeral system based on $G(kh\acute{a})$ 'one score', which would appear to be the same root as reflected in Dränjoke or Dzongkha rather khäci 'one score', viz. $G(E(kh\acute{a}) k\acute{a})$ [score-one] 'twenty', $G(G(kh\acute{a}) k\acute{a})$ [score-three] 'sixty'. The coordinative conjunction G(K(k)) 'G(K(k)) 'with' is used to combine the vigesimal portion of the numeral with the lesser numeral.

| ひ(毛) | khá kát | 'twenty' |
|----------------|-----------------|----------------|
| い(をしい)を | khá kát sá kát | 'twenty-one' |
| いぼしゅ | khá kát sá nyet | 'twenty-two' |
| (J. Z. (w) (w) | khá kát sá sám | 'twenty-three' |
| いたしいまろ | khá kát sá fali | 'twenty-four' |

| いたしいまり | khá kát sá fangú | 'twenty-five' |
|---------------------------------------|-------------------|----------------|
| (1) [(w) (8) [| khá kát sá tarók | 'twenty-six' |
| いったしいっても | khá kát sá kakyók | 'twenty-seven' |
| い(を(む(もも) | khá kát sá kaku | 'twenty-eight' |
| い(を(w(モ(を) | khá kát sá kakyot | 'twenty-nine' |

After this, the system counts in a mixture of tens and twenties.

| いれいいしてる | khá kát sá kati | 'thirty' |
|-------------------------|---------------------------|--------------|
| ડ(ફાડ્યાસ્ટ્રેફ્ટોર્ટ્ગ | khá kát sá kati kát thap | 'thirty-one' |
| ાનું કેશ્યાના કો | khá kát sá kati nyet thap | 'thirty-two' |
| ৫(ক্ | khá nyet | 'forty' |
| Clail | khá sám | 'sixty' |
| uein | khá fali | 'eighty' |

| (なき) | gyó kát | 'one hundred' |
|-----------------------------------|----------------|-------------------------|
| ている | gyó nyet | 'two hundred' |
| [৻] ᢀૡ૽૽ૼ ૼ ૼ | tunghrók kát | 'one thousand' |
| ૾઼ ોર્સ્કોરુ | tunghrók kati | 'ten thousand' |
| آ ئ الله ₹ ا | hritsho kát | 'one myriad' |
| ÖZ(CO-E(| búmtsho kát | 'one lakh' |
| ÖJÆ(| búm kát | 'one lakh' |
| (we(E (| soyá kát | 'one million, ten lakh' |
| ∮(@€(| cewo kát | 'one crore' |
| ंश्चेत्रें इंस् | túngchúr kát | 'one hundred million' |
| اکسا(سا(به سی | sosotsho kát | 'one billion' |
| اسا(ساريق) ڪ | sosotshúr kát | 'ten billion' |
| BÖJĒ(| therbúm kát | 'one billion' |
| ઉંમું∫ર્મેન્₹ા | thrókthrík kát | 'ten billion' |
| (いいいきも | sosoyá kát | 'one hundred billion' |
| | | |

The numeral forms discussed above are used in counting. Attributive forms of the numerals are formed by adding the factitive marker of $-b\dot{u}$ to the numeral, e.g. $\mathcal{E}(\delta) k\acute{a}tb\acute{u}$ 'the first'. Some speakers add the form $f(\delta) f(\delta) f(\delta)$ number' and prefer to say $f(\delta) f(\delta) f(\delta) f(\delta)$, 'the first', or $f(\delta) f(\delta) f(\delta) f(\delta)$, 'the second', etc.

An alternative more fully vigesimal system augments the repertoire of numeral forms based on the score as mentioned above. This system uses the notion ω_0 báng 'half of'. Kalimpong speakers of Lepcha, who are usually not closely familiar with this system of counting, consider the system based purely on ω_0 khá 'the score' to be the original counting system, and claim that the ω_0 báng system is a modern Sikkimese invention. In fact, this system for arriving at numerals 30, 50, 70, 90 and so forth matches the Dränjoke and Dzongkha vigesimal system.

| いいので | khá báng nyet | '30' [score half-of two] |
|--------------|----------------------|-----------------------------------|
| U1.012 (m1Z1 | khá báng nyet sá kát | '31' [score half-of two with one] |
| التكاكات | khá báng sám | '50' [score half-of three] |
| いいのほうい | khá báng fali | '70' [score half-of four] |
| U101573 | khá báng fangú | '90' [score half-of five] |

The form ω (báng is also used as a main verb meaning 'break, cut, chop wood or bamboo in short pieces'.

```
139 (a) (a) (b) (c) (c) (c) (c) sháng ?ore bán-sá báng le firewood that knife-with break REQ 'Go ahead and chop up the firewood with the knife.'
```

The expression c(0) c(0)

Sikkimese Lepcha textbooks have introduced an additional decimal system, to which Sikkimese schools give preference in their instruction. This system is based on the form § thep 'extra, additional, successive', e.g. §3 §3 theppa theppa 'successively', which is introduced as a decimal morpheme.

| EJ8 | kati | '10' |
|----------|---------------|--------------|
| åĪ | nyet thep | '20' |
| ₹ैंहैं€ | nyet thep kát | '21' |
| رماً)س | sám thep | '30' |
| EJUP | fali thep | ' 40' |
| EMÉ | fangú thep | ' 50' |
| å (1)\$ | tarók thep | ' 60' |
| વૃષ્ટ્ર | kakyók thep | '70' |
| ₹₹)ઠ્ટે | kaku thep | '80' |
| ڂؚۯڂٞؠڮٛ | kakyót thep | '90' |
| เเพ€เ | gyó kát | '100' |

In schools, some specialised vocabulary is used for counting and for arithmetic, for example (3cho') even number, pair, couple', (3cho) 'odd number', (3cho) chólúng nóngshang 'multiply' and (4cho) (equal to'. Specific units for counting are used in certain professions or in harvesting, such as the word (3cho) nyíshu 'twenty', which is used to indicate a certain amount of rice growing in the paddy. This form is evidently the same as the Dränjoke and Dzongkha form (3cho) nyishu 'twenty' used in the Sikkimese and Bhutanese decimal system.

The symbols used to indicate numbers in native Lepcha orthography are listed in Diagram 14.

| 9 | 2 | 3 | ~ | \mathcal{M} | ۍ 6 | v | ζ | ß |
|---|---|---|---|---------------|--------|---|---|---|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 |

Diagram 14: Lepcha numbers

4.12 Telling time

The concept 'today' is expressed in Lepcha by the adverb custoff sarong 'today'. Adverbs expressing days in the immediate past include & Two tasó 'yesterday', sometimes shortened to two só, to Pyotshóng or ja (w itshóng 'day before yesterday, two days ago', wi i iyochám 'three days ago' and wat ?yochót 'four days ago'. The adverb with lúk?ál 'tomorrow' can be analysed as a compound of the verb in lúk 'get up, rise' (which also serves as the noun 'morning') and the adjective $\hat{\mathbf{z}}_i$?ál 'new'. Analogous to the way the adverbs of the immediate past are formed, days in the immediate future are expressed by the adverbs & katshóng 'day after tomorrow', & káchám 'in three days' time, after three days' and Elæ káchót 'in four days' time, after four days'. We also find so ta?yen for 'last year' and si káta?yen for 'three years ago'. The adverb (2015hóng 'that day', containing the distal morpheme & 20-, was heard in a conversation when a speaker referred to a specific day that was mentioned before in the same conversation. Additional examples of words containing the morphemes (tshóng, x chám and x chót, which each appear to imply a specific number of days, have not been attested.

Words for now and later include &(Tálóng 'now, at this very moment', &(Tálóngbá 'in a moment, in a little while', &(Tálónglá 'still', &(Tyá 'formerly, a long time ago, in the days of old', (& Tyo 'before, formerly, some time ago', o(cá 'just, a moment ago', o(cálóng 'just now, just a moment ago', o(cánáp 'last night', o(cábá 'some time ago'.

A period of twenty-four hours is referred to as who saryák 'day, day and night'. The hours of daylight are referred to as who sanyí, also spelt as who sanyím or who sanyím 'day, daytime' and the night-time is referred to (who sonáp 'night, night-time'. Another way of expressing a whole 24-hour period would be by using the expression who sanyí sonáp 'day and night'. The word from róngjíng means 'daily, every day'. Midday or noon is expressed by pointing to the fact that daytime is halfway over, by using the 'half', e.g. who sanyím phet or the shorter the shorter that midday', and likewise the expression (who sonápphet 'midnight' is used.

Other adverbs expressing the time of day include 点镜 nápmún 'evening', 点的 náp-lúk 'day and night, morning and evening', 点体 nápzâ 'dusk', 的玩 lúk-hróng 'morning', (如歌 somyer 'dusk', (如似

solá 'twilight', ເພາເພ sosóng 'dawn', ອັງລັດ tsuk-lát 'sunrise, east', ອັງຊັດ tsukkyer 'sunset, west', ອັງໂພ tsukgi 'afternoon', ອັງຊັດ tsukzán 'early morning, when sun is completely visible', ອັງເດດ tsuknáng 'midday'.

A period of time is referred to in Lepcha as \$\vartit{\vartition} tats\hat{a}t\'\text{ time, period}\$ of time'. Some names for seasons of the year are (\(\overline{\vartition}\vartition sold names'\), (\(\overline{\vartition}\vartition sold names'\vartition sold names'\), (\(\overline{\vartition}\vartition sold names'\vartition sold names'\vartition sold names'\), (\(\overline{\vartition}\vartition sold names'\vartition sold names'\va

The word $\mathfrak{S}(\mathfrak{S})$ for 'moon' in Lepcha is also used to indicate a lunar month. A calendar month is referred to as $\mathfrak{S}(\mathfrak{S})$ $\mathfrak{$

| સ્રાંઝ ઢા kalók nám | 'rat year' |
|-----------------------|----------------|
| ത് ä lóng nám | 'ox year' |
| نه خاوس (sathang nám | 'tiger year' |
| Zyck ö punthyóng nám | 'eagle year' |
| ພັຊັ Ö(sader nám | 'thunder year' |
| oy ້ ö bu nám | 'snake year' |
| 🖏 ö, 7ún nám | 'horse year' |
| 👸 ö(lúk nám | 'sheep year' |
| ஸ்ரு ö sahu nám | 'monkey year' |
| Sử Ö(hík nám | 'chicken year' |
| €જ} ö(kajú nám | 'dog year' |
| เรื่ Ä món nám | 'boar year' |
| | |

The Lepcha year generally consists of twelve months, but during a period of nineteen years reportedly seven years will have thirteen months. The additional month is called $\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} \frac{1}{n}$

```
క్స్ముక్ kurnyít nyóm 'first month of the Lepcha year'
'second month of the Lepcha year'
```

'third month of the Lepcha year'
'fourth month of the Lepcha year'
'fifth month of the Lepcha year'
'sixth month of the Lepcha year'
'seventh month of the Lepcha year'
'eight month of the Lepcha year'
'ninth month of the Lepcha year'
'tenth month of the Lepcha year'
'eleventh month of the Lepcha year'
'twelfth month of the Lepcha year'

A week of seven days is referred to as $\sqrt[2]{n}$, \sqrt{n} , \sqrt{n} duntrók 'week'. The Lepcha names of the days of the week are listed below. Since \sqrt{n} sanyí, \sqrt{n} suknyím and \sqrt{n} salyák all are used for 'day', we sometimes may hear \sqrt{n} salvák and at other times \sqrt{n} suknyím or \sqrt{n} sanyí, the same holding for the other days of the week. The fourth day of the week is referred to by some people as \sqrt{n} nyín salyák 'day of milk'.

ડ્રેસ્ટ (mi sa?yák ત્સું (www. Púng sa?yák ક્ષ્મ (www. lang sa?yák ત્સું (www. kúng sa?yák ત્મું મું (sukmut sa?yák ક્રિ (www. fát sa?yák ઝું (જ્. જ્જ્યાં, punjeng sa?yák 'day of fire, Sunday'
'day of water, Monday'
'day of stone, Tuesday'
'day of wood, Wednesday'
'day of wind, Thursday'
'day of earth, Friday'
'day of iron, Saturday'

The Lepcha word for 'clock' is the sugger and the word for 'hour' is \$\frac{1}{27} \tilde{c} \tilde{chútsât}\$, borrowed from Dränjoke and Dzongkha \$\frac{1}{25} \tilde{c} \tilde{c} \tilde{chútsât}\$, although the Nepali loan \$\circ{1}{2} \tilde{c} \tilde{bázá}\$ 'hour' is also frequently heard. The four o'clock flower Mirabilis jalapa, which opens its flowers in the late afternoon, is referred to as \$\circ{1}{2} \tilde{c} \t

half past three'. One may also tell time in terms of minutes after the whole hour, as in the expression AJE sty fyoy SEQE, SC chútsât fangú ngúnnu minetra khányet nón 'it has become five o'clock and then forty minutes passed by, it's five forty'.

CHAPTER FIVE

VERBAL MORPHOLOGY

Lepcha has no elaborate conjugational morphology. There is no verbal agreement morphology and actants are not morphologically indexed in the verb. Tense, mood, aspect and other meanings of the verb are expressed by the use of postpositions and auxiliary verbs. Whilst the verbal system of Lepcha may lack the formal complexity of some Himalayan languages, the interest of Lepcha verbal morphology lies in the semantics of the grammatical categories expressed by the Lepcha repertoire of endings and auxiliaries.

5.1 Verb stems

All Lepcha verbs have two stem forms, viz. a regular and an inflected stem. The majority of Lepcha verbs end in a consonant, and for these verbs the regular and the inflected stem are one and the same. In other words, all of the verbs with a closed stem and a minority of the verbs with an open stem are invariable. The majority of the verbs which regularly show an open or vowel-final stem, however, additionally exhibit an inflected stem with a final consonant before auxiliary verbs.

The final consonant preserved in the inflected stem of those verbs which show stem alternation may reflect a lost segment or, alternatively, the remnant of some now defunct morphological or morphophonological process. The consonants which occur as finals in such inflected stems are /t/, /n/ and /m/. If the open stem ends in /i/ or /o/, these vowels in the inflected stem systematically change to /i/ and /ó/ respectively. In the glossary, the longer, inflected stem of verbs that show stem alternation is specified because the inflected stem cannot be predicted on the basis of the short stem of the verb.

The question arises as to how the finals /t/, /n/ and /m/ occurring uniquely in inflected stems, such as inflected $\int_{\infty}^{\infty} lin$ vs. regular $\int_{\infty}^{\infty} li$

'say', $\vec{\#} z \acute{o} m$ vs. $(\# zo' \text{ eat'} \text{ and }) \tilde{\#} dit \text{ vs. }) \not{\#} di' \text{ come'}$, differ historically from the finals /t, /n/ and /m/ of invariable closed verb stems, e.g. $(\vec{\#} k\acute{o}n')$ let, allow', $(\vec{\bowtie} l\acute{o}m')$ walk', $\vec{\pi}(m\acute{a}t')$ do'. Light is shed on this question by the indirect relationship between a final consonant uniquely occurring in an inflected stem and the final consonant occurring in a corresponding deverbative nominal. For example, the final /n/ in the inflected stem $(\vec{N}) li'$ say' corresponds to a final /n/ in the old deverbative form $(\vec{N}) li'$ say' corresponds to a final /n/ in the inflected stem $(\vec{N}) li'$ of the verb $(\vec{N}) li'$ carry' corresponds to an /m/ in the nominal derivative $(\vec{N}) li'$ some other examples of regular closed stems of verbs ending in /m/, /n/ or /t/ are $(\vec{N}) li'$ say' hold, retain', $(\vec{N}) li'$ sum' meet', $(\vec{N}) li'$ artach', $(\vec{N}) li'$ are $(\vec{N}) li'$ say' cut, sever', $(\vec{N}) li'$ say' cut, sever', $(\vec{N}) li'$ and $(\vec{N}) li'$ say' cut, sever', $(\vec{N}) li'$ and $(\vec{N}) li'$ say' cut, sever', $(\vec{N}) li'$ and $(\vec{N}) li'$ say' cut, sever', $(\vec{N}) li'$ say'

Auxiliary verbs are a set of verbs which can be distinguished on the basis of both semantic and morphological criteria. Lepcha auxiliary verbs not only exhibit meanings which in other languages are often expressed by modal verbs, e.g. δy khut 'be able, can', the set of auxiliary verbs can also be defined morphologically in that they combine with the inflected stems of verbs and that they may be negated. Auxiliary verbs differ from particles, which combine with the regular stem or citation form of the verb and may not be negated. Example sentences (140) and (141) are related in that they form part of a dialogue and illustrate the inflected and regular stem of the verb $\varepsilon pl\hat{a}$ 'come out, come up, rise'. Examples (143) and (144) are both responses to the statement made in (142), and these three sentences offer examples of the inflected and regular stem of the verb \tilde{z} $y\hat{a}$ 'know'.

140 క్స్ఫ్ఫ్ క్రాహ్య్ tukfyíl—sang plâ—wám ant—PL.NH come.out—PRG 'Ants are coming out of it.'

141 ∉∉

plâm–kón

come.out–let

'Let them come out.'

- 142 (3) ALEJCH ÉLOC 20re-re ?áyú-do yâm gát that-DEF 2P-self know must 'You ought to be aware of that.'
- 143 (ω $\sqrt[3]{\epsilon}$ $go ma-y\hat{a}-n$ 1S NEG-know-NEG
 'I don't know.'
- 144 \(\text{E(* \times \times (\times \)} \)
 \(y\hat{a} do \)
 \(ma g\hat{a}t ne \)
 \(know self \)
 \(NEG must NEG \)
 \('I \)
 \(don't \)
 \(have to \)
 \(know.' \)

The verb \mathfrak{fo} $bi \sim (\mathfrak{o}$ bo 'give' also has two different stems, but in this case the choice for one or the other stem depends on the recipient of the verb. The stem $(\mathfrak{o}$ bo is used when something is given to a first or second person singular or plural recipient, e.g. $(\mathfrak{c}) (\mathfrak{o}) (\mathfrak{b}) (\mathfrak{a}) (\mathfrak{c}) (\mathfrak{c})$

145 (π ως λ) (π εις εις) (ο 26ng sare-nun cho 2áre kasu-m bo boy which-ABL book this 1S.OBL-DAT give

> サバギ (いん) で hudo-m go thyák ma 3S.OBL-DAT 1S recognise AST

'The boy who gave me this book, I recognised him.'

146

Straight Conse (W SUF hík sót-shang go Pádo-m chicken kill-INF 1s 2s.OBL-DAT

Ö(É) (O(C) bánkup bo-sho small.knife give-NPR

'I'll give you a small knife to kill the chicken.'

This pattern of stem alternation in Lepcha resembles the patterns of stem alternation in biactantial verbal agreement systems observed in other Tibeto-Burman languages. The Lepcha alternation is clearly triggered by the personal number of the 'patient' or recipient, and in this pattern we see a vestige of a grammatical phenomenon of interest to the historical linguist.

5.2 Permission, ability, opportunity, exigency

To be allowed or permitted to do something is expressed by the modal verb $(2 k\acute{o}n)$ 'let, allow', as in the following examples.

- 149 vyê vyê keş huyû-m dyút kón 3P-DAT argue allow 'Let them argue.'

Example (150) gives the first line of a song that was fairly well-known in the Kalimpong hills during the 1990s.

150 (N) SIT (E SIT E + SIÑ | Sáre-ká dúnggít land this-GEN earth this-LOC tradition

સાદપુડ્ડા ર્સ રહિં káyú–sá mák ma–kón 1P–GEN die NEG–allow

'Our traditions of this land, on this soil, don't let them perish.'

The verb \mathfrak{F}_3 ngún can be used as a main verb expressing the meaning 'become, happen, occur'. In addition to its use as a main verb, the verb \mathfrak{F}_3 ngún can also be used as a modal verb to express whether or not an action is seen as necessary, allowed, all right or as it should be. The verb may be used to express confirmation, affirmation or assent, like English 'OK'. Example (151) may also be translated by 'What's the matter?'.

- 151 e3 33 constant shú ngún-nón what become-RES 'What happened?'
- 152 ຮູແ*ເພ ໂດ ຈີງຕົ້ວ ?ádo-sá bri ngún-nón 2s.OBL-GEN marriage become-RES 'Did you get married?'
- 153 ຊເຮັງ ຮເຮັງ ຈີງ ວັດ 2áshúm-2áshúm ngún-bám fat-fat become-PRG 'He's getting fatter and fatter.'
- 154 $\epsilon \approx \infty$ (To F) (ϵ) $\epsilon \approx 0$) $\epsilon \approx 0$ $\epsilon \approx 0$) $\epsilon \approx 0$ $\epsilon \approx 0$ $\epsilon \approx 0$) $\epsilon \approx 0$ $\epsilon \approx 0$ $\epsilon \approx 0$) $\epsilon \approx 0$ 0 $\epsilon \approx$

155 (ເພ ຍ) ດ(ເດນເສເ ເດັວ ຮ ຈົງ so yu bá lyáng-ká nóng ma-ngún rain descend when land-LOC go NEG-become 'When it rains you should not go outside.'

156 ఈ స్పు జు కుండి కొన్న kasu-m ?ábi-do ngún 1s.OBL-DAT here-self become 'I'm comfortable right here.'

To be able to do something in the sense of being in a position to do something or being physically capable of doing something is expressed by the modal verb $\omega_1 khu$ 'be able to'. The inflected stem of the verb $\omega_1 khu$ 'be able to' is $\overline{\omega}_1 khut$.

157 & T (F of 5 of)

?áre hó rok ma-khu-n

that 2s read NEG-be.able-NEG

'Can't you read that?'

To be able to do something in the sense of knowing how to perform a certain task or activity is expressed by the verb \mathcal{E} $y\hat{a}$ 'know, know how to'. The verb \mathcal{E} $y\hat{a}$ is also used in the sense of knowing something, having knowledge about something being aware of something. The verb $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{H}}$ thyák 'recognise' is used in the sense of knowing someone or recognising who someone is.

- 158 eg side iw teg shú mát-shang go ma-yâ-ne what do-INF 1S NEG-know-NEG 'What to do, I don't know.'
- 159 ອັງ ອະລິເຊ hu ma-thyák-ne 3S NEG-recognise-NEG 'I don't know him.'

160 (W. F.)F & F. (B) (W. F.)F

The verb & jel 'understand, know a language, speak a language', is used specifically when the speaker wants to express whether he does or does not speak or understand a language fluently, cf. examples (161) and (162).

- 161 (W.F.)F &Ö(
 go róng-ríng jel-bám
 18 Lepcha-language understand-PRG
 'I speak Lepcha.'
- 162 (ເພ ຂ(ເ¥ເພ) ເຂົາເງົ້າ ຈະເຊົ້າວຸ go ?ádo-sá ?áríng ma-jel-ne 1s 2s.obl-GEN language NEG-understand-NEG 'I didn't understand what you said.'
- 163 (W R((*W) R())) TO THE BOOK TO THE BOO

The verb $\mathcal{G}(g\acute{a}t)$ 'must, need, require' expresses a need or desire, and is used as a modal of exigency. When the verb $\mathcal{G}(g\acute{a}t)$ is negated, it may express the sense of 'it isn't necessary', 'it isn't wanted' or 'don't want'.

164 ຜັງແຮງ ເຈົ້ເ* ຜັງ ຜົແຜ lúk-hrong ngol-do lúk gát-sho morning early-self get.up must-NPR 'I'll have to get up early in the morning.' 165 $\tilde{\Theta}(\overset{*}{\star},\overset{*}{\diamond},\overset{*}{\epsilon},\overset{*}{\omega}((\overset{*}{\omega}))$ $v\hat{a}m-do-m$ theng $v\hat{a}m$ $g\hat{a}t-sho$ song—self—DAT sing know must—NPR 'We ought to know how to sing a song.'

166 ວໍເຮັງ ຮູເກຸເ* ອຽຣັເລ ຜູເຈຍ bánkup ?áre-do shúmátne gát-shang small.knife this-self why must-INF 'What do you need this knife for?'

5.3 Verbs 'to be'

The verbs in Lepcha which cover senses of English 'to be' are (ωgo) and $\int \mathcal{E} nyi$. The verb (ωgo) is used as an identity marker, to say that X is Y and so to express the identity or inherent quality of a person, entity or thing. Incidentally, the verb (ωgo) is homophonous with the first person singular pronoun (ωgo) .

167 BIT 12 16 3 Páre cho goma this book be **AST** 'This is a book.' 168 B17 E(w)(w) IN (W 3 ?áre kasu-sá lí goma this 1s.obl-Gen house be AST 'This is my house.' 169 F) 2007 (W 8 hu nyúrpang goma 3s deaf be **AST** 'He is deaf.'

The verb $\int \mathcal{E} nyi$ covers the attributive, existential and locative senses of English 'to be'. The verb $\int \mathcal{E} nyi$ may be used to ascribe a quality to someone or something, e.g. (170) and (173), to indicate the whereabouts of the subject of the sentence, e.g. (171), or in an exis-

tential sense to indicate the availability or presence of a person, commodity or thing, e.g. (172).

- 170 (Ö &()♣ ∫₹ ₹ vóm ?ákrím nyí ma salt bitter be AST 'Salt is bitter.'
- 172 そいらい 名(美) 菜 気管 る

 kasu—sá ?ákup nyet nyí ma

 1S.OBL—GEN child two be AST

 'I have two children.'

175
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (x) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x = \frac{7 \sin x}{\sin x} \quad \text{in } x = \frac{1}{2} \text{ in } x = \frac{$$

The form $\ddot{\omega}_{j}$ gum (be.AST) is understood to be a contracted form of the verb (ωgo) 'be' and the assertive particle πma .

5.4 Negation

Negation of verbs is expressed by means of the negative prefix π main combination with the negative suffix ρ -ne, e.g. (ω π ($\pi \rho$ go mazone

'I didn't eat', the same hu manongne 'he didn't go'. The negative affixes can be seen as a single discontinuous morpheme and are attached to the regular stem of the verb. When the stem of the verb is open, the negative suffix of -ne may be shortened to -n, e.g. the ma-nyí-n 'there isn't'.

```
काणिह भागता ठाँ। हि (भ
               Pábí sathálá
                                 ma-lát-ne
         hu
               here always
                                 NEG-return-NEG
            'He never came here.'
181
         मि कार्या अरा साम राज्य
               ma–nóng–ne
                              gang
                                       ?ádom
                                                      рú
               NEG-go-NEG
                             if
                                       2s.obl
                                                give PSB
            'If you don't go, I might give it to you.'
```

The regular stem of verbs is used as the imperative. A negative imperative is formed by adding the negative prefix z ma- to the regular stem of the verb, e.g. रहा ma-mát 'don't', रही ma-kyân 'don't fuss, don't worry', cf. (182). If the negative suffix Q-ne were used in example (182), as in \tilde{b} the takes \tilde{b} and \tilde{b} are \tilde{b} and \tilde{b} and \tilde{b} are \tilde{b} and \tilde{b} and \tilde{b} are \tilde{b} are \tilde{b} and \tilde{b} are \tilde{b} and \tilde{b} are \tilde{b} sentence would not express a negative imperative but a negated preterite tense and could be translated as 'He did not sing, he did not speak.'

```
182
        कार कुर हैं
        vâm ma–theng
                          ma–jók
        song NEG-sing
                          NEG-speak
           'Don't sing, don't speak!'
```

5.5 Gerund and the participle

180

A present gerund is expressed by adding the ending of -lung (GER) to the verb. When the ending of -lung (GER) is affixed to the verb, the resultant gerund expresses an activity which is simultaneous, concurrent or contemporaneous with the activity, situation or event denoted by the main verb of the sentence or syntagma. The subject of the main verb and the subject of the gerund in 'wy -lung are one and the same,

and the meaning of the suffix ω_y -lung is simultaneity with the action expressed by the main verb. The morpheme ω_y -lung happens to be homophonous with a verb meaning 'spill, spill of liquids or grains, pour as water or rice'.

183 તાર્જો લાગ્યા ક *?ályú* lík-lung thít–nón call-GER reach-RES cat 'The cat arrived here caterwauling.' 184 (#W) F(W) zo-lung ngán le eat-GER remain REQ

'Carry on eating, please'

The participle is formed by adding the ending (y)-wung (PTC) to a verb, e.g. (186), (187). Used as a gerund, modifying a clause, the participle precedes the event denoted by the main verb, e.g. (188). The ending (y)-wung appears to have both a participial and a nominalising function, e.g. (187), (190). Older speakers of Lepcha point to a residual morphophonological pattern affecting the initial of (y)-wung, and claim the past participial ending is spelt (y)-wung after verbs ending in a vowel, -ng, -n, -m or -l, but (y)-kung after verbs ending in -k, (y)-tung after verbs ending in -r, (y)-rung ending in -r, (y)-rung ending in -r, (y)-rung ending in -r, (y)-rung ending in -

186

show (269)

thyen-wung-sá ?áring

laugh-PTC-GEN language

'funny language'

187 Second (Angle Second Secon

188 (ເພ ງໂລເອງເລເ ເລນີ (ປ ງ ປັ່ງປີ (
go thi-wung-sá nahán hu zúk-hát
1s reach-PTC-GEN before 3s make-PRF
'Before my return, he finished it.'

189 サリキー(では おりそりい いいりつ hudo-sá gyó zúk-kung-sá sung-pang 3S.OBL-GEN quarrel make-PTC-GEN story-PL.NH

સાલુબા પ્રિલ્સ સાલગ્રેબાર) હાર્લે káyú–sá thikúng ?ábo–sang–nu ?olóm 1P–GEN great.grandfather father–PL.H–ABL like.that

€₿ ♣ y káyú−m dun 1P−DAT tell

'The stories of the quarrels he got into, our fathers and great-grandfathers told them to us like that.'

5.6 Infinitive

The infinitival ending is 9e -shang (INF). Infinitives may function as the complement of a main verb. The infinitive indicates an action or situation as such.

- 191 ϵ (E) ϵ (S) ϵ
- 192 Sulf who (496)
 2ázóm sathá zo-shang
 food when eat-INF
 'When are we going to eat?'
- 193 (w rose to go nóng-shang mát
 1s go-INF do
 'I acted as if I were going.'
- 195 (we) Edge go shú yâ-shang
 15 what know-INF
 'What do I know?'

The infinitival ending \mathcal{E} -shang may also express intent or purpose, and could be translated as 'in order to'. In such cases, the infinitival ending \mathcal{E} shang is often, but not necessarily, reinforced with the locative suffix $\mathcal{E}(-k\acute{a})$.

196 ແຜ່ ງໂຕ້ ລັເຈຍ ເຮັ ເວັງວິເ go lí pár-shang kóm tsung-bám 1s house buy-INF money save-PRG 'I am saving money to buy a house.' 198 & F366 (*(F(* &(

2átím ngún-shang zo-thóng-do gát

big become-INF eat-drink-self must

'One must eat and drink in order to get big.'

200 Suff Note 1 Solve 2ádo lí-ká thi-shang 2s.OBL house-LOC reach-INF

ষ্ঠি দেই (২৯৮ tatsât satet zok-shang time how.much flow-INF 'How long will it take to get to your house?'

5.7 Aorist

The unmarked or zero form of the verb in Lepcha indicates a preterite tense, which denotes actions anterior to the speech moment without any inherent implication with regard to result or duration. The zero form of the verb may express just the transpiration of an event in past time, merely indicating that the situation took place at some point in the past. The zero form of the verb may also impose an inceptive reading of the situation, expressing that the situation has only just started to take place.

```
201
          (cu E)
          so
                yи
          rain descend
             'It rained.'
             'It's raining.' 'It has begun to rain.'
```

When used in the context of a narrative structure in colloquial speech, the unmarked form of the verb is used to express a sequence of events.

202 काटण ११० देखिंगी ११७ Dárjúlyáng nóng tasó goyesterday 1s Darjeeling go (100) (B)O (TO Z) go–nu Pobi tshóng pár 1S-ABL there goods buy IWAY IST STEI MESAY go-nu Pore lí–ká blá-yú-nu 1S-ABL that home-LOC take-descend-ABL E(11) B(E)(# 50 ?áyu–do–m kasu bi 1S.OBL wife-self-DAT give \$ 160) 4)1* \(\tilde{\t *Pân go−nu hudo* kâ-shang li and 1S-ABL 3S.OBL cook-INF say tho at £ \$ tego H ?ore kâ hu–nu 2ân káyú-nu Ζ,Ο 3S-ABL that cook and 1P-ABL

> 'Yesterday I went to Darjeeling, I bought some things there, I brought them back home, gave them to my wife, and I told her to cook them, she cooked them and we ate them.'

eat

5.8 Progressive tense

The progressive auxiliary verb \ddot{o}_{i} $b\acute{a}m$ (PRG) expresses that the situation denoted by the main verb is in effect or in progress. The progressive auxiliary is used both with stative and with non-stative verbs, and is not restricted to dynamic verbs. When used as a main verb, \ddot{o}_{i} $b\acute{a}m$ means 'dwell, reside, be in or at a place'. When the progressive auxiliary is attached to a verb stem ending in a vowel, the allomorphs $e^{\ddot{a}_{i}}$ $-w\acute{a}m$ or \ddot{a}_{i} $-2\acute{a}m$ may be used.

```
203
         4) (ÚÖ(
         hu
               lok-bám
         3s
               dance-PRG
            'She is dancing.'
204
         Em/m 8(2)/ 103/03/
         kasu–sá
                        ?ámú−re
                                       jú–wám
         1S.OBL-GEN
                        mother-DEF
                                       live-PRG
            'My mother is [still] alive.'
```

The verb ξ det 'move' is used as a dynamic auxiliary with verbs of motion, e.g. (205). In example sentence (206), the meanings of the dynamic and progressive auxiliaries are combined in a single form.

```
205
         ¥) (M¥ 3
         hu
               nóng-det
                           ma
               go-move
                           AST
            'He is on his way.'
206
         t) (17₹01 €1
               nóng–det–bám
                                 ma
         3s
               go-move-PRG
                                 AST
            'He is on his way.'
```

5.9 Non-preterite tense

A non-preterite tense may be signalled by adding the verbal ending (& -sho (NPR) to the verb. The non-preterite tense is used to describe

situations which take place in the non-past, i.e. in the present or the future, e.g. (207) or to describe situations which are true in general, e.g. (208). Sentence (207) may express a future meaning, e.g. 'the boys will go to school', but if the speaker had wanted to express that the situation was in progress, it is likely that he would have used the progressive auxiliary $\ddot{o}(b\acute{a}m, e.g.)$ ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) ((3)) (3)

```
207
         (B)(w (x () (&
         ?óng-sang cho rok-sho
         boy-PL.H
                     book read-NPR
            'The boys go to school.'
208
         (XEI (W)(# (@
         hlo–ká
                     sozóng-sho
         peak–LOC
                    be.cold-NPR
            'It will be cold on the mountain peak.'
209
         (X= (cu) # (e)
         hlo–ká
                     sozóng-sho
                                    lyók
         peak-LOC
                    be.cold-NPR
                                    IFR
            'It will probably be cold on the mountain peak.'
```

The non-preterite tense may be used to describe a situation or activity which is taking place at the present time, an activity which the speaker is planning to perform, or an event or situation in that the speaker is certain or convinced will take place soon.

```
210 (w \tilde{\delta} \in (see go vâm-kát theng-sho
1s song-one sing-NPR
'I shall sing a song.'
```

211 (W & ((*) Sole
go ?ádo-m cho bo-sho
1s 2s.OBL-DAT book give-NPR
'I'll give you the book.'

212 (w zyt z volume go punzók-ká nóng-sho
1s forest-LOC go-NPR
'I will go to the forest.'

5.10 The factitive marker with verbs

When used with verbs, the factitive marker of $-b\acute{u}$ (FCT) conveys an imperfective meaning and indicates a state, a matter of fact or a situation as such. In other words, the Lepcha imperfective indicates whether an event has taken place or is taking place.

213 ÖGŞ
bám-bú
dwell-FCT
'Are they staying?'

214 sq. (Tolkeoq tú nóng-sho-bú who go-NPR-FCT 'Who will be going?'

The factitive marker \mathfrak{S}_3 - $b\acute{u}$ can be seen as a single grammatical morpheme with a varying syntactic scope, acting mainly as a verbal marker indexing imperfective aspect and as a clause-final marker nominalising a syntagma (cf. Section 6.11). In all cases the meaning of the suffix is one of reification. The factitive marker \mathfrak{S}_3 - $b\acute{u}$ has close parallels in other languages of the Himalayas, where there often is a morpheme which both nominalises verbs and clauses and, when affixed to the main verb of a sentence, marks a type of imperfective aspectual meaning (cf. van Driem 1987: 193-199, 1993a: 190-197, 1993b, 2001: 654, Opgenort 2004: 244-246, Rutgers 1998: 231-263).

215 (way seo] to thos 50° go-nu shi-bu so lat-bu maro 1S-ABL see-FCT yesterday return-FCT man 'I saw the man who returned yesterday.'

5.11 Aktionsart auxiliaries

Aktionsart auxiliaries add a semantic dimension to the meaning of the verb they modify. The four such auxiliaries discussed in this section also occur as main verbs.

5.11.1 *The perfect auxiliary*

The perfect auxiliary $\mathfrak{F}(h\acute{a}t \text{ (PRF)})$, which occurs as a main verb in the meaning 'lose, leave behind', signals that the situation occurred sometime in the past and is still relevant. The perfect auxiliary $\mathfrak{F}(h\acute{a}t \text{ (PRF)})$ points to the relevance of a situation to the current moment, e.g. (217), rather than simply locating the situation at some point in the past, e.g. (216). Sentences in which the perfect auxiliary $\mathfrak{F}(h\acute{a}t \text{ (PRF)})$ is used are typically translated into English by using the English perfect, often accompanied by the relational adverbs 'already' or 'just'.

220

4) So variage do-PRF

'He's already married.'

5.11.2 *The resultative auxiliary*

The resultative auxiliary \mathring{a} nón (RES), which appears to be derived from the verb \mathring{a} nóng 'go', signals that a state or an event exists as a result of a transition in the past. The resultative auxiliary stresses the result or outcome of the situation denoted by the main verb and implies an absolute transition. When the resultative auxiliary is used with verbs of motion, the meaning added by the auxiliary can literally be understood as 'getting into motion' in order to perform the action denoted by the main verb.

- 221 ່ະແຕ້ mák–nón die–RES 'He died.'
- 222 ແລງ ເອົ້າເວັ້ ເັ**ະ** ເຊັງໂຄ go—nu myón—nón hó shú li 1S—ABL forget—RES 2S what say 'I forgot what you said.'

5.11.3 *The exhaustive auxiliary*

The exhaustive auxiliary (so tho (EXH) indicates that an activity or action has come to an end. This auxiliary focuses on the termination of the event. The form (so tho is also used as a main verb 'put'.

```
224 (ωλ)(* (x &(y t) t) δ
go-nun-do cho ?áre rok-tho ma
1S-ABL-self book this read-EXH AST
'I read this book myself.'
```

Although a construction containing the resultative auxiliary \mathring{a} nón also implies termination, the resultative auxiliary \mathring{a} nón focuses on a transition in the past. By contrast, the exhaustive auxiliary \swarrow tho expresses the thorough enactment or performance of the activity or situation denoted by the verb. The action has been performed thoroughly, or the situation has been effectuated exhaustively. The suffixes \mathring{a} nón and \swarrow tho are sometimes used in combination.

```
226 ອງເຊ ໂຣເດື
huyú thi–nón
3P reach–RES
'Did they arrive?'
```

227 Jucolo thi-nón-tho reach-RES-EXH 'They arrived.'

5.11.4 *The completive auxiliary*

The completive auxiliary $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ *lel* (CMP), also used as a main verb 'complete' indicates that an activity is completed or fulfilled. The completive auxiliary specifies that the event described by the main verb is carried out to completion.

- 229 $\xi(\ddot{\omega}(\tilde{n})) \approx 0$ $\tilde{N} \approx 0$
- 231 (ω τιιορογ ελωτές ευτος εξ τι εξ go mák-lel-nu tagrikup ?áre-nu shú mát te 1s die-CMP-ABL boy this-ABL what do DUB 'What will this boy do after I die?'
- 232 (ພດ້ງເ* (ຊຽເງ ເ່າເຈົ້າຍົ້າເ go-nun-do cho ?áre rok-lel-hát 1S-ABL-self book this read-CMP-PRF 'I read the whole book myself.'

5.12 The locative suffix with verbs

When the locative suffix $\epsilon(-k\acute{a})$ is attached to a verb it may fulfil one of two different functions, i.e. a supine or an adhortative function. When the locative suffix marks the verbal complement of a main verb, it fulfils a supine function. When the locative suffix marks the main verb of a syntagma, it fulfils an adhortative function. The core meaning of the locative morpheme remains the same.

The supine expresses the sense 'in order to' and is attached to a verb by which it becomes the verbal complement, denoting a situation towards which the activity denoted by the main verb is directed. Su-

pine forms marked by the locative suffix ϵ_0 - $k\acute{a}$ may appear as the complements of verbs of motion as well as of other verbs.

```
233 Ψ) &((¥ + ξ = ξ)) hu 2ádo-m ngâk-ká thi
3S 2S.OBL-DAT look-LOC reach
'He came to see you.'
```

934 אין אַ אָרְאַפּבּו בּּוֹאַבּוּ אָהַ זּ hu cho rok-shang-ká yânthó-ká nóng ma 3S book read-INF-LOC school-LOC go AST 'He went to school in order to study.'

The second function of the locative morpheme $\varepsilon(\cdot k\acute{a})$ in combination with a verb is an adhortative function. The adhortative meaning of a main verb marked by the locative suffix $\varepsilon(\cdot k\acute{a})$ is the result of the fundamental locative meaning of the suffix interacting with the highest syntactic node in the syntagma, thus expressing the goal towards which the entire event structure is directed. The supine verbs serve as complements of the main verb of a syntagma, whereas adhortative forms in $\varepsilon(\cdot k\acute{a})$ serve as main verbs themselves.

- 235
 Ψη(*ω()νει (νοει hudo-sá lí-ká nóng-ká 3s.OBL-GEN house-LOC go-LOC 'Let's go to his house.'
- 236 \tilde{b} \tilde{b}

5.13 The ablative suffix with verbs

A verb marked by the ablative suffix $\partial_y \sim \partial_y -nun \sim -nu$ expresses a situation which serves as the source of the action denoted by the main verb. However, the meaning expressed by the ablative suffix is not so much a matter of cause as it is of point of origin.

237 & (\$\frac{7}{5} (\$\frac{1}{6}(5)) \) \$\frac{7}{5} (\$\frac{1}{6}(5)) \) \$\frac{1}{5} (\$\frac{1}{6}(5)) \) \$\frac{1}{5} (\$\frac{1}{6}(5)) \) \$\frac{1}{5} (\$\frac{1}{6}(5)) \) \$\frac{1}{6}(5) \] \$\frac{

238 EJTJ & LÉN (**Öl shúmú-re ?ágyáp zo-nu dok-bám man-DEF much eat-ABL be.ill-PRG 'The man fell ill after he ate too much.'

> ເທດງ ຽ ເພດງ ຜັງຈ້າຍ ເອົ້າເດື nóng—nu—re go—nu sút dun—shang myón—nón go—ABL—DEF 1S—ABL message tell—INF forget—RES 'Because you left my house early yesterday, I forgot to give you the message.'

In what may be described as an ergative function, $\partial_y \sim \partial_y -nun \sim -nu$ tends to be suffixed to the agent of transitive verbs or the 'transitive subject', particularly in preterite time. A discussion on ergativity in Lepcha may shed more light on the meaning of the Lepcha ablative category.

Ergativity in Lepcha is manifested by the behaviour and meaning of the suffix $\partial_y \sim \partial_y -nun \sim -nu$ when attached to the agentive argument of a transitive verb. In this function Lepcha $\partial_y \sim \partial_y -nun \sim -nu$ works quite differently than a classic ergative. Lepcha $\partial_y \sim \partial_y -nun \sim -nu$ is used when an animate agent and an animate patient are linked by a transitive verb to make clear who is doing what to whom. The suffix $\partial_y \sim \partial_y -nun \sim -nu$ is also used to highlight the agentive character of an animate entity which acts as the agent of an activity, whether this be transitive or intransitive. Lepcha $\partial_y \sim \partial_y -nun \sim -nu$ likewise marks the instrument whereby an activity is performed or may indicate the cause of an activity or state. In an ergative function, Lepcha

 $\partial_{y} \sim \partial_{y}$ -nun \sim -nu is more likely to occur when the verb is transitive and, when the subject is animate because in these cases the agentive character of the subject is either more obvious or more pronounced.

- 240 ຂອງວັງ ເຮັງ ຮ kajú-nun ?óng-re-m tsúk ma dog-ABL boy-DEF-DAT bite AST 'The dog bit the boy.'
- 242 (ωρ) ψ)(*ω(*&y-ἐy-ζ ὁy-ῦ)(
 go-nu hudo-sá ta?yukup-re-m buk-hát
 1S-ABL 3S.OBL-GEN daughter-DEF-DAT hit-PRF
 'I hit his daughter.'
- 243 Ψη(*ω(&&y-έηση εώ) hudo-sá ta?yukup-nu kasu-m 3S.OBL-GEN daughter-ABL 1S.OBL-DAT

ભા ઇં) રુ *lá buk ma* also hit AST

'His daughter hit me too.'

The occurrence of the Lepcha ending $\partial_0 \sim \partial_0 -nun \sim -nu$ cannot be described by a mechanical rule. In many respects, the factors motivating the use of Lepcha $\partial_0 \sim \partial_0 -nun \sim -nu$ in an ergative sense resemble the semantic considerations which determine the use or non-use of the ergative suffix in Dzongkha (van Driem 1998). For example, the ergative suffix is also more likely to occur in the past tense because the agentive meaning of the Lepcha ergative is more likely to be appropriate in contexts where the activity expressed has already actually taken place. In both Dzongkha and Lepcha, it appears that this phenomenon has to do with the widespread tendency in ergative lan-

guages to conceptualise an already performed transitive act as being more transitive than a transitive act which has not yet been completed. The meaning of the morpheme $\partial_0 \sim \partial_0 -nun \sim -nu$ in an ergative sense is entirely a matter of highlighting the agentivity of an actant which, in most cases, happens to be the subject of the sentence. As in Dzongkha, the factors which induce the use of ergative case marking in Lepcha are volition on the part of the subject, the degree of control which the subject has over the event denoted by the verb, the animacy of the subject and the transitivity and completedness of the event denoted by the verb.

CHAPTER SIX

CLAUSE-FINAL PARTICLES, COORDINATION AND SUBORDINATION

Several clause-final particles are used in Lepcha to express the mood or emotional attitude of the speaker towards what he is saying. The clause-final interrogative particle ϖ $g\acute{o}$ (Q) and the assertive particle ϖ ma (AST) have been discussed above in Sections 4.3.3 and 5.3 respectively. The adhortative function of the locative suffix ϖ (LOC) when suffixed to a clause has been discussed in Sections 4.7 and 5.12. This chapter deals with several clause-final particles marking attitudes such as doubt, certainty, likelihood and discovery. This chapter also briefly discusses coordinating and subordinating conjunctions. Subordination of clauses by means of the factitive marker \Im - $b\acute{u}$ (FCT) is a common phenomenon in Lepcha.

6.1 The request particle

The particle \mathfrak{S} le (REQ) expresses a polite request and is used when a person wishes to express reassurance towards the addressee or request the addressee to do something.

244 & O() * O ?ábá di le here come REQ 'Could you come here please.'

245 قَابِكُ قَارَتُ فِي yupthen-kất sóm le moment-one breathe REQ

'Do catch your breath for a minute.'

6.2 The authorative particle

The particle χ ce (AUTH) expresses authority on the part of the speaker and is used to request or urge the addressee to do something. The authorative particle may be related to the noun χ_{χ} ? *Páce* 'love'.

247
$$\int \tilde{N} \partial J \otimes \int \tilde{N} \otimes \tilde{$$

6.3 *The dubitative particle*

The clause-final particle \mathfrak{z} te, glossed as [DUB] for 'dubitative', indicates doubt, uncertainty or even confusion about the precise nature or result of an event. The context of example (248) is that the speaker is looking for something that the addressee put away. The speaker cannot find the object that he is looking for and rather than simply saying \mathfrak{F} \mathfrak{Loo} (\mathfrak{bo}) where did you put it', he stresses his uncertainty about being able to locate the object.

```
248

(Ψ ως (κ-Ψ(ξ)

hό sabá tho-hát te

2s where put-PRF DUB

'But where did you put it?

249

(ω (ο σ) ξ

go nóng khut te

1s go be.able DUB
```

'Could I perhaps go?'

6.4 *The possibility particle*

The clause-final particle $\Im p u$ (PSB) expresses a hypothetical possibility.

In example (249), the speaker expresses doubt or uncertainty in that he is unsure whether he himself would be the best person to undertake the journey or task. In (253), the speaker points out that he is a possible candidate for the job.

6.5 The inferential particle

Inference or assumption is expressed by the morpheme (h) lyók [IFR], which can also be used as a main verb meaning 'resemble, look like', e.g. (257). When the speaker of example (254) noted that the addressee had only just come back after a long journey, she inferred that

the addressee was probably tired. The addressee did not look particularly tired, nor was there any other evidence for her assumption.

```
254
         الہ طالماللہ *اکاس کا
         hó
               saróng-do lát-nón-tho
                                               рá
         2s
               today-self return-RES-EXH
                                               CRT
         ড়ে ইনেঁ জে
         hó
               pel–nón
                               lvók
         2s
               be.tired-RES
                               IFR
            'You just came back today! You must be tired.'
255
         સાર્સ ર્રિસ છા ૧૯ સાસી
                                            ?ákán
         ?ádo-m
                               lát-shang
                         lí
         2s.obl-dat
                         house return-INF
                                            hurry
         સાફ્રાફ્ટ લા
         ?átím
                   nyí
                         lyók
         big
                   be
             'You're probably in a hurry to get home.'
```

In example (255), literally 'it looks like there is a great hurry to get home unto you', the speaker assumes or infers that the addressee is likely to be in a great hurry. She could also have said ?ádom lí látshang ?ákán ?átím nyí, 'you are in a great hurry to get home', but this would have been tantamount to accusing the addressee of behaving impolitely by being in such a hurry. By using the ending \(\tilde{\omega}\), lyók, she is being polite, and the message she is conveying is something like: 'You must be in a great hurry to get home, I can see that you would be, I can't blame you, anyone would be in a hurry under these circumstances, there is nothing in your behaviour that shows it, but it

The context of example (256) is that the speaker's mother was away visiting friends in a neighbouring village. Since there had recently been a death in the family, the speaker thought it likely that his mother would return home as soon as possible.

is just something that is to be expected under these circumstances'.

256 Eugen Att Sign on the tomorrow return—NPR IFR 'My mother is probably coming back tomorrow.'

257 (ω ε)(ε κτοι so yu-sho lyók-bám rain descend-NPR resemble-PRG 'It looks like it's going to rain.'

6.6 The certainty particle

The meaning of the particle $\mathfrak{D}(pa)$ (CRT) combines an element of direct perception or direct observation with an element of certainty. It describes a conviction on the part of the speaker with respect to the situation described. There is also an element of proof, direct observation or control. The information does not have to be new or unexpected, although it may be.

258

Jian & Si & Si & Si

hík-nu ?átí tho-hát pá

chicken-ABL egg put-PRF CRT

'The chicken has [just] laid an egg.'

259 F & C & A S &

In example (260), the speaker has observed that the man about whom he has been talking has aged a lot. He speaks about it with certainty and is trying to convince the addressee of this fact.

'This man has become a lot older.'

6.7 *The discovery particle*

The particle $\tilde{\xi}_{O}(y\hat{a}mb\acute{a})$ (DSC) marks information that the speaker has come to know and consists of the inflected verb stem $\tilde{\xi}(y\hat{a})$ of the verb $\tilde{\xi}(y\hat{a})$ 'know' and the postposition $\tilde{\zeta}(y\hat{a})$ 'when'. The discovery marker $\tilde{\xi}_{O}(y\hat{a}mb\acute{a})$ may refer to all sorts of information that the speaker has come to know, whether acquired indirectly, through inference, based on direct evidence, by observable results or by general knowledge. There is also an extension of the meaning that could be called 'mirative'. The particle $\tilde{\xi}_{O}(y\hat{a}mb\acute{a})$ may indicate that the situation denoted was contrary to expectation, though not necessarily sudden, arresting or surprising. Sentence (261) implies that the speaker has not seen the man in question for quite some time but that he has come to know that the man is quite old now.

The context of example (262) is that the speaker went over to a certain place to find out what was happening to a friend who had been taken seriously ill. He then either heard or inferred that his friend had died. In example (263), the certainty particle $\mathfrak{Z}(p\acute{a})$ is used whereby the speaker points out that he has acquired direct and personal evidence for the described event. He may have entered the house only to find his friend had died, so that he practically witnessed the event. By virtue of its mirative sense, the marker $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{O}}(y\^{a}mb\acute{a})$ is also employed to focus the listener's attention to crucial points in a narrative.

```
262 (ເພ ເດັດເ) ປັງ ປັເດີ້ (ຣ ເັດເ
go nóng-bá-re hu mák-nón-tho yâmbá
1s go-when-DEF 3s die-RES-EXH DSC
'When I went over there, I gathered that he had al-
ready died.'
```

263 (ເພ ເຕັວດາງ ຢຸງ ຣ໌ເເຕັ້ (ເລ ສເ go nóng-bá-re hu mák-nón-tho pá 1s go-when-DEF 3s die-RES-EXH CRT 'When I went over there, it turned out that he was already dead.'

6.8 The reported speech particles

Something that was said by someone else may be marked by the phrase for mere (REP). This marker is used to indicate that the information did not come to the speaker's knowledge through direct information or through inference, but rather by word of mouth. This particle is highly reminiscent of the Nepali reported speech particle re and the Limbu reported speech particle mu. The meaning expressed by this particle is not just a purely reportative marker, in that it adds a meaning of 's/he says' to the reported information, as in egg for shúshú mere 'what was that?', 'what did you just say?'. When a speaker chooses to use the reportative particle for mere, this highlights the fact that the information is based on something someone said, and there is an undertone that suggests that the speaker cannot necessarily vouch for the information or is unsure whether the information is necessarily accurate.

264 EIE IM NA IFEI

káyú lyáng lúk?ál zóm-ká

1P land tomorrow food-LOC

きょう 気候 すて tú–tú lát–shet mere who–who return–NOM REP

'Who did they say are coming back to dine with us tomorrow?'

 (&) るり るり まり Pore bun ma-khu-n mere that carry NEG-be.able-NEG REP

'Such a heavy fellow, and yet he claims he cannot carry that load'.

The quotative particle of yang 'thus' marks a direct quote. This particle is placed at the end of the quoted statement and often followed by a phrase such as thou is hunu li ma 's/he said'.

- 266 Ψη(*ω() Γ΄ΚΟΣ &(Γ΄)Ο ΘΕ ΨΡΟΝ Γ΄Ν hudo-sá lí-re ?ábi yang hu-nun li 3S.OBL-GEN house-DEF here thus 3S-ABL say 'His house is here, he said.'
- 267 ψηεζιος ζωοί τη ώξαι διία σε huyú-nu li-bá hu lúk?ál lát-sho yang 3P-ABL say-when 3S tomorrow return-NPR thus 'They said that he will return tomorrow.'
- 268 サパウ サデラ モーツ & で 発養 いるいい hu—nun huyú—m kasu ?ámlem ?ík sathálá 3S—ABL 3P—DAT 1S.OBL face still always

รัก ๛ งัง ธ ma–ngâk–ne yang li ma NEG–look–NEG thus say AST

'He said that they had never seen my face before.'

6.9 Coordination

The coordinative suffix \mathfrak{F} ?ân 'and' coordinates arguments. This suffix connects two or more elements of a sentence, such as noun phrases, verb phrases or independent clauses.

269 รีส์ มีเจิ **ชี้** โด้ มีเจิ

punzók thámcâng 2ân lí thámcâng forest animal and house animal

5430

ma-dúk-ne

NEG-be.alike-NEG

'The animals in the forest and the animals in the house are not alike.'

270 (*jø jñe (ñ 5 \$ (w 810) ñ 5

dorji lí–ká nóng ma 2ân go 2ábá lát ma Dorji house–LOC go AST and 1s here return AST

'Dorji went home and I came back here.'

271 (F 2101 (H) \$\tilde{\varksq}\$ (W)

hó 2ábá hro 2ân go 2s here come.up and 1s

211# (FJ716

?ádo-m róng-díng-sho 2S.OBL-DAT wait-stand-NPR

'You climb up there and I will stand here and wait for you.'

272 jæð ð Eynu 50,9 ð

nyíma ?ân kursóng faleng ?ân Nyima and Kursóng young.boy and

డ్రాంగు ట్ర

nómleng gum young.girl be.AST

'Nyima and Kursóng are a boy and a girl.'

The alternative conjunction \mathcal{LQ} yángne 'or, either' indicates that an alternative exists, e.g. (273). In the sense of 'either ... or ...', the

conjunction $\mathcal{L}Q$ yángne 'or, either' precedes both the first and the second alternative, e.g. (274).

273 โซ เหตุ แล เกิจิแซ hố yángne go nóng gát-sho 2S or 1S go must-NPR 'You or I will have to go.'

274

FERRY ELP ST ELP (ST) ST

hó yángne Páre yángne Pore lyâ

2S or this or that accept

'You'll have to accept either this or that.'

The adversative conjunction *in shenlá* 'but' expresses a contrast or opposition of some kind between two propositions.

275 ETT SULL STATE STATE

ซึ่ง(เพ ษ์เ ซเษ็ shenlá go thyák ma–tho–n but 1s recognise NEG–EXH–NEG

'Somebody has come to see you, but I did not recognise him.'

> τιεχός (&τ) ε τιδιρ έννι káyú–nun ?ore shi ma–thop–ne shenlá 1P–ABL this see NEG–get–NEG but

(&Tฺง+ &เเฟิ &เงเ ๕เยฺห้ง) โ๊ะ เห็ Pore-zang Pálóng Pábá káyú-nun shím-thop this-like now here 1P-ABL see-get 'In all the Lepcha villages in the world we don't find any, but if we look around over here we will find some.'

6.10 Subordination

Subordinating conjunctions introduce dependent clauses and indicate the nature of the relationship between the independent clause and the dependent clause. The conditional conjunction s_{ω} gang 'if' is added to the clause specifying the condition.

- 277 (w xư với kỷ vư xư vỹ kỷ (co) go ?áre-zang zúk gang ?áryúm ngún-sho-bú 18 this-like make if good become-NPR-FCT 'If I do it like this, will that be all right?'
- 279 $\epsilon 0 = 0$ on $\epsilon 0$ so $\epsilon 0$
- 280 (\$ &1) (# 96) món Páre zo gang medicine this eat if

(乗め込む (売りな (敬) hó lúk?ál trókchi lyók 2s tomorrow be.thankful IFR

'If you take this medicine, you'll thank me in the morning.'

When the conditional conjunction \mathfrak{g}_{ω} gang is combined with the morpheme \mathfrak{g}_{ω} lá 'also, even', the combination expresses the meaning 'even if'.

```
281
        ほがり着 かいとり かいい
              hryóp–pung
                             2ân
                                  mák–kung
                                              gang–lá
        2s
                                   die-PTC
                                              if-also
              cry-PTC
                             and
        क्या हार वर्ष
        ta?yu
                 ?áre ma–thop–ne
        girl
                 this
                      NEG-get-NEG
           'Even if you cry or die, you won't get this girl.'
```

Another subordinating conjunction is the concessive conjunction (work) gorúnglá 'although, even', which is added to the end of the concessive clause.

```
282 (ωσ) εβοι τξιρ (ων βοι

go-nu shúlá ma-mát-ne gorúnglá

1S-ABL everything NEG-do-NEG even

εγο) το δ)

hu-nu kasu-m buk

3S-ABL 1S.OBL-DAT hit

'Even though I did not do anything, he hit me.'
```

When the concessive conjunction is added to interrogative pronouns such as \$\frac{3}{2} t\ti\times 'who', &\frac{3}{2} sh\ti\times 'what', &\times sare 'which', &\times sab\times 'where', &\times satet 'how much', this process yields forms indicating any of all possible persons, things or places. This yields the forms \$\frac{3}{2} (\times 1) \times 1) \times t\times gor\times gor\times gor\times sh\times gor\times gor\times gor\times sh\times gor\times gor\times gor\times sh\times gor\times gor\times

verb to yield emphatic negative meanings such as 'none whatsoever', 'nobody at all', etc.

6.11 The factitive marker

The factitive marker o_3 - $b\acute{u}$ (FCT) is the most important nominaliser in Lepcha. The factitive marker o_3 - $b\acute{u}$ (FCT) nominalises verbs as well as clauses, and these nominalised constituents serve as adnominal attributes or as subordinated clauses. The meaning of the factitive marker o_3 - $b\acute{u}$ has been discussed in Section 5.10 and examples of the factitive marker used with numerals have been given in Section 4.11. When a nominalised verb or clause functions as a nominal head it can be pluralised and take case endings if the result is semantically plausible.

- 283 (WA) & W JEF(
 go-nu tasó zúk-tho-bú ?yok shi-hát
 1S-ABL yesterday make-EXH-FCT work see-PRF
 'Did you see the work I did yesterday?'
- 284 ວັງ ຮວັງວຸວຽ &ເເຈົ້ bun ma-khut-ne-bú ?ádók carry NEG-be.able-NEG-FCT pain 'unbearable pain'
- 285 Suto Signification Signification Support S
- 286 (\(\frac{1}{2}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}{2}\)\tilde{O}(\(\frac{1}{2}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}{2}\)\tilde{O}(\(\frac{1}{2}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}{2}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}{2}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}{2}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}{2}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1}\)\tilde{O}(\frac{1

287 いまうこい いざい (本のりいか) Potet-bek-ká

Potet-bek-ká yók-bík dók-bú-sang-nun that.much-middle-LOC yak-cow keep-FCT-PL.H-ABL

बार्धा हिंदेश्य मात्या

Págyáp yók–bík–pang ryák–lung much yak–cow–PL.NH follow–GER

त्रक्तिहा (1835)*रूठा

pe-zót-ká lúngdi-det-bám grass-graze-LOC bring-move-PRG

'In the midst of all this, whilst the herders of the yaks and cows were chasing a lot of yaks and cows, he brought it to the pasture.'

THE MOUNTAIN DEVIL

૧૪૧ કે દરિ, ત્રાપ્ત કાર્યા કાર્યા કાર્યા કાર્યો કે ૧૬૦૦ કાર્યા કાર્યા કાર્યા કાર્યા કાર્યા કાર્યા કાર્યા કાર્ય રિગ્રોટ ફિંગ પ્રાપ્ટ્રે પ્રકાય પ્રદે ક મા મુક્તિ મુક્તે ક્ષેમાં બી 14(4) કામ મુગ્રિગ્રોટ EIEJUI BIJFT IT WI # NI EIEJ 13J IE IN XIEXI HJI*UI EJ JJ JÆ18103 4)(*W) 4) 5(0) 5(J)(60) J60) J6 J)(60) (2)4 J) JEO(0) 4)(# W) E1E) म्।भू (४,२३) १६ १००७:103 अग्रम (४,५३) स्टाइ (४,७३०) १६८॥ द्वागे (५,७४) اسانسان خراج المراج المراجة المان الله المان المراجة المان المراجة المان المان المراجة المانسان केंद्री प्राप्त कार्या कार्या कार्या कार्या है। हार्याण ताराम प्राप्त कार्या कार्या कार्या कार्या कार्या (X,3)(米 (数 で))((X) 女) かりりに すた がりとれ (苦) 変 いい そい)(い) かりん (いんに本生) かんり モニのギスろ ひろうしゃ すて がりがい 着 いいげ モビリン (あの) الرمول الجرب وهوال الجريدال، قائس عس ماه الله في الله تجالك الأرت الله على الله على الله تعالى પાર્યું ૧૬(૧૯)૬((ર્મ ગાંકા (૧૦૦૦)૦૦૦૦૦ ભાક માન્યું મુખ્ય માત્ર કે ૧૬૧૦૬ સાંગાં સાંગો તોત્તી ક્ષ્યું કાંગ્જ (૪૨૬) ના કે જુક જાનક મુક્કા કરિલ્લાનીમાં ભારત ક્ષ્યું કે ક્ષ્યું કે માન્યા છે. જે જુક «مارات الارويات الاله والمال المارات المالية المارات المالية المارات ·WYNDO) WYNEN W XISON) W WYNDO) W WYNDO) 4)N) NH (3)Z) = (MA)N) 9NW (N) *(N) (W) 1/29)/ (3 31/10 EW)W اسابحاہے کہ(س، اس)ہولم اس ہا(ہ (0؍*10) آگا ہے کہ ای کا اگر انگر اللہ کا ایک براغ اللہ ہ अग्लार ग्रेंट् ५१२३५१ मार्स ०१ है। स्ट्रिस्स्रिश्या वर्टेस मा है। उहें क्रिस्या الحائقي بالا لويالة الحائد المالادالا يعلى المالادال الحالا المالاديم المالا 3) (2) 大学 (3) 第一年 (4) 第一年 (4) 第一年 (4) 14 *1108 (ठाताः चारनः चारहर्मः १८७ ग्रुमास १४५८१४ पूर्व वार्तासंसे (हो १८) प्रशादा र्वाञ्चल संका मार्र हिंार कृर भारक्षा काम लेकानीम हेरल माम वासेका क्लान द्रा (१) कुरा) र्रिस (१),१८०) वासिस मारा अरिका मार्स, प्राप्ति स्रिश मार् ુકોળ તું કુર્યા માહ્યાન કુરા તામુ કુરા જાણ તાલુક કુરા તું કુરા તાલુકો કુરા તું કુરા તાલુકો

4)(#) (BIN) NI WI OF OF MISSIN NIWIN), 4) 01*1 NI TOSE EIG होरोर्इन ला र्या भारतभा १०१० मेर्र सालार मेरा १०१ राजार भारतभा नाहरूल 81109Cm (jog) 9ECm (cm) 18110 JE 181811 817 (X187cm) (cm) 1812SH (X187 اللُّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّه (#W)(7), (Um)(10±), 100f(), (M) (K(E)K ±), (Om)(Om) of (O)B 17±), (2,X) 1410 MIN THURTH FINGLOS 1410 DIND 11 TO THE BOYOUT (TO TWO IT) છો ક્રિકે સંવક્ષ સ્ટ્રોકાર સ્ટ્રોકાર ક્રિકે માં જાઈ માં માં આવે માં કે માં માં કે માં માં કે માં માં કે માં માં \$\text{0}\text{1}\text الله الكان خا تر يادعا المان الكان الكان الكان الله الاوحالا ع الح الكان بري الواتيم يحرُّ ورجِّس برالان رسع الاجهالا شَّااط الموجِّل الله الله الله الاحهالا (TO) (TIX)XI=1/XI 4/OD) (TO) 217 (27.34 6/35) SE 217 (27.34 6/35) अंदिन में हैं। जिन्हीं सुर अर्थ अर्थ हैं। जिन्हों जिनहों जिन्हों जिनहों जिनहों जिनहों जिनहों जिनहों जिनहों जिनहों जिनह हैं। इस दर्डे हिना पाठा है (जिंद्र (जिंस पाठा स्वामित पार्वित विभाव कि الماحر الما المالي عالى المحجيَّا على إلى المالي المحجيَّا على الله المالي الما ર્સ્મોર્સ્સા) ર્કાળો ર્કાળો દો ર્ક્સર્ટ ફ્રીમ્ટિક્સિમ મોરી ગાગીના પ્રિના સિળો ર્ક્સર્સ્ મામામાં કિરાફ સ્ફેર્સા રાખુવા ત્રિકા છાલા છે. જે કારણા કે કામમાં મામવા સિર્ગામાં (4 \$ 1K2N1K (ORIO) (ORIK ÜIB) (4 QFE 1W#1(4 1M)W COFIBOINB (एक) हुए हें कि दे कि कि के कि कि कि के कि कि के कि (&(Ö ?(A))X(N=)X(3)+) (WA)(\$\bar{8}(A)) X(NNX(6)3\bar{2}(3+) (W=\bar{2}) + \bar{1} (٥/٤ كروك ١١٠٤) (١١/٤ قورة الله ١١١١ مراه ١١١١) المراد الم बी प्रेंग भागभा (X43)र 21011* NI प्रिंग जा १६ मान के 197 भागभा नार्ष (2016) हिन्दिला है। अधि धार्थ है। है। हिन्दिला है। अधि धार्थ के हिन्दिला है। हिन्दिला है। अधि धार्थ के हिन्दिला है। इस कि है। رِهِ تَحَلَا* (١٠ رِابُهِ ١١٥٥)؛ رَهِ *أَ (قَرْسُ اعَلِّالْمُسَا بِ١٥٦)، عادساً جُاطِدس क्षेप्पन्नेर किंदीति दूर भाउग्रा मार प्यमीन ०१०१ तीक्०ए प्लोरी अपकी ४ दूर भाउड़भा मिलोर्र क्षि डार्गांक्ला रेल्काले हूंला लाल ब्लाहा यूनुंबरी रेक्लार स्होते ला (तमि) रिगरी रिगरी हिंग १४=२।४ (तभी प्राप्त १५०(४ भर्दी।इ ।जित्र वा।इ اطها عَيَّا إِنْكُالُ كِينَ اللهِ مَا لِهُ الإلاكِ الإللَّالُ النَّالُ اتَّا تُذَالِهُ السَيْمَ عَلَيْهُ لِلْ N CHORE TIRE FIRE WIN (NE HX221K (* (W. > 10) (NE fu) 10) (NE fu) 10)

 $(1) \ h\'{a}n-m\'{u}-re \hspace{1cm} go \hspace{0.5cm} \r{a}\'{a}re \hspace{0.5cm} m\'{u}ng \hspace{0.5cm} me \hspace{0.5cm} yang-s\'{a}$

(1) before-NOM-DEF 1S this devil that thus-GEN

?áríng-regochetbo-sho(2) káyúlanguage-DEF1srelategive-NPR(2) 1P

róng–nu–re múng me yang lín–bú–re káyú Lepcha–ABL–DEF devil that thus say–FCT–DEF 1P

muzu-ká thi zók dok káyú mák-re body-LOC reach strike be.ill 1P die-DEF

múng-re zo me li (3) shenlá múng devil-DEF eat that say (3) but devil

lín-bú káyú-sá ?áríng-re rangsâr-do-m say-FCT 1P-GEN language other-self-DAT

lá káyú múng yang li (4) hudo–sá shú also 1P devil thus say (4) 3S.OBL–GEN what

khut nyí-wám-bú hudo-sá hu fát-bá be.able be-PRG-FCT 3S.OBL-GEN 3S lose-when

fát khut-sho-bú shi-bá shi khut-sho-bú lose be.able-NPR-FCT see-when see be.able-NPR-FCT

Po-zang khut nyí-wám-bú hudo-m lá káyú that-like be.able be-PRG-FCT 3S.OBL-DAT also 1P

múng-re múng hu hlo-ká bám-bú devil-DEF devil 3s mountain-LOC dwell-FCT

(6) hu múng go-nu-re hudo-m-re

(6) 3S devil be-ABL-DEF 3S.OBL-DAT-DEF

hlomúng yang li–wám–bú (7) hlomúng–re

mountain.devil thus say-PRG-FCT (7) mountain.devil-DEF

káyú róng-sang-dep-re nyákdo 1P Lepcha-PL.H-with-DEF very

chóm–nu–bám (8) mung–sá sung ?ayá be.friendly–ABL–PRG (8) devil–GEN story past

ren-sang-nu dun-lung yu-tho nyí (9) ?acálá sir-PL.H-ABL tell-GER descend-EXH be (9) moreover

káyú támsángmú-sang-sá ?ágít-ká-re 1P Támsángmú-PL.H-GEN tribe-LOC-DEF

hlomúng-re-dep-ká-re bri-tho-wung-sá mountain.devil-DEF-with-LOC-DEF marriage-EXH-PTC-GEN

lá ?áríng nyí (10) kasu-sá cálong also language be (10) 1S.OBL-GEN just.now

go nám khá-sám-sá kati-fali-tháp-ká 1s year score-three-with ten-four-put-LOC

nóng-det kasu-sá ?ábo ?ámú-nu go-move 1S.OBL-GEN father mother-ABL

dun-tho-bú (11) kasu-sá bojo

tell-EXH-FCT (11) 1S.OBL-GEN grandfather

bojo-plang-sá bojo-sá lá ?ányú-do-m grandfather-on-GEN grandfather-GEN also aunt-self-DAT

hlomúng-nu lúngnóng-nu lúngnóng-nu-re mountain.devil-ABL take-ABL take-ABL-DEF

kúngbóng–ká thóm–bú (12) ?ámú–sá ?álóng tree.stump–LOC keep–FCT (12) mother–GEN now

ta?yukup kát?áp–bú lúng–nu (13) hu–nu daughter alone–FCT take–ABL (13) 3S–ABL

lúngnóng-bá-re hlomúng-do-m ?yok take-when-DEF mountain.devil-self-DAT work

khut-bá lá hu zúk-bú-sho mere (14) myók be.able-when also 3S do-FCT-NPR REP (14) son.in.law

?âsaróngkasu–sálízúk–shangheytoday1s.OBL–GENhousemake–INF

nyí–wám káwodámpú lú–shang nyí–wám be–PRG wooden.pillar rise–INF be–PRG

myók–nu kám tyól gát me li son.in.law–ABL little.bit friend must that say

gang hlomúng-nu thi-nu sonáp-do-ká if mountain.devil-ABL reach-ABL night-self-LOC

thi–nu káwodámpú lú–bi–sho mere come–ABL wooden.pillar rise–give–NPR REP

(15) myók ?â saróng kasu–sá ló–bú

(15) son.in.law hey today 1S.OBL-GEN wage-FCT

nyí-wám kasu-m bi ?ázóm gát me li be-PRG 1S.OBL-DAT curry rice must that say

gang saka savíng shángdri-ká thík-nu tungvyeng-ká if deer stag twig-LOC tie-ABL door-LOC

thi–nu thík–tho bi–sho (16) me yang–sá reach–ABL tie–EXH give–NPR (16) that thus–GEN

sung káyú-sá ?ábo bojo-sang-nu ?olom story 1P-GEN father grandfather-PL.H-ABL like.that

dun (17) shenlá ta?yukup ?álóng tell (17) but daughter now

hlomúng-nu lúngnóng-bú-ká ?ámú-re ?álóng mountain.devil-ABL take-FCT-LOC mother-DEF now

ta?yukup thál-thál tsum-ká nóng daughter up.above-up.above meet-LOC go

- (18) lyáng–nu–re hlomúng–nu–re ?ore–zang (18) place–ABL–DEF mountain.devil–ABL–DEF that–like
- ma-gát-ne-re hu-nu lát-nóng-nu-re NEG-must-NEG-DEF 3S-ABL return-go-ABL-DEF

ta?yukup-re-do-m kúngbóng-nu lúngnóng-nu daughter-DEF-self-DAT tree.stump-ABL take-ABL

laháp–ká tho (19) laháp–ká lá tsum–nóng–nu–re cave–LOC put (19) cave–LOC also meet–go–ABL–DEF

(20) Pobi—nu lá lúngnóng—nu hu—nu laháp

 $(20) \ there-ABL \qquad also \quad take-ABL \qquad \quad 3s-ABL \quad cave$

?ángpur–kánóng–tho–nu–relang–sáláopening–LOCgo–put–ABL–DEFstone–GENalso

dáp–pung–sá sung (21) ?ân ?álóng kasu–sá cover–PTC–GEN story (21) and now 1P–GEN

ta?yúkup-re mák-nón bá yang kajóm daughter-DEF die-RES when thus finger

tíng blá-di-nu hudo-sá gyó separate take-come-ABL 3S.OBL-GEN quarrel

zúk–kung–sá sung–pang káyú–sá thikúng make-PTC–GEN story–PL.NH 1P–GEN great.grandfather

?ábo-sang-nu?olomkáyú-mdun(22) nalónfather-PL.H-ABLlike.that1P-DATtell(22) last

kasu–sá bojo ?yáng bojo–do 1S.OBL–GEN grandfather real grandfather–self

hudo ?ábryáng-re píngke (23) hudo-m lá nám 3S.OBL name-DEF Píngke (23) 3S.OBL-DAT also year

kati-kaku-tháp-sá tatsât-ká hu nám ?otet ten-eight-put-GEN time-LOC 3S year that.much

thikúng–sá tatsât–ká hudo–m lá great.grandfather–GEN time–LOC 3S.OBL–DAT also

Páre hlomúng-nu lúngnóng-sá sung (24) lavo this mountain.devil-ABL take-GEN story (24) month

kakyók–ká dóng–bám dóng–bám–nu lá seven–LOC search–PRG search–PRG–ABL also

thop-pung-sá sung nyí (25) dóng-lung-bá-re kúng get-PTC-GEN story be (25) search-GER-when-DEF tree

?átímmú?áre samálkúng?átím–sá?yók–kábigthis toon.treebig–GENwork–LOC

tabá ngán-nyí mere (26) ngán-nyí-bá-re up.there remain-be REP (26) remain-be-when-DEF

hudo–sá dumdem bám–bú dum–pang lá 3S.OBL–GEN *dumdem* dwell–FCT clothes–PL.NH also

gun dumprá–pang lá gun hrík–nón–tho mere all *dumprá*–PL.NH also all tear–RES–EXH REP

(27) hudo-m-re tabá shúmú-sang róng-sang (27) 3S.OBL-DAT-DEF up.there man-PL.H Lepcha-PL.H

nóng-nu tabá-do tukpo-sá dám-nu hu-re go-ABL up.there-self rope-with tie-ABL 3S-DEF

tít-sho mere (28) tado numnu-zang-do-m flee-NPR REP (28) 3S.OBL brothers-like-self-DAT

shi bá hudo-m tsám-dám-nu tabá-nu see when 3s.obl-dat hold-tie-abl up.there-abl

mebá lá glet-nu lí-ká blá-thi-nu there.below also drop-ABL house-LOC take-reach-ABL

báhó-ká háp-nu (29) hudo-m-re storage-LOC shut-ABL (29) 3S.OBL-DAT-DEF

nám-sám-ká kát?áp hu-re shúmú year-three-LOC alone 3S-DEF man

lá ngún mere hu mi ngâk ma-tho-n also become REP 3s fire see NEG-EXH-NEG

shúmú ngâk ma-tho-n ?olom man see NEG-EXH-NEG like.that

báhó-ká háp-nu (30) hudo-m-re zo-re storage-LOC shut-ABL (30) 3s.OBL-DAT-DEF food-DEF

cukup ?ángpur-nu tháp-bi ?â zo little.bit opening-ABL put-give eh food

zo ?ân nalón cádá lá hryá–nu eat and last rest also pull–ABL

7úngshúbithámcângklánláwaterwhatgiveanimalresembling

(31) hudo-m-re ?olom nám sám (31) 3S.OBL-DAT-DEF like.that year three

jú-wung-sá-re (32) nám-sam-nu-re hu cádá live-PTC-GEN-DEF (32) year-three-ABL-DEF 3S rest

lá jók–shang káyú shúmú–dep–ká lá also speak–INF 1P man–with–LOC also

chó-nu (33) bojo hu-re ?álong-re unite-ABL (33) grandfather 3S-DEF now-DEF

hu–nu bri mát–nu–re (34) káyú–sá 3S–ABL marriage do–ABL–DEF (34) 1P–GEN

?ábo-sanggek-búyang-sásung?olomfather-PL.Hbe.born-FCTthus-GENstorylike.that

nyí (35) ?áre hlomúng-sá sung be (35) this mountain.devil-GEN story

(36) hlomúng lín-bú-re sare-zang (36) mountain.devil say-FCT-DEF which-like

múng–sang go sákcíng tyól–nu míkdúm–sang devil–PL.H 1S think friend–ABL foreigner–PL.H

phíl-lyáng talyádâ phíl-nu shúmú-sang be.distant-land sea be.distant-ABL man-PL.H

hlomúng dóng-ká ?ábá-bá thi mountain.devil search-LOC here-when reach

sabá-sabá dóng (37) go sákcíng-bá-re where-where search (37) 1s think-when-DEF

dóng-bú-sang-nu róng-sang-do-m-re lúng-nu search-FCT-PL.H-ABL Lepcha-PL.H-self-DAT-DEF take-ABL

nóng go-re tsum khut-sho lyók nóng go go be-DEF meet be.able-NPR IFR go 1S

sákcíng (38) cálóng cá dá sherbú-sang-do-m think (38) just.now just sleep Sherpa-PL.H-self-DAT lúngnóng-nu-re cálong cá dá take-ABL-DEF just.now just sleep

tsum ma–khu–n nóng ma–khu–n–bám

meet NEG-be.able-NEG go NEG-be.able-NEG-PRG

shenlá róng–sang–do–m lúng–ne nóng go–re but Lepcha–PL.H–self–DAT take–ABL go be–DEF

tsum khut-sho lyók (39) shúmátnu go jen meet can-NPR IFR (39) why be other

(40) róng–sang–dep–re
 róng–sang–nu
 lín–bú
 (40) Lepcha–PL.H–together–DEF
 Lepcha–PL.H–ABL
 say–FCT

Páríng lá hu thyo-wung-sá sung kám language also 3S hear-PTC-GEN story little.bit

cá sung-nu-re káyú ?olom kám just story-ABL-DEF 1P like.that little.bit

yâ (41) káyú róng-sang-do-m-nu ?olóm know (41) 1P Lepcha-PL.H-self-DAT-ABL like.that

dóng–ká lúng–nóng go–re thop–sho lyók search–LOC take–go be–DEF get–NPR IFR

(42) cálóng-nu nám pacák khá-nyet-zang(42) just.now-ABL year almost score-two-like

thák-nón (43) kasu lyáng-re sadermi be.complete-RES (43) 1S.OBL land-DEF gun

nyí-wám-bú go-re ?olom punzók–ká saka be-PRG-FCT be-DEF like.that jungle-LOC deer shú mân dryák–ká nong-bá (44) ?otshóng-re go-when (44) that.day-DEF what pursue-LOC meat go ma–nóng kasu-sá tyól–re nóng-bú friend-DEF 1s NEG-go 1S.OBL-GEN go-FCT róng-do (45) hu-nu nóng-nu ?áre ?ore-zang Lepcha-self (45) 3S-ABL go-ABL this that-like shúmú shi ?áre ?ore ?álóng hlomúng рú mountain.devil this that man see now **PSB** bá shi-wung рú shenlá pung-nu míl when see-PTC **PSB** but mound-ABL down kát?áp shim-bú hu-nu pung-nu thál alone see-FCT 3S-ABL mound-ABL up.above hu-nu shi ma-khu-n (46) ?áre shúmátnu NEG-be.able-NEG (46) this 3S-ABL see why (47) ?âlóng langklyók–nu–re jen go big.flat.stone-ABL-DEF be other (47) now tyóng-hát-nu-re hu-nu pung-nu míl hide-PRF-ABL-DEF mound-ABL 3S-ABL down shi-bá-re ?áthóng ?akâ-pang ?ámel ?átím see-when-DEF hand-PL.NH hair leg big (48) lá sakakup–kát salom mát-sho gang if (48) also how do-NPR young.deer-one

hu tsám-tho-bú sakakup-ká hu-nu tsám-nu 3s hold-EXH-FCT young.deer-LOC 3S-ABL hold-ABL

jú-sang tho (49) tho-bá-re sonáp-fók live-PL.H put (49) put-when-DEF night-throughout

lík–nu sonáp–fók lík–nu (50) huyú–re call–ABL night–throughout call–ABL (50) 3P–DEF

dá–nyí–bá–re hlomúng–re tahyut mát–nu sleep–be–when–DEF mountain.devil–DEF whistle do–ABL

mát-lung mát-lung yu mere ?ân do-GER do-GER come REP and

yuptho-kát-ká-re huyú bám-bú-sá moment-one-LOC-DEF 3P dwell-FCT-GEN

li–ká lóm–lung di mere (51) di–bá–re

house-LOC walk-GER come REP (51) come-when-DEF

Potet-ká-re kasu-sá tyól sherábú-nu-re that.much-LOC-DEF 1S.OBL-GEN friend hunter-ABL-DEF

shi-wám-bú hudo-sá ?othá-bá-re see-PRG-FCT 3S.OBL-GEN then-when-DEF

?ábong-?ákâ-pang gun lá hudo-sá ma-det-ne mouth-hand-PL.NH all also 3S.OBL-GEN NEG-move-NEG

hu ?olom ngún-nón-bú bóng-nón-bú 3S like.that become-RES-FCT dumb-RES-FCT

(52) ?ân hu nóng-lung-sá-re hu ?otet(52) and 3s go-GER-GEN-DEF 3s that.much

cáknán ro lát nu ro (52) hu

sáknón–re lát–nu–re (53) hu conciousness–DEF return–ABL–DEF (53) 3S

ro-nu-re ?ân sháng tháp-nu mi ?átim fear-ABL-DEF and firewood put-ABL fire big

ro-nu ?olom ngán-nu (54) muzu sonáp fear-ABL like.that remain-ABL (54) body night

tyât-nu-re (55) lúk?ál-zang-re sakakup-re cut.down-ABL-DEF (55) tomorrow-like-DEF small.deer-DEF

hu-re lyót-nu-re hu-re li-ká 3S-DEF free-ABL-DEF 3S-DEF house-LOC

thi-wung-sá sung (56) hu-nu ?áthóng reach-PTC-GEN story (56) 3S-ABL leg

hudo-sá ?ámel muzu dyángpak-pang hu-nu 3S.OBL-GEN hair body knee-PL.NH 3S-ABL

gun shím-bú (57) hlomúng-re ?ábá-do all see-FCT (57) mountain.devil-DEF there-self

lá nyí-wám pá yang hu-nu dun-bú (58) ?ân also be-PRG CRT thus 3S-ABL tell-FCT (58) and

nalón kasu–sá nyót pe kafer–lyáng–ká lá last 1s.obl–gen field that Kafer–land–loc also

nyí-wám (59) go ?obá ?áre nyót-do-ká be-PRG (59) 1s there this field-self-LOC nóng-bá-re ?obá-sá sherabú go-when-DEF there-GEN hunter

thikúng-kát-nu li ?ábi sathang-nu bík great.grandfather-one-ABL say here tiger-ABL cow

thá-nu-re káyú sonáp-ká nóng-nu chew-ABL-DEF 1P night-LOC go-ABL

sathang-do-m sót-shang róng-bá-re tiger-self-DAT kill-INF wait-when-DEF

sonáp–phet–ká sukmut di mere night–half–LOC wind come REP

(60) tagrikup-re(60) boy-DEF3S sleepbe boy-DEF

miktráp-nón mere (61) hu-re sadermi bu-nu asleep-RES REP (61) 3S-DEF gun carry-ABL

ngán-nyí-bá-re sukmut ?áhyâng di mere remain-be-when-DEF wind cold come REP

(62) sukmut ?áhyâng di–nu yuptho–kát–ká (62) wind cold come–ABL moment–one–LOC

kúng ?álom phíl-lung phíl-lung tree like.this be.distant-GER be.distant-GER

| ?árum–d far–self– | | | ∕ám–bú RG–FC | | yâr DS0 | mbá C | lávo moon | | lóng–ká bright–LOC |
|-----------------------|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|----------------|------------|-----------------|------------------|------------|-----------------------|
| phíl–lún be.distar | | di-bá | –re –when | -DEF | | kúng- tree–t | | lá also | |
| shúmú–s man–GE | | -zang ow–like | | –nu–r –ABL- | | | lom te.that | | shi–nu see–ABL |
| (64) kún (64) tree | | ıíl–lúnş .distan | | | | íng ant–G | SER | | ng–nu ne.up–ABL |
| hudo 3s.OBL | lem direction | | a–dóng EG–sear | | | GEN | ?ápil shado | w | kám little.bit |
| phíl–lún be.distar | g (6 at-GER (6 | 5) hu 5) 3s | | | | _ | cóng– gcóng. | | ntain |
| lín–bú say–FCT | kón side | | thá .there | | _ | wúng C–GEì | | sun | _ |
| hu-nu 3S-ABL | lá also | kasu– 1s.ob | -m BL-DAT | | | | nu–nu BS–ABI | | lá also |
| li say | thámcân animal | _ | re–re is–DEF | | • | oang PL.NH | lá als | | nyí–wám be–PRG |
| pá CRT | hu-nu 3S-ABL | | kasu– 1s.ob | | | dun say | (67) k | | |
| hu 3s | ?ábá–pai here–PL. | _ | lá also | bám dwell | | | álóng ust.nov | | satet how.much |
| lá also | nyí–wán be–PRG– | | | sákcí think | _ | | kasu– 1s.ob | | EN |

sâm–ká nyí–wám mind–LOC be–PRG

(1) First of all, I will tell you what we call a devil. (2) We Lepchas speak of a devil when our bodies have been struck by illness, when we die, we say that a devil has eaten us. (3) But there is also something else that we call a devil. (4) When something has the ability to do something, when something can make itself disappear, what we can see one moment, but can't see the next moment, we also call that a devil. (5) Hlo means mountain, múng means devil, it lives in the mountains. (6) It is a devil, so we call it devil of the mountains. (7) The Mountain Devil is very friendly to us Lepchas. (8) Our forefathers passed stories of the Mountain Devil on to us. (9) There is even talk about someone in our own clan, the Támsángmú, having once even been married to the Mountain Devil. (10) My parents told me this, I am 74 years old now. (11) My grandfather told me that my great-grandfather's own aunt was taken away by the Mountain Devil and held by it on a tree stump. (12) She was her mother's only daughter and she was taken away. (13) It is said that during the time that she was held captive by the Mountain Devil, it would do any work for them that it could. (14) "Hey, son-in-law, today there is some work to be done in my house. The wooden pillars have to be put up. Give us a hand." If they would say something like that, the Mountain Devil would come at night and put up the wooden pillars. (15) If they would say: "Hey, son-in-law, today a paid worker is coming, I need some rice and curry," it would catch a deer and a stag and tie these to the door. (16) My grandparents told us stories like that. (17) Yet, the Mountain Devil had taken away their daughter. So the mother went all the way up to see her daughter. (18) The Mountain Devil didn't want that. So it took the daughter away from the tree stump and put her in a cave. (19) She also went to the cave to see her daughter. (20) The story goes that it had taken her away from the cave into a tunnel and blocked the opening of the cave with a stone. "Now my daughter is dead," the mother said and took home the severed finger that she found there. (21) My father's forefathers told us these stories about quarrels with the Mountain Devil. (22) Later, my grandfather, my

own grandfather, his name was Pingke. (23) When he was 18 years old, that same year, he was taken away by this Mountain Devil. This is another story. (24) It is said that they searched and searched for seven months before he was found. (25) While they were searching, he is supposed to have been sitting on top of a very big tree, a toon tree. (26) He was sitting up there, and all of his clothes were torn to bits. (27) Some people, some Lepchas, climbed up there to tie a rope around him, but it is said that he got away. (28) But when he saw his own brothers climbing up there in order to tie him down, he climbed out of the tree and they took him home and locked him in the storage room. (29) He was all by himself for three years, then he became a human being again. He didn't see any fire. He didn't see any human being. He just stayed in the locked storage room. (30) He was given bits of food through an opening, he simply ate the food and slept, and, like an animal, he would jump at water or anything else that was given to him. (31) He lived like this for three years. (32) After three years of sleeping, he started speaking again and he was reunited with us. (33) My grandfather then got married. (34) That is the story of how my father and his siblings came to be born. (35) This is the story of the Mountain Devil. (36) I think that what we call the mountaildevil is the kind of devil that our friends, the foreigners from far away places, came looking for. They looked everywhere for it. (37) I think that, those who were looking for it, if they had just gone out together with some Lepchas, they might just have found it, that's what I think. (38) As it is, they only went looking for it with some Sherpas, and they haven't been able to find it, but if they had taken Lepchas along, they would probably have been able to. (39) Why is this so? (40) We know that there are rumours to the effect that it can understand some of the Lepcha language. (41) If they had taken us Lepchas along, they might have found it. (42) Now, this is a story of almost 40 years ago. (43) I owned a gun. So I went out to hunt for deer or any other meat in the forest. (44) That day I did not go, my friend went, he is also a Lepcha. (45) He went and then he saw something like a man, possibly the Mountain Devil, but, well, when he saw it, he could only see the lower half of it. He could not look up higher than that. (46) Why this is so? (47) Well, he hid himself behind a big flat stone, and when he looked down he saw big and hairy legs and hands. (48) And, as if it knew how to, it was holding a small deer, holding it and letting it live. (49) It held the deer and it cried all night long. It was crying all night long. (50) When the others were all asleep, the Mountain Devil made a whistling sound and walked closer to them and nearly reached the house where everyone was staying. (51) When it came that close, and my friend the hunter saw it, his mouth and hands froze. He became like that, dumbfounded. (52) And just as it was leaving again, my friend came back to his senses. (53) He was afraid and put all the firewood together to make a big fire, he was afraid and stayed right there. (54) That night he held his body close to the ground, like a log. (55) The story is that by the next morning, he freed the small deer and went back home. (56) He had seen everything, the hair on its legs, its body, its knees. (57) He told us that the Mountain Devil was definitely out there. (58) And, later on, it was also hanging around in my fields up there in Kafer. (59) When I went to the fields there, one old hunter from around there said: "There is a tiger here that has eaten the cows. We went out in the night to kill the tiger, and when we were waiting, in the middle of the night there was a sudden wind." (60) "The boy was asleep, he had fallen asleep," he said. (61) He carried a gun and he was just sitting there, when there was a sudden cold wind, he said. (62) Just a moment after the cold wind, something like a tree was moving towards him from far far away, and it was coming closer, he said. (63) Far away in the moonlight, he could see something for a moment, far away but coming closer, something taller than the trees, with a shadow like a man's. (64) The far, far- away tree was coming closer to him, but it didn't look in his direction and went away again, still quite far away. (65) It went up there, near Shángcóng mountain, he told me. (66) He said that such an animal definitely still lives there, he told me. (67) Now we live there as well. (68) I have often thought that it is still there, that is what I think.

TEXT TWO

THE STORY OF THE JACKAL

| (1) ?yá | nám–ká | lúngten–ká | káyú | pât–ká |
|--------------|----------|---------------|------|-----------|
| (1) formerly | vear_LOC | tradition_LOC | 1p | Tibet_LOC |

| vóm | lyâ–ká | nóng-shang-sá | sung | yâmbá |
|------|------------|---------------|-------|-------|
| salt | accept-LOC | go-INF-GEN | story | DSC |

| (2) káyú | róng–pang–re | pât–ká | vóm | lyâ |
|----------|------------------|-----------|------|--------|
| (2) 1p | Lencha_PL_NH_DEF | Tibet_LOC | salt | accent |

| nóng-bám-bá-sá | sung–kát–re | (3) saryók–nun | kát |
|-----------------|---------------|----------------|-----|
| go-PRG-when-GEN | story-one-DEF | (3) jackal–ABL | one |

lóm-ká plâ-bá-re sa?ár-kát lóm-ká road-LOC come.out-when-DEF goat-one road-LOC

160 TEXT TWO

sacák-nu thá-shang tsám-bá-re sa?ár–nu leopard-ABL chew-INF hold-when-DEF goat-ABL li–bá go ?álóng pât nóng-nu vóm say-when 1s Tibet go-ABL salt now thá-bú yu-nu kám ?áshúm-sá thá chew-FCT descend-ABL little.bit fat-GEN chew le (4) cálóng tá go vóm thá-ká REQ (4) just.now up.there 1s salt chew-LOC nóng-det ma li-nu lát-nóng ma yâmbá go-move AST say-ABL return-go AST DSC (5) lát–nón–nu lá yu-bá-re ?álóng vóm descend-when-DEF (5) return–RES–ABL also now salt thá-bú-nu chúl lá lyáng-ká lá down.below lick-FCT-ABL also land-LOC also yu-bá-re lóm–ká ?álóng sacák-nu descend-when-DEF road-LOC leopard-ABL now saróng kasu-m thá trát-shang li–nu go today 1S.OBL-DAT chew tear-INF be say-ABL ?obá hryóp–nu lá yu-bá-re saryók–re $descend-when-{\tt DEF}$ jackal-DEF cry-ABL also there thyo (6) ?e ?abi kasu-m díng yâmbá hear stand DSC (6) hey here 1S.OBL-DAT blá–nu ?ádo-sá-do-m zo-sho-bú le 2S.OBL-GEN-self-DAT take-ABL **REQ** eat-NPR-FCT

múng-re go tyu-bo-sho (7) ?o-nu-re devil-DEF 1S subdue-give-NPR (7) that-ABL-DEF

hudo-m saryók-do-m ?ácáng-ká kábu-nu 2S.OBL-DAT jackal-self-DAT back-LOC carry-ABL

sa?ár-dep lá yu-bá-re sacák-re goat-together also descend-when-DEF leopard-DEF

hâng thá yang lóm–ká plâ–di grr chew thus road–LOC come.out–come

(8) plâ-di-bá-re cá thá-shang (8) come.out-come-when-DEF just chew-INF

mát-bá-re (9) hudo thangkú thóng do-when-DEF (9) 3S.OBL tobacco drink

thangkú–sá kol–kát bu–wám yâmbá tobacco–GEN box–one carry–PRG DSC

(10) ?o-re saryók-re-nu ?o-re (10) that-DEF jackal-DEF-ABL that-DEF

shól-tho-bá-nu ?áre sukdum-ká tyâng gun-sá scatter-EXH-when-ABL this world-LOC whole all-GEN

thámcâng-sá tsum-re tshóng yâmbá animal-with meet-DEF complete DSC

(11) sacák tsum-re ma-tshóng yâmbá (11) leopard meet-DEF NEG-complete DSC

li bán yet-shang mát-bá-re sacák-re say after descend-INF do-when-DEF leopard-DEF 162 TEXT TWO

plâ–nu ?ân punzók–ká lá thít–nón come.out–ABL and forest–LOC also reach–RES

?ânsa?ár-reláthóryâmbáandgoat-DEFalsoescapeDSC

(1) This is a story about how we used to go to Tibet to get salt. (2) Just one of the many stories about us Lepchas going to Tibet to get salt. (3) Once a leopard had captured a goat and wanted to eat it, and just when a jackal appeared on the road, the goat said: "I am on my way to Tibet to eat some salt, why don't you eat me when I come back again, I will be a little fatter." (4) "I am just on my way up there to eat some salt," he said, and he resumed his journey. (5) When he was on his way back again, he said: "Today, now that I have eaten some salt, when I get down there again, the leopard will tear me to pieces and eat me," and he had just started crying when he noticed that the jackal was standing in front of him and had heard what he said. (6) "Hey, let me take on the devil that wants to eat you, I will defeat him for you," he said. (7) Then the jackal carried the goat on his back and they started climbing down, when, grrr, with a roaring sound, the leopard appeared on the road. (8) He came out of nowhere and stood there, his mouth watering. (9) The jackal carried a pack of smoking tobacco. (10) The jackal opened the pack, threw the tobacco around and said: "All the animals of the whole wide world end up like this." (11) "You could be next," and after he said this, he started to move closer to the leopard. The leopard rose and ran into the forest, and the goat escaped as well.

TEXT THREE

THE GREAT KING GYEBÚ

١١٩١١ ﴿ الحَدِ الحَدِ الْحَدِ الْحَدِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللّ जातीन का रेज़ा है। की का रेज़ा भारभ भारता में का के अपने west bengal we そうと るいり ときと ディギ しい コいい しゅつらとぶろい とりげ そにを ありと るいり とりとと しゅって स्टिर्ध कि एका है । जाराक एरिएरी । या कार्यायार्थिता हो हो । जो हो है । है भी और भागम बहु वार्षपुरतमा जिंगमू दूर्वकरामा विराधिका वार्ष्ट्रिया विराधिका विराधिका त्रितार भार्म हाई हालीनाम वह जिंठान भाउभा हाईगेर पर्न एने गेरीना अर्ए १००० हैं हिंदू हो है जिस अराभा को है कि विकास है है है अह अरा अठाठी उस वह (\$10) T (TT & (10) & (10) T) & 4 (1) WOO) X(CX) & WI THE TO (10) WOU માં ક્રિયા માના માલ્યા કરાય છે. જો સામુ માલ્યા કોઈએમ સામુખા હિંમ હો ૧૩૦૩ પ્રાંતમાં ફ્રાંજુનામાં ડિપેડર્ગુ કાંટ્રેનામાં ક્રકાંટ્રેનામાં હામુખા નામાના હોડ્ડી નીડર્ગ *()\(\varepsilon\) (\(\mathreal{\pi}\) \(\varepsilon\) (\(\mathreal{\pi}\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal{\pi}\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal{\pi}\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\\mathreal\pi\) (\(\mathreal\pi\) (\\mathreal\pi\) (\(\ma सार्ये पर राज्याता । बला हैं(केंट्र ही दीजा) ११९१४। सार्ये जो राजेती बाला हिंदीर TIVO!!B FCYNIZ KEPIK WI *IIWIZIG IVI FCYNIZ TIF KSPIK 21WI MIN MINO المان المراقبة بنه واله برامرا الاعوالا إوجًا المراتبة إولى مال والراتبة المراتبة મેં કેલ્ટર્મ છે. માગ માગ માગ કેલ્ટર્સ મુસા કાર્યા છે. મુસા મામ કેલ્ટર્સ મામ માગ કેલ્ટર્સ الله المالة المالة بالان المالك المال &)W,E)W IE JNÖI (XEI W 181Ö)# JZ16 X19XX1 BIT Z1110 WOJ B1XJW1 १९१९१९ अधा के गुमेत्राह १०११८ १७५३ हिएस १९२९१९ हि पुर्के भागप्रभाष्ट على الماركة عال عالمارك العالم الماركة على الماركة عال عالم الماركة عالم الماركة عالم الماركة عالم الماركة عالم المالة المالك ·(TVE·(V) (1) X122X1 (4)0] &(\(\frac{1}{2}\)] &(\(\frac{1}{2}\)) \(\frac{1}{2}\) \(\frac{1}2\) \(\frac{1}2\) \(\frac{1}2\) \(\frac{1}2\) \(\fr हारी ग्रेट अपकुरी, पुरुष हालाव के होडडांहुल । लाह अंडटां का प्रांहा लेटी हार्यी كال الله الالالالة الإلاكالا طالحة لحرورا له المالة براكم الكرام الله الله الالالالة المالة ا र प्रेंचे अप्रिक्ति स्था प्राप्त साम अस्य अस्य अस्य अस्य अप्रिक्ति अप्रिक्ति अस्य اساطًا ١٥ لزل كا رس اس الله قَرَالِ اس السالة اطال العَجَافُ عاديثُ الله الإراط عو حرو ربار الام ١٤١٤ ربيار طاراة إلى أن الله الجرائد الحجاء عاله في ربيار الآواء الحاق 8 \$wi) Wile 140€14 Tun6006 1m18 60£(1* B1 fCs) (no f 100) F13 101018

ومن مالد الاحجلا طاقًا لجاء حروره ومعارة ومرتداة ومن اله ومم، ومجاع अर्द्भार्म सार्पेन्यसा खरू अप्ति र्रेनकिला जाराजारू ठामें। त्रान्म झेर्न्स कृ रिस है। क्षीर्व भीजार भाडनभा (अभीजार अप सार्युग्यीनका स्वासूनजार क्रेज) अत्रिश कृ रिश है। प्राप्तिकृति हो है निया भारताभा । याता याता याता है है है। हैं। हैंगरे 4)(*(1) 16)(00 (5 2101 *1)10)(1)=1)(12()(1) 1*10), 4)=(10 5), 12(0 5), 13(1) भारतभा (८४) र्र+तर्र मातार हैंग रहिंगता व्यापी सार्या हैता भाटनभा सानत होमीलिहा ठाठी अन्ट्या होमीलिहा ठा००१ हैं । म विरागा पूर्व अर्घे केंद्रें ડાંગામું માટ્યમાં ડેલેબ્લા ડ્રેલ્સ માર્ગ જોડેમ બાબરે સાર્જાસ આ તેને કે માર્ગ કરીણાંગી મા=૫મા મા+ના બાળ કાર્યોના મંદ્રીના કર્જેના ૧નર્જ મા કરાંનાહીનો દીના الله الالاعالا (س، اسكورمطاح الطالح آما، افي رامآما، اعتباره، في وكداله براطاله धीलाणे हुका मान्त्रम कु। १३ प्राप्तालाम काला हार्लियोहा ला ठायो हुई लालीपुयी માંલોક ાળચું વાળી ૩૯ ∓ેંદાળ કેંદે ાંવોક ાઅર્દ્ધાક બિબ મુંતતાદ હ્યા મુંતાતા હતા મુંતાતા તાલું કાર્ય (८३) रिकेश प्राप्त काली प्राप्त प्राप्तिक प्राप्तिक हिन्दी हिन्द्र 16100 4)81*11) 4)81* (11 (201) 4)81*11) 4)81* 5(11)7 301 (11 30)601 (10) ાયા જે છેક

- (1) ren ?ore kyóng ?áre–sá bâm.basti róng (1) sir this village this–GEN Bâm.Basti Lepcha
- kyóng–sá ?ân nahán–re ?áre kyóng puntsáyât–sá village–GEN and before–DEF this village assembly–GEN

gúlón–bú lá ngún pá mándrál lá guide–FCT also become CRT mandal also

ngún pá (2) cálóng-re róng shezúm-sá become CRT (2) just.now-DEF Lepcha association-GEN West.Bengal–sá president ngún–bú–sá
West.Bengal–GEN president become–FCT–GEN
tândók–nu go–re ?áre róng–sá nahán
behalf–ABL be–DEF this Lepcha–GEN before

nahán–sá ?áring–pang–sá ?áring kám before–GEN language–PL.NH–GEN language little.bit

nyen-shang mát-nu (3) ren-do-m go pano listen-INF do-ABL (3) sir-self-DAT 1s king

gyebú–?áchúk–sá ?áring kát–nyet vyet–shang Gyebú–great–GEN language one–two ask–INF

mát–nu (4) saróng ?ábi thi ngán ren do–ABL (4) today here reach remain sir

d.t.támsáng máyel.málúk-lyáng nye-lyáng lín-bú-re D.T.Támsáng Máyel.Málúk-land holy-land say-FCT-DEF

Páre-sá tândók-re shú ngún pú this-GEN behalf-DEF what become PSB

- (5) máyel.málúk-lyáng lín-bú-re renjóng-lyáng
 (5) Máyel.Málúk-land say-FCT-DEF Sikkim-land
- ?ílám-lyángkálenpúng-lyángdárjúlyáng-lyánggun-láIlám-landKalimpong-landDarjeeling-landall-also

chó-nu-re hudo-m-re máyel.málúk-lyáng unite-ABL-DEF 3S.OBL-DAT-DEF Máyel.Málúk-land

yang lín-bám-bú (6) mútâncí róngkup rum-kup thus say-PRG-FCT (6) Mútâncí Lepcha god-child lín-bú-re ?áre-sá tândók-re shú ngún pú say-FCT-DEF this-GEN behalf-DEF what become PSB

(7) mútâncí róngkup-do-m-re rum-kup yang

(7) Mútâncí Lepcha-self-DAT-DEF god-child thus

lá li–bám–bú ?ore róng tyâng–nu–re also say–PRG–FCT that Lepcha whole–ABL–DEF

róng-re ?ánáng ?átsóng go-nu rum-kup Lepcha-DEF straight pure be-ABL god-child

yang hudo-m li-bám-bú (8) ?yá thus 3S.OBL-DAT say-PRG-FCT (8) past

nám-ká-re cálóng-sá dárjílíng-lyáng-do-m-re year-LOC-DEF just.now-GEN Darjeeling-land-self-DAT-DEF

dárjúlyáng yang li–wám ?áre–re dárjúlyáng Dárjúlyáng thus say–PRG this–DEF Dárjúlyáng

lín-bú-re ?áre-sá tóm-re shú ngún pú say-FCT-DEF this-DEF speech-DEF what become PSB

(9) dárjúlyáng lín-bú-re máyel.lyáng(9) Dárjúlyáng say-FCT-DEF Máyel.Lyáng

nye-máyel.lyáng ?áre-sá lyáng-ká gun-len holy-Máyel.Lyáng this-GEN land-LOC all-than

zúk-bú dá-nyí-bú lyáng go-nu-re make-FCT rest-be-FCT land be-ABL-DEF

hudo-m-re dárjúlyáng lín-bú 3S.OBL-DAT.DEF Darjúlyáng say-FCT (10) cálóng–sá kálenpúng–do–m–re ?yá–re (10) just.now–GEN Kálenpúng–self–DAT–DEF past–DEF

kálenpúng yang li–wám–bá–re ?o–sá Kálenpúng thus say–PRG–when–DEF that–GEN

tândók–re shú ngún pú (11) kálenpúng behalf–DEF what become PSB (11) Kálenpúng

lín-bú-re ?ábryáng thóm-bú-re cálóng say-FCT-DEF name put-FCT-DEF just.now

nalón go—sho (12) hán—re kálenpúng lá last be—NPR (12) before—DEF Kálenpúng also

máyel.málúk.lyáng-do go (13) kálenpúng Máyel.Málúk.Lyáng-self be (13) Kálenpúng

?ábryáng-regyebú-?áchúk-nupanogyebú-?áchúk-nuname-DEFGyebú-great-ABLkingGyebú-great-ABL

thóm-bú (14) hu-nu-re ?ábi ?áre put-FCT (14) 3S-ABL-DEF here this

kálenpúng–lyáng–re purtám–sá halá lyáng Kalimpong–land–DEF flat.land–GEN cleared land

?áre-regum(15) ?áre-repurtámgo-nu-rethis-DEFbe.AST(15) this-DEFflat.landbe-ABL-DEF

róng–sang–do–m lá zúk–shang tândók–ká Lepcha–PL.H–self–DAT also make–INF behalf–LOC Pábi-re ká len lá zúm-sá tândók-ká this-DEF P1 gather also meet-GEN behalf-DEF

kálenpúng yang ?ábryáng bi–tho–bú Kálenpúng thus name give–EXH–FCT

(16) pano gyebú–?áchúk–re róng–sang–sá pano (16) king Gyebú–great–DEF Lepcha–PL.H–DEF king

gyebú–?áchúk–re hu–sá ?ábo–sá ?ábryáng–re Gyebú–great–DEF 3S–GEN father–GEN name–DEF

pano ?áprázáp hu—sá tagrikup—sá yang li—bám king ?Áprázáp 3S—GEN boy—GEN thus say—PRG

cho-ká lá ?olom-do pi-tho (17) ?áre book-LOC also like.that-self write-EXH (17) this

pano gyebú–?áchúk–sá ?ábryáng–sá tândók–re shú king Gyebú–great–GEN name–GEN behalf–DEF what

pú (18) gyebú-?áchúk-sá ?ábo-re ?áprázáp-re PSB (18) Gyebú-great-GEN father-DEF ?Áprázáp-DEF

thâng go-sho (19) ?ámú ?áshekmít ?ábo true be-NPR (19) mother ?Áshekmít father

?áprázáp–rethânggo–sho(20) ?ámú?Áprázáp–DEFtruebe–NPR(20) mother

Páshekmít Pábo Páprázáp gyebú—Páchúk—sá Pábo PÁshekmít father PÁprázáp Gyebú—great—GEN father

?ámúhudo-sá?ágyeklyáng-relóngshól-lyáng-kámother3S.OBL-GENbirthland-DEFLóngshól-land-LOC

go-sho (21) gyebú-?áchúk-sá lyáng-re be-NPR (21) Gyebú-great-GEN land-DEF

gyebú–?áchúk–sá ?ábo–sá dri–re lóngshól–lyáng Gyebú–great–GEN father–GEN fort–DEF Lóngshól–land

gum (22) gyebú-?áchúk-re tagrikup hu be.AST (22) Gyebú-great-DEF boy 3s

kát?áp-bú (23) hudo-sá ?ágyek-re káyú róng alone-FCT (23) 3S.OBL-GEN birth-DEF 1P Lepcha

?áfrón-ká-remón námmár.lavotshânumber-LOC-DEFpigyeartwelfth.monthdate

kati.tarók.tháp go-sho (24) ?yá nám-ká sixteen be-NPR (24) past year-LOC

gyebú-?áchúk pano-nu-re ?áre Gyebú-great king-ABL-DEF this

kálenpúng–sá ?ápun pun–re ?ágyáp má Kálenpúng–GEN near near–DEF much secret

dri-pang zúk-tho (25) li ?ân dri-pang-re fort-PL.NH make-EXH (25) house and fort-PL.NH-DEF

cálóng–re sabá pú sabá mát lá just.now–DEF where PSB where do also

zúk-thóm pú ?ábryáng-re shú pú (26) káyú make-EXH PSB name-DEF what PSB (26) 1P

róng-sang-do-m-re tá pâtmú Lepcha-PL.H-self-DAT-DEF up.there Tibetan 170 TEXT THREE

?árát-sang-nu káyú-m ma-ná-n Tibet-PL.H-ABL 1P-DAT NEG-take-NEG

(27) tá–ká yang pro ?árát–sang–nu (27) up.there–LOC thus Bhutan Tibet–PL.H–ABL

ma-ná-n (28) tá-ká yang hu-nu-re NEG-take-NEG (28) up.there-LOC thus 3S-ABL-DEF

fyenkyóp–shang tândók–ká ?átháng ?álgará–sá fight–INF behalf–LOC this.up.there Álgará–GEN

?ápíndámsángdrichógúrúbáthán–sáthis.on.the.other.sideDámsángfortjoinGorubathan–GEN

PátándálíngdriPânPáfiróngnyúshortDálíngfortandhereRongnyú

pun-ká rangsâr lín-bú zúk-tho near-LOC other say-FCT make-EXH

dri (29) dri–pang ?ácálá káyú nóng–nu ngâk fort (29) fort–PL.NH still 1P go–ABL look

gang shi pú ?o dá-nyí-bú ?á-sá if see PSB that rest-be-FCT that-GEN

lang-sang-re (30) cálóng sóngtet tá stone-PL.H-DEF (30) just.now up.till up.there

nyí dá gun-len ?ázúk ?átím dri-re be rest all-than pretty big fort-DEF dámsáng dri–sá dálíng dri (31) ?áre cálóng Dámsáng fort–and Dálíng fort (31) this just.now

lá káyú-nu nóng-nu ?á gyebú-?áchúk-nu also 1P-ABL go-ABL there Gyebú-great-ABL

zúk-tho-bú lang-pang káyú shím-tho make-EXH-FCT stone-PL.NH 1P see-EXH

(32) pano gyebú–?áchúk–do–m kálenpúng–ká ?ore (32) king Gyebú–great–self–DAT Kálenpúng–LOC that

?áthúrenjóng–sápano–nu–renahánthis.up.over.thereSikkim–GENking–ABL–DEFbefore

chádóng fyenkyóp me li ?â fyenkyóp-bá-re battle fight that say and fight-when-DEF

shú ngún pú (33) pâtmú pano pâtmú-sang-nu what become PSB (33)Tibetan king Tibetan-PL.H-ABL

renjóng–lyáng–ká thi–nu–re róng–sang–do–m Sikkim–land–LOC reach–ABL–DEF Lepcha–PL.H–self–DAT

gun vík zúk–nu–re all soldier make–ABL–DEF

(34) othú–nu–re ?áre kálenpúng–lyáng–ká (34) that.up.over.there–ABL–DEF this Kálenpúng–land–LOC

fyenkyóp-bá-re gyebú-?áchúk-nu dryák-nu-re fight-when-DEF Gyebú-great-ABL chase-ABL-DEF

tábá pákyong renjóng–lyáng–sá up.there Pákyong Sikkim–land–GEN 172 TEXT THREE

| | | | nóng- go-Al | | ?obá there | | sóng up.ti | | |
|---|---|-------------------------|----------------|----------------------|----------------|----------------------|-------------------------------|------------------|-------------------|
| go-nu-re be-ABL-DEF | | (35) ?obá (35) there | | pákyóng Pakyóng | | dri for | - | ang ius | |
| lá also | . · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | (36) ?ân (36) and | | | nalón–re last–DEF | | |
| páro.pen Paro.Pön | - | páro– Paro– | | pano king | _ | áro aro | zóng Dzor | | pe there |
| li–wám–bú–nu–re say–PRG–FCT–ABL–DEF | | | EF | lá also | ladá also | | kálenpúng–ká Kálenpúng–LOC | | |
| chádóng battle | • | ón ffer | me that | li say | | | áchúk reat– | | chádóng battle |
| tsum meet | me that | li say | ?ân and | huyú- 3P–w | _ | | | shú what | |
| ngún pú (37) pro-sá pano-nu-re become PSB (37) Bhutan-GEN king-ABL-DEF | | | | | | | | | |
| gyebú–?áchúk–dep–ká fyenkyóp–shang hudo–sá Gyebú–great–with–LOC fight–INF 3S.OBL–GEN | | | | | | | | | |
| vik–sang soldier–F | | klóng send | | bá ere | dálín Dálíi | _ | | ri–ká ort–LOC | |
| (38) di-nu-re (38) come-ABL-DEF | | | | • | | fyen–re fight–DEF | | ?obi there | |
| ngún become | pá CRT | (39) 7 (39) t | | wn.the | | i–nu ome | –re –ABL- | -DEF | |

hu-nu-re fyen ma-kyóp-nu 3S-ABL-DEF fight NEG-fight-ABL

gyebú-?áchúk-do-m-re yón-nu (40) ?álóng Gyebú-great-self-DAT-DEF visit-ABL (40) now

káyú-re ?ádo-sá ?ámín bám-sho cí 1P-DEF 2S.GEN under dwell-NPR cí

?ázom.?áthenbi-nu-relúngshíng-nu-refoodstuffgive-ABL-DEFleisuredrunk-ABL-DEF

hudo-m sót-nu-re (41) kúzú-bóng-ká 3S.OBL-DAT kill-ABL-DEF (41) nettle-base-LOC

vá–vú (42) kúzú–bóng–ká vá–tho–bá–re throw–tangle (42) nettle–base–LOC throw–EXH–when–DEF

món zo dóng-bú-nu-re gyebú-?áchúk medicine eat search-FCT-ABL-DEF Gyebú-great

chúk chúk gyebú-?áchúk chúk chúk li-nu chúk chúk Gyebú-great chúk chúk say-ABL

(43) gyebú–?áchúk–re lá shopdá–bá hu–nu–re (43) Gyebú–great–DEF also rejoin??–when 3S–ABL–DEF

pano-ká lát-nóng li-nu-re (44) vik-sang-nu king-LOC return-go say-ABL-DEF (44) soldier-PL.H-ABL

thi–nu cádi gyebú–?áchúk–do–m lá reach–ABL approach Gyebú–great–self–DAT also 174 TEXT THREE

sót shen hu-re ma-mák-ne-shum-bú kill but 3S-DEF NEG-die-NEG-NPR-FCT

(45) hudo-sá gyebú-?áchúk-sá-do payúk-nu (45) 3S.OBL-GEN Gyebú-great-GEN-self sword-ABL

ma-tyât-nu sangtyet hu NEG-cut.down-NEG up.till 3s

ma-mák-nu-shum-bú ngún-nu-re (46) álóng NEG-die-NEG-NPR-FCT become-ABL-DEF (46) now

gyebú-?áchúk-sá-do payúk-nu-do-nu Gyebú-great-GEN-self sword-ABL-self-ABL

hudo-sá ?áthyák tíng-bá-re hudo-sá 3S.OBL-GEN head divide-when-DEF 3S.OBL-GEN

Páthyák-re Páchú shel úngkyóng-ká nóng-nu head-DEF this.down.there wet river-LOC go-ABL

ván nóng ?áthyák ma-thop-nu-bú-sá sung enter go head NEG-get-ABL-FCT-GEN story

(47) cálóng gun–lá–nu yâ–wám (48) ?ân pro (47) just.now all–also–ABL know–PRG (48) and Bhutan

pano-sang-re ?ábá kálenpúng-ká lá king-PL.H-DEF here Kálenpúng-LOC also

bám pú kríl lávúng-nón pú (49) nálón-re pro dwell PSB dirty turn.back-RES PSB (49) last-DEF Bhutan

pano-nu-re gyebú-?áchúk-sá ?áthyák tíng king-ABL-DEF Gyebú-great-GEN head divide blá-dí yang li-tho shenlá ?áthyák-re take-come thus say-EXH but head-DEF

Pochú úngkyóng-ká nóng-nu bán that.down.there river-LOC go-ABL after

nóng-sá-re ma-thop-nu-re (50) ?ore vík-sang go-GEN-DEF NEG-get-ABL-DEF (50) that soldier-PL.H

chádóng–ká dít–bú vik–sang huyú–do–nu battle–LOC come–FCT soldier–PL.H 3P–self–ABL

huyú-do lá sót-nu huyú-do-nu huyú-do 3P-self also kill-ABL 3P-self-ABL 3P-self

mák-nu-re mebá lá ma-khu-n-sá die-ABL-DEF there.below also NEG-be.able-NEG-GEN

sung ?olom nyí story like.that be

(1) "Sir D.T. Támsáng used to be chairman of the local assembly of the Lepcha village Bâm basti and he was also the mandal of the village." (2) Sir, at the moment you are president of the Lepcha Association of West Bengal, on this behalf I have invited you here to ask you a few questions about some legendary stories." (3) "Sir, I would like to ask you some questions about the story about king Gyebú ?Áchúk, the great king Gyebú." (4) Whilst we are here, sir D.T. Támsáng, may I ask what is the meaning of the expression Máyel Málúk Lyáng? What is meant by this so-called 'holy' land?" (5) "What we call the land of Máyel Málúk is what we get when we combine all of the territory of Sikkim, Kalimpong, Darjeeling and Ilám. That is what we call the hidden paradise, Máyel Málúk Lyáng." (6) "What does the expression Mútâncí Róngkup Rumkup mean?" (7) "The Mútâncí Róngkup are also called children of god or Rumkup, because all Lepcha

people are truly honest." (8) "What we now know as Darjeeling was called *Darjúlyáng* in the past. What does that mean, Darjúlyáng?" (9) "Dárjúlyáng is the place where it is said that the gods rested after they had created the holy land of Máyel. They called it Dárjúlyáng, 'Abode of Gods'." (10) "What we now call Kálenpúng was also called Kálenpúng in the past. What is the meaning of this name?" (11) "The name Kálenpúng was only given recently. (12) In the old days Kálenpúng was just a part of the land of Máyel Málúk. (13) The name Kálenpúng was given by the great king Gyebú. (14) The area of Kálenpúng was flat and open. (15) Because of it being a flat area, the Lepcha people decided this was a place were we could all meet, and therefore they gave this place the name Kálenpúng, ká meaning 'we', len meaning 'gather' and púng referring to 'place'. (16) The great king Gyebú, king Gyebú ?Áchúk of the Lepcha people, his father's name was king ?Áprázáp, he is said to be his son, it is written in the old books." (17) "What is the meaning of the name king Gyebú ?Áchúk?" (18) "It is true that the king Gyebú ?Áchúk's father's name was ?Áprázáp. (19) "His mother's name was ?Áshekmít, his father's name was ?Áprázáp, this is the truth. (20) So, his mother was ?Áshekmít and his father was ?Áprázáp. The parents of the great Gyebú were born in a place called Longshol. (21) Gyebú ?Áchúk's father's castle was in Longshol. (22) Gyebú ?Áchúk was an only child. (23) According to the Lepcha calendar, he was born on the sixteenth day of the twelfth month in the year of the pig." (24) "A long time ago, king Gyebú ?Áchúk built many secret castles over here in the Kálenpúng area." (25) "Those houses and castles, where were they built and what are they called?" (26) "We Lepcha's did not take on those Tibetans from up there. (27) We did not take on those Bhutanese up there either. (28) In order to protect Álgará here from an attack, Gyebú ?Áchúk is said to have built Dámsáng fort, near Gorubathan we have the Dálíng fort and near the Róngnyú river over here there is another fort. (29) If we go to the forts and look around, we can see that the ruins are still there. (30) Of all that remains, the most beautiful and largest forts are Dámsáng fort and Dálíng fort. (31) If we go all the way up there now, we can still see the stones that the great Gyebú put there." (32) "In Kalimpong, king Gyebú ?Áchúk is said to have fought a battle with the king from Sikkim, what was that about?" (33) "The Tibetan king and the Tibetans came to Sikkim and all the Lepcha people were made soldiers. (34) When they came from

all the way over there to fight here in Kalimpong, Gyebú ?Áchúk chased them right back to Pakyóng in Sikkim. (35) He also built Pakyóng fort up there." (36) "Later, the Paro Pönlo or ruler of Paro Dzong also said that he would challenge king Gyebú ?Áchúk in Kalimpong to fight a battle, what happened between them?" (37) "In order to fight Gyebú ?Áchúk, the Bhutanese king sent his soldiers up to Dáling fort. (38) When they arrived there, there was a battle there. (39) When they came down there, at first they didn't fight and Gyebú ?Áchúk visited them. (40) They claimed that they would live under his rule and they gave him all sorts of food and drink. When they were having a good time, when they were getting drunk, they killed him. (41) They threw him into the nettle bushes. (42) When they had thrown him into the nettle bushes, someone came over there looking for herbs, and the great Gyebú was saying "Gyebú ?Áchúk chúk chúk, Gyebú ?Áchúk chúk chúk." (43) Gyebú ?Áchúk's body had joined back together and they went back to the king and said that Gyebú ?Áchúk had returned. (44) The soldiers went back to kill Gyebú ?Áchúk again, but he was immortal. (45) Even when their swords were worn down from fighting, Gyebú ?Áchúk still could not be killed. (46) Now the story is that when they cut Gyebú ?Áchúk with his own sword, his head fell into the river below and they couldn't find his head anymore. (47) Everybody knows this now." (48) "And the king of Bhutan and his men, did they stay here in Kalimpong or did they go back home?" (49) "After they killed Gyebú ?Áchúk, the king of Bhutan said: "Now you have to bring me the severed head of Gyebú ?Áchúk", but they couldn't find the head when they went down to the river. (50) Because of this, those soldiers fought the other soldiers and they killed each other and everybody died there, this is the story."

TWO LEPCHA GIRLS

٢٠١٧ الاجالا شابع قاء كاران شابع الاجالا هَوَ وبها لا الاجالا قارة قاء الآن قاء الاوالا नाही बन्धाला अधिर नेवर्ड राजना हो शुक्रां है होता आन्या ही अधिर राष्ट्रिया आहि الإلى التا الحال المستحاك الإلى الأكهام المركبة الكالها حالح لها المنا المركبة المالة المركبة कारा आता अरात है। इस कारा हात है। हात है है। अरा है है। अरा हिन अरा है। है अंधि अंधि है र अंधि है है। ये दाही के देही हैं। दाही के इं कार्या है। इं के कार्या है اهُ الإيمالا شَايِكَ فَحَ وَنُهُ فَكُولَ المَانِي اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ ·(N)8196 (m) ·(m)=1(m) (N) 3)\$)(191)(1)(N)=1 & 1(T) & 1(क्षि भार०भा वि धरेहाप कर्डि सास क्रिस्वे वाल सासला याण रेह भार०भा याणला का अरङ्गार वेना हुए हैं। या प्रतास में में हिर्म के प्रतास में में हिर्म के प्रतास के الله و الله المراجع الله المراجع المراجع المرابع المراجع الله المراجع الله المراجع الله المراجع المراع ર્કે આ ૧૮૮૬૧૮ નાર્કે! છો. છેશિ* (બર્મે ૧૮૨૮૪૧ કે ૧૮૮૮૪૧૮ કેલા ફ્રિક્ટિફ્સ્ટ્રિફ્સ્ટ્રિફ્સ્ટ્રિફ્સ્ટ્રિફ્સ્ટ્રિફ ૧૯૦૬૧૮ ૧૦૧૭ વીઠ તો, ૧૮૦૧૦૦૦ છા ૧૯૧૮૧૮ વાર્ટી છો.આમંત્ર ૧૯૮૮૬૮ તૈનાર सारी। * भी। (सम्सारा) किरो हास्रीला रिक्र रिक्री भाडगा। जारा भाडराभा जालिस ાળા0કા ચાૈક તો, આ ક્ષાપકાર્ય કૈં1 આ ક્ષ≃કાર્ય ચાાર્મે કૈં1 માં તાાેેેે ક્ષાર્જકાર મળે ચૈરિકૈ पर्यन्त हो देश है। देश देश माइएमा अपक्रमा आक्रमा आहे। अपहार आहे माहिएमा पर है। ा हैंगेर हैं। अर्च हैं। अहिं। अहिंगेरा स्टिंगेरा क्रिक हिंगेरा क्रिक हैं। क्रिक क्रिक हैं ८०० होते हो अल्लास हिल्ली होते हैं। अल्लास साम जिल्लास स्थान होते होते अल्लाम स्थान होते होते अल्लाम स्थान स्थान प्रमें राण अल अल्लास अप्राप्त की हैं पर के प्राप्त का प्राप्त का प्राप्त का प्राप्त का प्राप्त की के प्रमें ફિંક (છાંછ છાંગજ જાગક કારક પ્રાપ્તકપ્રા કાર્યક્રમાં કોર જા બાળ છાંગ કોનું ١٤٠١١ قُلُ ١١١ قَالِدًا ١٤١٤ مِن مَا رَجُوبِ ١١١١١١١١ عِن اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ ١٤١١ مِن اللهُ

साड गरिंगुजा हैंसा आलं भिरा आगा भिरा आउरआ साड की छै। वस्ता हिसा

- (1) khámrímó khámrí ?álem–do di le ?íng (2) khámrí
- (1) khámrímó khámrí hither-self come REQ child (2) khámrí

Pánóm khámrímó Pánóm (3) saróng káyú kyóng–sá elder.sister khámrímó elder.sister (3) today 1P village–GEN

?áríngkát–nyetli–kále?íng–do–mlanguageone–twosay–LOCREQchild–self–DAT

tsum-bá (4) shú ?áríng línshet nyí gó ?ánóm meet-when (4) what language speech be Q elder.sister

- (5) káyú–sá kyóng–sá shezúm–re salom (5) 1P–GEN village–GEN association–DEF how
- ngún-det-bám (6) káyú-sá kyóng shezúm become-move-PRG (6) 1P-GEN village association

salom mát–shang ?ánum–sang–do tsum ma–tho–n how do–INF elder.brother–PL.H–self meet NEG–EXH–NEG

- (7) tsum ma-gát ?ákâ ?álóng káyú-do zúk-ká (7) meet NEG-must hand now 1P-self make-LOC
- (8) Polom gangne Pálóng Pánóm-do yâ ma (8) like.that if now elder.sister-self know AST
- (9) trút mát-ká le káyú suknyím-kát káyú (9) advise do-LOC REQ 1P day-one 1P

kyóng-sá gun-re-m lík-bán trút mát-ká village-GEN all-DEF-DAT call-after advise do-LOC

- (10) ngún ?ánóm ?olom gangne (11) sathá
- (10) become elder.sister like.that if (11) when
- lík–shang (12) tshâ–kati–ká lík gát–sho lyók call–INF (12) date–ten–LOC call must–NPR IFR
- (13) go lúkhróng-re lúng-sho lyók-?ám
- (13) 1s morning-DEF be.free-NPR IFR-PRG
- (14) tshâ–kati–ká–do tho–ká (15) ngún
- (14) date-ten-LOC-self put-LOC (15) become
- (16) káyú róngkup–sang–re–m salom mát–shang
- (16) 1P Lepcha-PL.H-DEF-DAT how do-INF
- (17) go lá shúlá lín ma–khu–n ma–yâ–n
- (17) 1s also nothing say NEG-be.able-NEG NEG-know-NEG
- Pánóm(18) thállúngtár–shang–sásung–kát–sáelder.sister(18) up.abovedevelop–INF–GENstory–one–GEN
- lá ma–nyí–n (19) linko–do ?ánóm ?ánóm also NEG–be–NEG (19) talk–self elder.sister elder.sister
- róngkup–sá vi–do ma–nyí–n lyók Lepcha–GEN blood–self NEG–be–NEG IFR
- (20) vi shúmátne ma–nyí–n káyú ryótkup (20) blood why NEG–be–NEG 1P orphan
- ma-go-n káyú-sá pano nyí (21) pano-sá NEG-be-NEG 1P-GEN king be (21) king-GEN
- ?ábryáng-reshúngúnpúkasu-m-nuname-DEFwhat becomePSB1S.OBL-DAT-ABL

?ore ma-yâ-n (22) hó gebú.?áchúk that NEG-know-NEG (22) 2s Gebú.?Áchúk

thyák ma-tho-ne (23) go thyák recognise NEG-EXH-NEG (23) 1S recognise

ma-tho-n-?ám (24) gebú.?áchúk-sá ?ábo-sá NEG-EXH-NEG-PRG (24) Gebú.?Áchúk-GEN father-GEN

?ábryáng?áprázáp?ámú-sá?áshekmítname?Áprázápmother-GEN?Áshekmít

Páshekmít–sá tagrikup–re gebú. Páchúk go ma PÁshekmít–GEN boy–DEF Gebú. Páchúk be AST

- (25) ?e (26) hó–nu dálíng dri kor–tho (25) ah (26) 2S–ABL Dálíng fort wander–EXH
- (27) go kor ma—tho—n ?ánóm (27) 1S wander NEG—EXH—NEG elder.sister
- (28) dámsáng dri kor–tho (29) go sabálá (28) Dámsáng fort wander–EXH (29) 1s everywhere

nóng ma-tho-n ?ácá (30) káyú-do go NEG-EXH-NEG still (30) 1P-self

dabling-kyóng-ká-lá gebú.?áchúk-sá dri nyí-?ám Dabling-village-LOC-also Gebú.?Áchúk-GEN fort be-PRG

- (31) sabá-do (32) sagór-ká ?ún-thík-lyáng (31) where-self (32) rock-LOC horse-tie-place
- (33) Pánóm hó kor hát–tho (34) go kor (33) elder.sister 2s wander lose–EXH (34) 1s wander

(35) go nóng ma-tho-n ?obálá (36) kám (35) 1S go NEG-EXH-NEG everywhere (36) little.bit

kor–shang lá mát le hó kyóng–ká wander–INF also do REQ 2s village–LOC

- (37) Pálóng go kor–sho Pánóm (37) now 1s wander–NPR elder.sister
- (38) kyóng–kyóng–ká shú ngún–bám kám ngâk (38) village–village–LOC what become–PRG little.bit see

gát káyú (39) ?álóng-re-nu go kor-sho must 1P (39) now-DEF-ABL 1S wander-NPR

?ánóm(40) róngkup–sang–sátrút–reguncáelder.sister(40) Lepcha–PL.H–GENadvise–DEFalljust

kat?áp ngún gát (41) káflík-nu zúk-shang káflík-nu alone become must (41) some-ABL make-INF some-ABL

ma-zúk-shang ?olom sákcíng ma-ngún kát-nu NEG-make-INF like.that think NEG-become one-ABL

Páthong hrúp gang gun—nu hrúp gát leg pick.up if all—ABL pick.up must

- (42) ?ánóm go ma–khu–n–sho lyók–?ám
 (42) elder.sister 1s NEG–be.able–NEG–NPR IFR–PRG
- (43) hó ma–khu–n li–nu ma–ngún(43) 2s NEG–be.able–NEG say–ABL NEG–become

(44) hó róng yángne lúmkup (45) go róng go

(44) 2s Lepcha or Nepali (45) 1s Lepcha be

róngkup-do (46) ?ádo-sá kúmíng shú Lepcha-self (46) 2S-GEN appellation what

- (47) kasu–sá ?á?itámít róngkup (47) 1S.OBL–GEN ?Á?itámít Lepcha
- (48) hó róngkup shúmatne pi róngkup ma-go-n gang (48) 2s Lepcha why write Lepcha NEG-be-NEG if
- (49) ?ánóm–sá kúmíng shú gó (49) elder.sister–GEN appellation what Q
- (50) kasu–sá ?óngmít róngkup (50) 1s.OBL–GEN ?Óngmít Lepcha
- (51) ?ánóm–sá kúmíng go saróng–do thyo–ma (51) elder.sister–GEN appellation 1s today–self hear–AST
- (52) hó–nu kasu–sá kúmíng saróng–do yâm–bú (52) 2S–ABL 1S.OBL–GEN appellation today–self know–FCT
- hó ?ácálá gek gát róng máyel sukdum–ká 2s still be.born must Lepcha Máyel world–LOC
- (53) káyú ?álóng ?álom bám–nu ma–ngún (53)1P now like.that reside–ABL NEG–become
- (54) kyóng–ká ngâk gát róngkup–sang sabá–sabá (54) village–LOC look must Lepcha–PL.H where–where
- tsóm–?ám sabá brám–?ám (55) ?álóng hó go limit–PRG where stray–PRG (55) now 2s 1s

ma-yâ-n li-nu ma-lí-n (56) káyú NEG-know-NEG say-ABL NEG-say-NEG (56) 1P

kor–nu lóm–nu róngkup–sá sáktsum tyâng–sá wander–ABL walk–ABL Lepcha–GEN thought whole–GEN

thyák-ká ?ámú-sá dúnggít-lá tsum-ká recognise-LOC mother-GEN tradition-also meet-LOC

?ábryángma-kyól-ne-ká(57) káyúróngkup-renameNEG-blend-NEG-LOC(57) 1PLepcha-DEF

sabá-nu ?ít (58) cú-nu (59) hó where-ABL create (58) mountain.peak-ABL (59) 2s

thyák–?ám (60) ?ore go ?ámú–bo–nu recognise–PRG (60) that 1S mother–father–ABL

kám–kám dun–?ám–tho–nu li–ma little.bit–little.bit tell–PRG–EXH–ABL say–AST

- (61) káyú róngkup–sá tân–ká álom zúk–nu (61) 1P Lepcha–GEN behalf–LOC like.this make–ABL
- ?áryúm ngún–nu (62) káyú tyâng gun kyóng–kágood become–ABL (62) 1P whole all village–LOC

kor–ká (63) ngún ?ánóm kor–ká ?álóng wander–LOC (63) become elder.sister wander–LOC now

- (1) "Khámrimó, khámri, please come over here for a minute, sister."
- (2) "Khámrí, sister, khámrimó, sister." (3) "Since we're here now, let's talk about our village for a bit." (4) "What's on your mind, sister?" (5) "How is our village association coming along? (6) "How is our village association coming along? We've still not met up with our

brothers." (7) "We don't have to get together with them, let's arrange things ourselves." (8) "Well, we could, I suppose, you do know about such things." (9) "Let's set up a meeting and get the whole village together to discuss things." (10) "All right sister, let's do that." (11) "When shall we have the meeting?" (12) "We should probably have it on the tenth." (13) "I will be free that morning." (14) "Let's set it for the tenth then." (15) "All right." (16) "What can we do for our Lepcha people?" (17) "I really couldn't say, sister, I don't know." (18) "I don't really know any success stories." (19) "That's right sister, it's almost as if there is no Lepcha spirit anymore." (20) "Why do you put it like that? It's not as if we are orphans, after all we have a king." (21) "And what is the name of this king? I don't know it." (22) "Do you not know king Gebú ?Áchúk?" (23) "I don't." (24) "Gebú ?Áchúk's father's name is ?Áprázáp, his mother's name is ?Áshekmít, so ?Áshekmít's son is Gebú ?Áchúk." (25) "I see." (26) "Have you been to Dálíng fort?" (27) "I haven't been there, sister." (28) "Have you been to Dámsáng fort?" (28) "I've not been anywhere yet." (30) "Here in our village, in Dabling, there is also a fort of Gebú ?Áchúk's." (31) "But where?" (32) "By the rocks, where they tie up the horses." (33) "Have you been there, sister?" (34) "I have." (35) "I have not been to any of these places." (36) "You should walk around a bit more in our village." (37) "Let's do that right now, sister." (38) "We should to go to all the villages to see what is going on." (39) "I'll go and look around right away, sister." (40) "When we have the meeting with all the Lepcha people, all of us have to become as one. (41) Some of us are doing things, others are not doing anything. We should not think this way. If one of us makes an effort, we should all ioin in." (42) "I don't think I will be able to do anything much, sister." (43) "It's not right to say that you can't do anything. (44) Are you Lepcha or Nepali?" (45) "I am Lepcha, of course." (46) "What is your name?" (47) "It is ?Á?itámít Lepcha." (48) "Why do you call yourself Lepcha when you are not truly a Lepcha?" (49) "What is your name, sister?" (50) "Mine is ?Óngmít Lepcha." (51) "I had not heard your name before, sister." (52) "You've only just learnt my name? You must feel as if you are reborn into the Lepcha Máyel world. (53) The way we're living isn't right. (54) We should look around the villages to see where all the Lepcha people are and find out if they are feeling lost. (55) From now on, you shouldn't say "I don't know", anymore. (56) Let's walk around, so that we become

aware of all the thoughts of the Lepcha people and of the traditions of our parents, let's not get the names of things mixed up again. (57) Where do we Lepcha originally come from?" (58) "From the snowy peaks." (59) "You know it already!" (60) "I only said that because my parents told me a little bit about it." (61) "It would be good if we did things like that for the benefit of the Lepcha people as well." (62) "Let's walk over to all the villages." (63) "Yes, sister, let's do that straight away."

GLOSSARY

This glossary lists the Lepcha words used in examples and texts in this grammar. The entries are listed by their initial consonants, according to the following order: $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ k, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ kh, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$, kr, $\boldsymbol{\tau}$ kl, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ g, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ gl, $\boldsymbol{\tau}$ ng, \boldsymbol{v} c, \boldsymbol{x} ch, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ j, \boldsymbol{z} ny, \boldsymbol{v} t, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$, tr, \boldsymbol{v} th, \boldsymbol{v} , thr, \boldsymbol{z} d, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$, dr, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ n, \boldsymbol{z} p, \boldsymbol{z} pl, \boldsymbol{z} ph, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ f, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ fl, \boldsymbol{o} b, \boldsymbol{v} bl, \boldsymbol{z} m, \boldsymbol{z} ml, \boldsymbol{z} ts, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ tsh, \boldsymbol{z} z, \boldsymbol{z} y, \boldsymbol{r} r, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ l, \boldsymbol{z} hl, \boldsymbol{o} v, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ sh, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ s, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ w, \boldsymbol{z} ?, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ - $\hat{\boldsymbol{a}}$, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ -a, \boldsymbol{s} $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ -i, \boldsymbol{s} -i, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ -o, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$

₹ k-

₹ kâ v. cook

₹ kât v. order, command

€€\ kaku num. eight

€(€, kakyók num. seven

€€v kakyót num. nine

€¾ kacer n. wheat

स्रुं kajóm n. finger

εσζ kajú n. dog

દ્રજો kajútâng n. fat male dog

€& katáp n. fist

€j≈ kati num. ten

Esi katyám n. muscle of the arm

Esp kathi n. little finger

₹(‡ kadóm n. thumb

€(0) kábu v. carry

Enter katshóng adv. day after tomorrow

ϵ(ŧ kayók n. fingertip

EK kayóng n. middle finger

€∫ỗ kalít n. ring finger

₹ kalók n. rat, mouse

€ the kalyók n. palm of hand

E(X) káchám adv. in three days time, after three days

Ex káchót adv. in four days time, after four days

द्ध káta?yen adv. three years ago

€(Još káflík adj. some

ειισ∓ι⊃ káwodámpú n. wooden pillar

€(kát num. one

 $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_1) \sim \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_1) \sim \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_1) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_2) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_1) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_2) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_2) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_1) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_2) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_1) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_2) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_2) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_1) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_2) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_2) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_1) \times \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}_2) \times \mathcal{Z}$

E(kán v. pulverise, reduce to powder

∫ ki n. thread

∫ *i* v. claim, demand, assert

Seso, kibri v. twist, wind threads together

∫€∫ kiríl v. roll thread into a ball

Se kiyâp v. stitch together, quilt

5€ kít v. snatch

(*₹ kor* v. wander, stroll

€ kol n. box

æ kó n. order

t kók v. fence in

& kón n. taste

₹ kón n. side

€ kón v. let, allow

«€ kóng n. branch

(₹ kóm n. money

(₹ kóm v. curdle, congeal

€) ku v. urge, impel

پن kup n. child, small

ξγκζ kumdúng adj. other

جّر kumthyóng n. kite

kursóng adj. bright

نچ kúng n. tree

κύngbóng n. tree stump

€35₹ kúmíng n. appellation, name

🖨 kúl v. encircle, surround

₹ ke v. try, attempt

نجر kyáng v. freeze

€ kyok v. churn butter

رج، kyóng n. village

æ kyón v. suffer

κyóp v. lock

GLOSSARY 191

(È, kyól v. blend, mix, confuse

ις kh-

ζ(khá num. score

ζ(khák v. choke

Ö() khámrí sal. greeting

ÖGF khámrímó sal. greeting (more respectful than khámrí)

 $cy \sim \overline{c}y khu \sim khut v$. be able to

κη khú n. loaf of bread

\$\overline{c}khek v. freeze

🕉 khyâ v. arrive

ω khyú v. bathe

5 kl-

5 kla v. cleave

5(N) klánlá adj. resembling

秀 klít v. polish, rub

15 klo adj. straightforward

رج klóng v. send

 $53 \sim 53 \; kl \acute{u} \sim kl \acute{u} m \; v. \; fall$

½ klek v. force, urge

รับ klyam v. be sweet

₹ kr-

∫₹ krít n. hunger

κτό v. slice

É krón v. scratch

په kryóng v. praise

ω g-

& gâ v. resist

sw gang conj. if

owo gangne conj. if

swor ganglá even if

& gát v. must, need, require

👸 gán adj. old, aged ຜິເຈົ້ gánlât n. oldness, old age ധ്ര go pron. I ധ്ര *go* v. be (60) gorúng conj. either (wo 300 gorúnglá conj. although, even ϖ $g\acute{o}$ v. be happy, rejoice, be glad wy gun all, every wy gum v. to be $\omega_3 - g\acute{u}$ sf. female animal that has given birth ώ gek v. be born అన్న gek-lát n. birth దుదుక్క gyagármú n. Indian (w gyó num. one hundred رت gyó v. quarrel ωζ gyú n. skill, experience (y gye v. win, gain the victory

₩ gl-

 $5 \approx gli$ adj. distinct $\approx gli$ v. kindle, set fire to $\approx 3 \approx 3 gli \sim gli$ v. fall down $\approx gli$ v. sag, drop, decline, suspend (also spelt $\approx gli$)

7 ng-

ች ngâk v. look, observe
ኝ(ngán v. remain, sit
ኝ(፮ ngánshet n. seat
ኝ(ngár v. slice
ና ngol adv. early
ና ngók v. grind
ንን ngú n. fish
ንን ngút v. cut, sever or divide with a knife
ኝን ngún v. become, happen, occur

GLOSSARY 193

• C-

so cang v. foster, nourish o cá adv. just, a moment ago ιος cáng v. cross river οιος cánáp adv. last night ¿ cáp v. thatch οιοι cábá adv. some time ago ö cám v. wink out cálóng adv. just now, just a moment ago 55 ci n. cí, fermented grain liquor ∫ỡ cí v. dry meat or fish in the sun ∫ỡ cí v. tread, tremble upon *5*[₹] *cík* v. weigh so cíng v. think *f*ã *cít* v. split wood or bamboo $\int \delta cip v$. drain of liquids (⋄ co n. tea (o co v. mend (o cot v. assist, help (ö com v. oppress (*value col value col val* «v cóng v. wash ιτο cóng v. be quick (ö cóm v. leave, depart (₹ cór v. be sour, be acid oy cu adj. small, little oj žy cukup a little bit *sy cup* v. restrain ολ cú n. the snowy range, the Himalayas δι cúk n. kiss -cúng young of bulls δι cút v. rise of dough ø ce n. love 𝓢६⁄द्र cechók adj. loveable ocor cewo n. crore ¿ cek v. hew, cut down ₹ cet v. thrust, stab, pierce *cep* v. bore, pierce

 $\sqrt[8]{cer}$ v. be lazy $\sqrt[8]{cer}$ v. milk

x ch-

x(√* chádóng n. war, battle

x() chárí n. letter

∫x chí n. example, model

(∡ cho n. book

(∡ -cho sf. best, greatest

(≾(€ choko n. paper

(x(\varepsilon chokóng n. offering of dough rice

(xie) chokúng n. brass lamp

(xό) chochúk v. copy, transcribe, reproduce

(xw) chogyú n. lesson

(x chotân n. essence of religion

(A) choten n. chörten, monument, memorial

(xx chodám n. book binding

(xöz chobúm n. sacred scriptures of Buddhism

(x) chomí n. religious lamp or light

(メ(さ chotsóm n. altar

(ze choyântân n. education

(χέ) choyuk n. literature

(x) cholí n. school

(xi) cholep n. leaf of a book

α chó v. unite, join

(x chó n. even number, pair, couple

党的 chómtun n. friendship

ca chór v. pour

(In the cholung nongshang v. multiply

χ chú n. strength, courage

Δ3 chú n. cheese

*έ*β -chúk sf. most, worthy

xλιε chúko n. energy, force

Δζζζ chúpí n. sulphur

∡งฮี chútsât n. hour

chúsung n. crocodile

₹ chet v. relate

🕱 chet n. need, want, lack, demand, necessity

oj-

 $\tilde{\ddot{\sigma}}$ jâl v. dry over fire

ớς ják v. itch

ισι jáng adj. stiff

ö (jám v. assemble

∫ỡ jí v. annoy, disturb

Jỡ jí n. filth

So ~ So jí ~ jít v. sift

(* jók v. talk, speak

ισ jóng v. memorise

(कँ $j\acute{o}p$ v. flatten, make or become flat

σζ jú v. live, burn

& jek v. bud

👸 jen adj. other

& jer n. gold

👸 jel v. understand, know a language, speak a language

₹ ny-

έ(nyák v. exceed

ົງຮູເຜັ nyilop n. earlobe

∫₹ nyí v. to be

5₹ nyín n. milk

≈ nyó n. odd number

★ nyók v. delay

★ nyók v. cause to quiver, shake

≈ nyót n. field

(₹ nyóm v. smell

₺\ nyuk v. grind

x nyum n. pair

×ζωζ nyúgú n. pen

≋ັຽງສ nyúrpang adj. deaf

🕏 nyet num. two

nyet v. show, demonstrate

🕏 nyen v. listen

e t-

tân n. cause, reason, behalf ફેં¢ tândók n. cause, reason, behalf 🔞 -tâng sf. corpulent male animal, pig or dog ¿ ta v. bear, endure **ewy** ta?ayu n. woman **ξ**οι tabá adv. up there, there above (also spelt **ξ**ιοι tábá) ఇదే tabók n. abdomen, stomach, belly, womb ≥(* tado pron. oneself શું tagrí n. man త్పుడ్ప tagrikup n. boy રહ્યું tagryú n. cheek * tarók num. six ≷ర్ tatsât n. time, period of time કાઈ ત્થિ talon kón adv. in the direction there above કાઉં talol adv. up above there ະເທີ talemkón adv. above there, in that direction (also spelt ເເຊັ tálemkón) en sky, heaven N(¥ talyádâ n. sea, ocean શ્રુપા tahyut n. whistle عن tasó adv. yesterday, sometimes shortened to الس só **₹&y** ta?yu n. girl ຈອງຮຸ້ງ *ta?yukup* n. daughter 💸 ta?yen adv. last year s) ta?i n. flour, meal, powder (tá-pf. up there (also spelt ta-) ري táng n. bundle « tángko n. basket อแจ๊ tálom adv. like that there above in tállyáng n. highland ∫e ti num. zero s tíng v. separate ศรา tíngmú n. plainsman § tít v. flee Tit-rekúng n. tamarind tree 類文 tít-repót n. tamarind fruit j tím adj. big

197 **GLOSSARY**

```
fär timre n. respect
(ই tóm n. speech
(§ tór n. silk
e) ~ §) tu ~ tut v. wash, cleanse
sy tuk v. cover, protect
න්ල් tuknóm n. nose
နှံ႔နှံ့ tukfyíl n. ant
න්තු tukpát n. knee
ອ່ງເສ tukpo n. rope
క్స్ స్ట్ tukpókúng n. peach tree
క్స్స్ tukpópót n. peach
(अ)¥ tungder n. cockroach
প্রেক্তি tunghrók num. thousand
```

when tungvyeng n. door

ફર્મ tú pron. who

which the state of the state of

₹ *túdo* pron. anybody, anyone

εγωι túlá pron. everyone, someone, anyone, whoever

was tet v. touch, aim

🧸 -tet sf. until, up to (also spelt 🔊 tyet or 🔊 tyat)

ه، tyâng all, whole

a tyât v. cut down, hew down

& tyak v. tread

si tyal v. fell (also spelt \& tel)

(s) tyók v. cut

(S) tyóng v. hide

(\$\frac{1}{8}\text{ty\(delta}l\) n. friend

wy tyu v. subdue, defeat

siy tyul v. fall

કંપ tyúk v. kick

क्रि tyút n. scar

5 tr-

夏 trát v. tear

SEZ trínchen n. kindness

হৈ§ trókchí thank you

(tróp v. winnow

ਵੱ} trút v. advise

🕤 tre n. mule

الم th-

العرون به thangkú n. tobacco هر thá v. chew, eat s thák v. be complete, sufficient ៉(thám n. thing, object స్ట్ thámcâng n. animal နှံ(ဂျိန် thámbík n. insect స్ట్యం thámbóng n. plant ью thámbu n. worm స్ఫ *thámpót* n. fruit پَّرْيُرُمْ thámlí n. seed နှံ(နှံ, thámvyet n. question **႓**(tháp v. put **\$**(thál adv. up above ∫ ~ ∫ thi ~ thít v. reach i thík v. tie Josephikúng n. great grandfather (ト~(声 tho~thóm v. put (thok v. close رة thóng v. drink ্ৰেটে thongjóm n. toe ്യം thongpyól n. footprint (১৯) thongtung n. heel (Fig thóngshet adj. drinkable (sthop v. get (also spelt & thúp) (\$\hat{\psi} thol \text{ adj. near (E thór v. escape ig thúk n. season theng v. sing ب thep adj. extra, additional, successive స్త్రీన్నా స్త్రీన్నా theppa theppa adv. successively

Söz therbúm num. billion sự thyák v. recognise, identify sự thyáktuk n. hat, cap sứ thyákdám n. scalp

By thyen v. laugh

GLOSSARY 199

un thr-

) អ្នក thri n. throne) អ៊ី thrim n. law ម្យើ throm n. town, market ម្យើ អ៊ី thrókthrik num. ten billion

∗ d-

₹ dâ n. lake ₹≒ dâpúk n. shore Find dâlyáng n. island *ş*∓ dâng v. run ₹ dâl v. germinate, sprout **★**(dá v. sleep, rest **≭**((> dátho n. almanac **♯**(dáp v. cover *∓*(dám v. tie, bind $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \sim \int_{\mathbb{R}} di \sim dit \text{ v. come, approach}$ §∓ díng v. stand (* do pron. self (*ندر dodosá adj. personal, of ones own (★ do v. collect, gather together, assemble (* dok v. be ill(* dop v. burn (≰ dó v. announce, make known *(*‡ *dók* v. keep «≉ dóng v. search, seek **★**) du n. disease *⁴y dun* v. tell, narrate, say **₹ywy** dunlu n. remark

🖏 duntrók n. week

३५४३ dutmúng n. demon ∓y dum n. cloth **≠3** dú n. umbrella *3 ~ *3 dú ~ dún v. dig *‡3 dúk* v. be alike نَّلِي dúnggít n. tradition ¥3 dúm v. be white *★ de* v. destroy n. resurrection $\frac{3}{4}$ dek v. break $\hat{\vec{\xi}}$ det v. move $\hat{\vec{\xi}}$ dep sf. together, along with *₹ dem* n. dress (*ν((*) dyángtung n. heel κνι dyângpak n. knee κνι(dyángpók n. calf Avica dyánglyók n. sole of foot *v) ~ *v) dyu ~ dyut v. argue

w dr-

i drâm adv. quick
i drám v. break
i drám v. break down
i dri n. fort, palace
i drí v. wind, roll or coil thread
i dríp v. confine
i dróp n. moment
i dre n. demon
i dret v. push
i dryák v. pursue, chase
i dryándo adv. equal to

On-

กัญ nâlá adv. always ผลึง nalón adv. last ผลึ navár n. boat ผ กá v. take GLOSSARY 201

of nahán adv. before

ö nám n. year

ö((₹ námkor n. cycle of twelve years

స్రెస్స్ námnám adv. yearly

សំ(និវុ nápmún n. evening

ở (T nápzâ n. dusk

A náp-lúk n. day and night, morning and evening

ත් nók v. push

ี่ก็ดั้ nók-lât n. blackness

nóng v. go

nóng adv. inside

הא nómleng n. young girl

ന്റ് nól n. skin

ŋ ~ ŋ nu ~ nut v. suck

ລັງວາ *numnu* n. brothers

ວັງວັເເຮັ numtsám nyóm n. leap month

த் nup v. flood

ລັງ núl v. crush, knead

⊅ p-

 \mathfrak{Z} $p\hat{a}$ n. incense

ว็สง pâtmú n. Tibetan

⊅% pacák adv. almost

אנא patung n. shoulder

And pano n. king

π(pá v. beckon, signal

ã(pár v. buy

∫ pi v. write

∫5 pík v. purify

∫3 pín v. brush, brush off

⇔ po n. bamboo

און pung n. mound, heap

Iyo punjeng n. iron

วังเริง punthyóng n. eagle

รัง(¥ punzók n. forest

ສັງ pup v. cover

₹ pe n. grass

⇒ pe v. agree

202

¬ pe- adv. over there (also spelt)¬ pí-)
¬ s pefi pron. there (near)
¬ o pebá pron. there
¬ petet adv. up to that place over there
¬ pepe adv. that there, yonder
¬ peme adv. there, down there
¬ pere adv. that over there (also spelt)¬ pyir, ¬ yy pyur)
¬ (¬ pelom adv. in that manner
¬ (¬ pelom adv. like that
¬ pelom adv. like that
¬ pel v. be tired
¬ prâ n. cut bamboo
(¬¬ promú n. Bhutanese
¬ prú pryá n. hymn
¬ po pryá v. describe, give an account of something

ph-

京 phám v. defeat ラ phi v. wash of utensils ラ phi v. wash of utensils ラ phi v. be distant ロ pho n. time, turn ラ phu v. offer, sacrifice ラ phet adv. half ロ phyá v. disjoin ロ phyok v. sweep ロ phyok v. sweep ロ phyok v. hatch ラ phyuk v. be rich

≃ pl-

 $\approx pl\hat{a}$ v. come forth, come out, rise \doteq ($pl\hat{a}k$ v. break \leq $pl\hat{a}$ v. deny \leq $ply\hat{a}$ v. produce, bring forward

€ f-

క్రో fâtyók n. pot *∉ fâk* v. scrape ธรุง fangú num. five € for fali num. four sign faleng n. young boy s (fá v. swim క్ (fát n. earth క్ (fát v. lose **g**(fán v. burn €(fár v. rust ∫ *fík* v. tear, pull apart € fo n. bird (5 fo n. tooth (also xus ?áfo) ుక్రాయ్ fogóm n. molar (కక్షే fonyel n. gums (€ # fozâl n. incisor ι**ξ**ικη folún n. wisdom tooth É fók adv. throughout € fók v. pierce, stab s fót v. taste is fungfing adj. blue (5) fyo n. brass fyu n. pot sy fyek v. sharpen

ofl-

 \mathfrak{S} $fl\hat{a}$ v. narrate, describe $f\mathfrak{S} \sim f\mathfrak{S}$ $fl\hat{i} \sim fl\hat{i}m$ v. divide, separate $f\mathfrak{S}$ $fl\hat{i}k$ adv. apart, aside $f\mathfrak{S}$ $fl\hat{i}k$ v. separate, cleave $fl\hat{i}k$ v. peel, peel off skin or bark flet v. wash ones face

ob-

 δ bâk v. weed

O(F báhó n. storage, store room

ιοι báng v.break, cut, chop wood or bamboo in short pieces

ιοι -báng num.half of

ö (bám v. dwell, stay, reside

Ö (bámlyáng n.homeland, residence

& bán n. knife

¿ bán adv. after

διξη bánkup n. small knife

O(#(bázá n. hour

ô bál v. repeat

 $\int_0^\infty - \int_0^\infty bi - bin \text{ v. give}$

so bi n. curry

jous bifong n. green leafy vegetable

∫ỗ bík n. cow

ίδως bíkgú n. cow

Jõio bíkbo n. bull, steer

Jõm biklóng n. ox

jõnto biklóngbop n. bullock, castrated male bovine

Jonath biklóngcúng n. young bull

55 bîl v. fold of cloth or paper

(O(o bojo n. grandfather

ö -bom sf. brooding female animal

orange

 $(o \sim 6 bo \sim b \acute{o} n \text{ v. give})$

& -bop sf. young of bulls

oy bu n. snake, worm

oy bu v. carry

 $o_1 -bu$ sf. male of animals

by buk v. hit, strike, thresh

oy bun v. carry

ôy bul v. scrape

ö

β búm num. lakh

öկ búmtsho num. lakh

δί búr v. flower, bloom

ος búl v. boil over

ος byám v. keep, leave behind

δη byúp v. parch, dry in fire

ön brám v. stray, deviate, roam, be lost

50, bri n. marriage, union

5 bret v. separate, divide

o bl-

οι blá v. take

60 -bo sf. father, uncastrated male parent animal

(t) blók v. separate the outer and inner part of bamboo or cane

🐧 blen v. be full, be filled up

る m-

₹ mân n. meat

なで maró n. man

र má v. hide, conceal from sight

ξι mák v. die

ະເພງ mán-gú n. sow

る(mát v. do

รีแด๊ mátlóm n. conduct, act of conducting, guidance

รีเญ mátlu n. habit, custom

∫z mi n. fire

57 -mi sf. female animal that has not had young

ြို့ *míktráp* n. sleep

รัช *míkcóm* n. eyelash, eyebrow

rikgrúng n. tear

The state of the s

Jana mikmyóng n. eyelid

∰ míl adv. down

(₹ món n. medicine

(₹ món n. pig, boar

ৰেই móntâng n. fat boar

(no mónbo n. boar, uncastrated male of swine

เรื่อง *mónbu* n. boar

สิริส mónmi n. fallow sow

เรื่อ mónmót n. sow

(รื่อง móntsu n. boar, uncastrated boar

(Fig. mónsháng n. barren sow

₹ -mót sf. female of animals

னு múng n. devil

รังจา munjú n. grandmother

すいで *muró* n. man

হ্যু muzu n. body

z me- adv. down there

zo(mebá adv. there below

zis mebí adv. there below (less distant than zo(mebá)

zis melon adv. in that direction down there

zis melom adv. like that down there

zi mere adv. that down there

zi myák v. kill

(z̄v myók n. son in law

«z̄v myóng v. experience

(z̄v myón v. forget

₹ ml-

τη mlú n. utensil, implement της mlyá adj. level, even της mlyúk adj. lukewarm, tepid

T ts-

ö (tsám v. hold (🛱 tsóm v. limit টেন্ডে tsómcúng n. pigtail 赏養 tsómtrat n. comb 遺跡 tsómrík n. ribbon ස්ග tsómbleng n. single hair v. squeeze ση -tsu sf. male of pigs and goats ວ່າງໂພ tsukgi n. afternoon ວ່າ ຊຶ່ tsukkyer n. west ర్పళ్ళ tsukkyer n. sunset, west ວັງດັ tsuk-lát n. sunrise, east ரு tsugyer n. clock ວ່າທ tsuknáng n. midday ช่านี้ tsukzán n. early morning, when sun is completely visible itsung v. save up تن tsum v. meet ຽງ tsur v. radiate, gleam

ຽງຮັງ tsurtsur n. twinkle

tsúk v. bite

به tsh عن

w tshâ n. date
w tshâlum n. orange
w tshó v. aim
w tshóng n. goods
w tshóng v. complete
w tshukpót n. word

₩ Z-

zâ v. err

• t zang adj. like

t(zá n. circle

t(€ záko n. planet

t(∮ záti n. nutmeg

t(∮ záti n. nutmeg

t(∮ zo v. eat, food, rice

t zok v. trickle, flow

t y zorí n. fragrant rice

t zók v. strike

t jók v. strike

t jók v. graze

t júk v. make

t jó zúkthup adj. manageable

t jő zúkthup adj. manageable

€ y-

 $\mathfrak{F} \sim \mathfrak{F} y \hat{a} \sim y \hat{a} m$ know, know how to $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{F} y \hat{a} n t h \acute{o} n.$ school so yang conj. thus $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{F} y \hat{a} n g n e)$ conj. or, either $\mathfrak{F}(y \acute{a} p v.$ grope $\mathfrak{F}(y \acute{a} p v.$ grope $\mathfrak{F}(y \acute{a} p v.$ n. top, summit $\mathfrak{F}(y \acute{a} p v.$ n. row $\mathfrak{F}(y \acute{a} p v.$ n. yak

Ey yu v. descend Ey yuk n. letter Ey \sim Ey \sim Ey yupthen \sim yuptho n. moment Eyet v. descend Eyel v. know a language

y r-

من من من من rangsâ ~ rangsâr adj. other r rá v. hunt *f* (rák v. search, examine rám n. thunder ỹ rí n. smell, scent, fragrance, odour ົງກຽວງົ້ ribiríp n. ribiplant, Calamus latifolius "ríp n. flower, blossom, flowering plant ro v. fear of rok v. read, study «ℱ róng n. Lepcha róng v. wait Fif róngjing adv. daily ru n. cane ரைக்குரு rungnyít ?úngmú n. main stream of Rungnyít river 730(rúbá n. tortoise ກັງ rum n. god ຽງ¾(rumdár n. god rel v. separate maize from the cob rel adv. each 🕏 ren adv. since 🐔 renjóng n. Sikkim รึ่งเซาสุ renjóngmú n. Sikkimese τν ryák v. follow าห ryú v. be good าหูณ ryúlá adv. well

w 1-

is lâm v. flyis lang n. stone

รหุ ryúm n. needle

```
ຈຸດເຈົ້າ langklyók n. big flat stone
ເຈນ໌ laháp n. cave
```

ιί lá adv. also, even

K lát v. return

🐧 láp v. bury

NG lávo n. moon

 $\int \infty \sim \int \sqrt[3]{n} \, li \sim lin \, v. \, say, \, speak$

∫ li v. carry

jõ lí n. house

jõi lík v. call

jo (€ línko n. speech, statement

jõų línshet n. speech

∫ỗ lít v. sift

(lo v. dry, spread out to dry in the sun of corn or grain

(lok v. dance

(lon in this direction

(lol v. bend, turn

 $\ {\mathfrak w}\ l\acute{o}$ n. wage, pay

κων lók v. damage, injure, harm

« lóng n. ox, steer

and lóngbo n. bull

ιτως lóngcúng n. young bull

เพื่ lón lead, command

微 lóm sf. via, through, n. road, way, v. walk

₩ lót v. repeat

wso lótbi v. give back

არ lótthi v. come back again

No lóttho v. put again

NHJ lótzúk v. remake

N ~ N lú ~ lúm v. rise

ώς lúk v. get up, rise

👸 lúk n. sheep

is lúk-hróng n. morning

งงุริเ lúk?ál n. tomorrow

ing v. take

wy lúng n. leisure, v. be free, have free time

เหารู๊ lúngtár v. develop, n. development

งงรุง lúngten n. tradition

ເທິ່ງ¥ lúngdi v. bring

210

white lúngnóng v. take, take away

ത്യുട്ട് lúmkup n. Nepali, person from Nepal

N lút v. skin, strip or deprive of skin, remove cover

§ len adv. than, compared to

ö lem sf. direction

i lel v. complete

₩ lyâ v. accept

(Nyáng n. land

tyók v. resemble, look like

tyók v. turn, divert, reverse

w lyót v. free

ω lyú v. erect

₩ lyem v. play

₩ h-

ψ(há v. scrape, skim

tí hák v. carve in wood or stone

ง hánlon adv. not simultaneously (literally before and after)

F(hát v. lose, leave behind

ψ̃(háp v. shut

∫ *hík* n. chicken

Jɨ(ö híkbom n. female hen having chickens

J\$\dip v. shave, scrape

not hong adj. hollow

ψ) hu pron. he, she

ψy hu n. bee

if heng n. ginger

v. hurt, harm

\$ hel v. fill

(if hyol v. mix, blend

เร็ง hyóp v. accompany

ษง hyu v. purify

ห์ง hyúl v. swallow

நீ (hráp v. sew

∫ัฟ hrík v. tear

ეყიდ *hritsho* num. myriad

(H hro v. come up

(F) hróng v. come up, arrive from a lower place or region

ស្វី hrún adj. hot, warm, spicy

ស្នំ hrúp v. pick up

hreng v. dry wood, meat or vegetables in the sun

τη hryá v. pull

ψ, hryám v. jerk

(ψ, hryóp v. cry

x hl-

κι hláng v. harden, as yams

% hláp v. learn

Kuto hlápjóng v. memorise

(x hlo n. hill, peak

⟨x hlok v. break, as eggs

x hleng v. cough

v. help

χ̈ν(hlyám v. shake, quiver

e v-

 $\mathfrak{F} \sim \mathfrak{F} v\hat{a} \sim v\hat{a}m$ v. chant, sing

 $\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}$ vâm n. song

ec vá v. throw, hurl, fling

& ván v. enter

Jo vi n. blood

∫6[₹] vimân n. kin, offspring, relatives (literally flesh and blood)

∫ỗ vík n. soldier

(ö vóm n. salt

Sy vyet v. ask, inquire

& sh-

🕹 shâk n. louse

دور sháng n. firewood

دور -sháng sf. barren, sterile

ະເງິເລ shángdri n. twig

∫e ~ ∫e shi ~ shim v. see

sk shing adj. drunk

🕉 shíng n. garden

```
$\tilde{\mathbb{E}} \shi\tilde{l} \tilde{n}. \text{ from the shol n. fox } $\tilde{\mathbb{E}} \shi\tilde{l} \text{ n. fox } $\tilde{\mathbb{E}} \shi\tilde{l} \text{ shol v. scatter } $\tilde{\mathbb{E}} \tilde{\mathbb{E}} \tilde{\mathbb{E}
```

Cw S-

```
sâm n. mind ستی
w∉ saka n. deer
w εωζ sakagú n. doe, female deer
wez sakamót n. female deer, doe
שבטן sakatsu n. buck, stag
نسنه( sacák n. leopard
who sagi n. power, strength
ლ sagór n. cliff
ധത്യ sagrám adv. below
دسن sagrek n. throat, intestines
שייץ sangúng n. lizard
ເພງໂຮ້ (ເພາເດັ) sanyí sonáp adv. day and night
wifæ sanyí n.day, daytime (also spelt سنبة sanyím or شرائت suknyím)
్స్ ఫ్లా స్ట్ స్ట్ sanyím phet ~ nyímphet adv. midday
satet pron. how much, how many
wo sathá pron. when, at what time
رساه(۱۵) sathálá adv. always
sathang n. tiger مروس
سم sadu adv. slowly
ω¥ sader n. thunder
ωξής sadermi n. gun (literally thunder-fire)
ເພດ saná n. bear
เมเติ sanóng n. snow
ພາເກື່ອງ sanóngjum n. snow flake
```

```
เมา safyu n. garlic
ເພຣັກ safyum n. breeze
رس٥( sabá pron. where
دس٥(١٥) sabálá pron. everywhere
ლგა sabur n. musk deer
ωδιωζ saburgú n. female musk deer
ლმერა saburlóng n. musk deer
ເມື່ອເຊີ samálkúng n. toon tree, Cedrela toona
watsuk n. sun
(w) sare pron. which
wif saróng adv. today
wis salem adv. in what direction, whither, where
اس salol adv which way, in which direction, whither
دسرن salom adv. how, like what
دررة salomlá adv. anyhow, anyway
with sahu n. monkey
wiso saving n. stag
wissim savinglong n. stag
دس ( sa?ár n. goat
ເມຣີເພງ sa?árgú n. female goat
ເມຣີ(ບາ) sa?ártsu n. goat, billy goat
ωών sa?yák n. day, day and night
sák n. mind) سن
cúcso sákcing v. think
ယ်(ှို့ sáknyín v. recollect
رِسْ(∫* sákdi v. feel
ເພ່(ວັງ sáktsum n. thought
نتر sám num. three
پر (بختر sáryók n. jackal
(w so n. rain
(cus so num. one hundred
(دسرُّن sonáp n. night, night-time
(ເພ<sub>າ</sub>ດໍເຈັ sonápphet n. midnight
(ביילאי somyáng n. rainy season
נשיש somyer n. dusk
(wif sozóng n. winter, cold, v. be cold
(we soyá num. million
(was solá n. twilight
(سرس sosá n. dry season
```

رسر(تس sosóng n. dawn (سانسانه sosotsho num. billion (cw(cw) sosotshúr num. ten billion (Cu)(Cu)E(sosoyá num. hundred billion (ພຣື້ so?âm n. summer تس só adv. yesterday sósó adv. lately ساسی sót v. kill س تن sóm v. breathe wy su v. contain دس sung n. story ເພງເອເວງ sungvogú n. female buffalo האושאים sungvolóng n. wild buffalo sukdum n. world تهرش ين sukmut n. wind sut v. purify súk v. pound, strike يس sút n. message

∞ W-

(७५) womú n. spindle (७५) wómú n. jackal (७ wó n. tub औ(* wúrdo n. sling

æ ?-

歌 ?yá adv. formerly, a long time ago, in the days of old 歌 ?yáp v. chop
③ ?yo adv. before, formerly, some time ago
⑤ ?yochám adv. three days ago
⑥ ?yochót adv. four days ago
⑥ ?yor n. pitfall
⑥ ⑥ ?yotshóng ~ ?itshóng adv. day before yesterday, two days ago
⑥ ?yók n. work, job, chore
⑧ ?yum v. ripen, bring to maturity
⑤ ?yel v. divert

```
🕉 ?yen adv. last year
🕈 ?ân and
æ(₹ ?ákâ n. hand
&(€ ?ákán n. hurry
&is ₹ ?ákíng n. front
&(Æ ?ákón n. taste
B(E) Pákup n. child
સાર્ક ?ákyâng adj. light, bright
&(j臺 ?ákrím adj. bitter
スパップ ?áklyam adj. sweet
સાઉર ?ákhú adj. expensive
સ(ડ્રિં ?ágít n. tribe
સાજ ?ágó n. joy, happiness
Bu Págek n. birth
Bull ~ wi ?ágyáp ~ gyáp adj. much, very
&(3) Pángpur n. tunnel, opening
BIOINI Pácálá adv. still
Bus Pácáng n. back
&((ॐ ?ácor adj. sour
સ(જે) ?ácum adj. small
& Pácún adv. below, lower down, beneath
Bio Páce n. love
શું ર્જી ?áchú adv. this down here, this down below
સાર્જં ?ájóm adj. easy, simple
श्रह्म ?ányúr n. ear
ষ্ট ?átâng n. a fat male beast
zíje ?áti n. sole
zíjě ?átí n. egg
સાર્જિ ?átím adj. big
ষ্ট্রের ?átímmú adj. big
Ris Pátet adv. this much, this many
عربه ?átháng adv. this up there
But Páthong n. leg
auß ?áthól adj. very near, very close
2013 ?áthú adv. this up over there, this up above there
Bis Páthyák n. head
&((‡ ?ádók n. pain
```

ጿ(ች) ?ádúm adj. white ጿ(ሩት)(?ádyáng n. lower leg 216

GLOSSARY

- સર્જા ?ádyút n. fight
- **&** (in a range of a
- ชเต็ ?ánóm n. elder sister
- ສເລັງ ?ánum n. younger brother
- æ(j∄ ?ápíl n. shadow
- **શ**∫ૐ ?ápín adv. this on the other side
- and there and there are sides, here and there
- శ్రీ ~ ప్రే ?ápun ~ pun adj. near, close
- Ruft ?áfi adv. this just here, this nearby here
- acjó Páflík adj. some
- &us ?áfo n. tooth
- Rus ?áfong adj. green
- 3(0) Pábá adv. here, this here
- 3(50 ?ábi adv. here, this right here
- zuo ?ábo n. father
- Bus Pábong n. mouth
- ชแจ้ ?ábon adv. on this side
- 36 ?ábek n. middle
- Bison Pábryáng n. name
- र्श्व ?ámel n. hair
- æ(Ĵŧ ?ámík n. eye
- а; ?ámlem n. face
- र्हा र्वेmú n. mother
- સાઉં ?átsóm n. hair
- अ(सं ?ázóm n. rice, food
- & (4) Pázuk adj. pretty
- 3(e) Páyu n. wife, woman joined in marriage to a husband
- zíj ?árí n. scent
- zuf ?áríng n. language
- zur ?árom n. fear
- æικη ?árum adv. far
- Roy Páre pron. this
- સાજંગ ?áryúm adj. good
- **å**(?ál adj. new
- ຊື່(\$\tilde{\oldsymbol{\sigma}} ?állât n. freshness, newness
- સ(ડ્રેંજે ?álín n. speech, talk
- acjä ?álím adj. heavy
- Ration Pálóng adv. now, at this very moment
- Button ?álóngbá adv. in a moment, in a little while

- Button Pálónglá adv. still
- Bus Pálon adv. in this direction
- ลแจ๊ ?álom adv. like this
- ชแด้ ?álol adv. this way, in this direction
- Ray Pálut n. heart
- Rio Pálem adv. in this direction, hither
- Balyú n. cat
- अर्फ़ ?áhret n. bone
- સાર્ને ?áhyâng adj. cold
- સ(માં) ?áhyur adj. red
- Bus Pávyo n. tibia
- સાંદે ?áshúm adj. fat
- عني عásúm adj. spicy
- χις γά?út n. origin, creation
- 変(凌 ?á?óm n. radiance
- *§ ik* adj. still
- § ?íng n. younger sibling
- ر كۆر كingngá n. child
- € ?ít v. create
- (3x) ?ochú adv. that down here
- (3) Potet adv. that much, this many
- (3)6 ?othá adv. then, at that time
- (3.16) Potháng adv. that up there
- (25) ?othú adv. that up over there
- (2) \$\frac{3}{2} ?opín adv. that on the other side
- (30) ?obá adv. there
- (3.63 ?obon adv. on that side
- (2015) Potshóng adv. that day
- (300 Polol adv. that way, in that direction
- (3(8) Polom adv. like that
- (3.63 *?olon* in that direction
- ষ্টে ?olem adv. in that direction, thither
- (?ok v. open
- ∢**₹** ?óng n. boy
- (3.4) Póngkup n. small boy
- & ?ôt v. pluck, as fruits
- 蔼 ?óm v. shine
- હ્યુ ?úng n. water
- ह्य ?út n. otter

- ຂຶ້ງ ?ún n. horse ຮັງ ?um adj. ripe, sweet, tasty ຮັງ ?ul v. sell ຮັ້ງວຽ ?ulbú n. salesman, seller

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Benedict, Paul King 1943, 'Secondary infixation in Lepcha', *Studies in Linguistics* 1 (19), 1-2.
- Benedict, Paul King 1972, *Sino-Tibetan: A Conspectus*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bodman, Nicholas Cleveland 1988, 'On the place of Lepcha in Sino-Tibetan. A lexical comparison', *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 11 (1), 1-26.
- Bodman, Nicholas Cleveland 1989, 'Some remarks on Lepcha vowels', in: David Bradley et al., *Prosodic Analysis and Asian Linguistics*. *To honour R. K. Sprigg*, Canberra: Pacific Linguistics, 137-141.
- Campbell, Archibald 1840, 'Note on the Lepchas of Sikkim, with a vocabulary of their language', *Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal* 9, 379-393.
- Campbell, Archibald 1869, 'On the Lepchas', *Journal of the Ethnological Society of London* new series 1 (2), 143-157.
- Cemjong, Imansimha 1970-71 (VS 2026), *Lapca Nepali Angreji Sabdakos*, Kathmandu: Royal Nepal Academy.
- Chakraborty, Ashit Ranjan 1978, Read Lepcha. An introduction to the Lepcha or Rong script and a self-instruction for reading the language, New Delhi: C. Chakraborty.
- Chattopadhyay, Tapan 1990, *Lepchas and their heritage*, New Delhi: B.R. Publishing Corporation.
- Das, Amal Kumar and S.K. Banerjee 1962, 'The Lepchas of the Darjeeling District', *Bulletin of the Cultural Research Institute* special series 2, Calcutta, 1-168.
- Das, Kali Kumar 1896, 'The Lepcha people and their notions of heaven and hell', *Journal of the Buddhist Text Society* 4 (App. 1), 1-5.
- Driem, George Louis van 1987, *A Grammar of Limbu*, Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter.

- Driem, George Louis van 1990, 'Review of La Langue Hayu by Boyd Michailovsky', *Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies* 53 (3): 565-571.
- Driem, George Louis van 1993a, *A Grammar of Dumi*, Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter.
- Driem, George Louis van 1993b, 'Einige Bemerkungen zum Aspekt im Limbu', *Linguistische Berichte* 148, 483-489.
- Driem, George Louis van 1998, *Dzongkha*, Leiden: Research School for Asian, African and Amerindian Studies.
- Driem, George Louis van 2001, Languages of the Himalayas. An Ethnolinguistic Handbook of the Greater Himalayan Region, Leiden: Koninklijke Brill.
- Drouin, E. 1901, 'Spécimen de textes lepcha', *Journal Asiatique* 9 (17), 558-563.
- Feer, Léon 1898 'Spécimen de la langue lepcha (ou rong)', *Journal Asiatique* 9 (12), 177-188.
- Foning, Arthur R. 1987, *Lepcha, my vanishing tribe*, New Delhi: Sterling Publications Ltd.
- Forrest, R.A.D. 1962, 'The linguistic position of Róng (Lepcha)', Journal of the American Oriental Society 82, 331-335.
- Gorer, Geoffrey 1938, *Himalayan Village*. An Account of the Lepchas of Sikkim, London: M. Joseph Ltd.
- Grierson, George A. 1909, Linguistic Survey of India. Vol. III. Tibeto-Burman Family. Part I. General Introduction, Specimens of the Tibetan Dialects, The Himalayan Dialects, and the North Assam Group. Calcutta: Government of India, Reprinted: Delhi, Varanasi, Patna. Motilal Banarsidass 1967.
- Grünwedel, Albert 1892, 'A Róng-English Glossary', *T'oung Pao* 3, 238-309.
- Grünwedel, Albert 1896a, 'Drei Leptscha Texte, mit Auszüge aus dem Padma-than-yig und Glossar', *T'oung Pao* 7, 522-561.
- Grünwedel, Albert 1896b, 'Ein Kapitel des Ta-she-Sung', Festschrift für Adolf Bastian, Berlin.
- Grünwedel, Albert 1897, 'Leptscha-Text mit Übersetzung', Veröffentlichungen aus dem Königlichen Museum für Völkerkunde zu Berlin 4 (Buddhistische Studien I), 118-126.
- Grünwedel, Albert, ed. 1898a, *Dictionary of the Lepcha Language*, Berlin.

- Grünwedel, Albert 1898b, 'Padmasambhava und Mandarava. Leptscha Übersetzung des Mandarava-Legende', Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenländischen Gesellschaft 52, 447-461.
- Grünwedel, Albert 1913, 'Padmasambhava und verwandtes', *Baessler-Archiv* 3, 1-37.
- Haarh, Erik 1959, 'The Lepcha Script', *Acta Orientalia* (ed. Societates Orientalia Batavia Danica Norvegica) 24, 107-122.
- Hermanns, Father Matthias 1954, *The Indo-Tibetans*, Bombay: Fernandes.
- Hooker, Joseph Dalton 1855, *Himalayan Journals*, London: Ward, Lock & Co.
- Klafkowski, Piotr 1980, 'Rong (Lepcha), the vanishing language and culture of Eastern Himalaya', *Lingua Posnaniensis* 23, 105-118.
- Klafkowski, Piotr 1983, '...But they don't have any literature!' Or a few words on the Rong (Lepcha) heritage', in: Ernst Steinkellner and Helmut Tauscher, eds., *Contributions on Tibetan Language, History and Culture* (Proceedings of the Csoma de Körös Symposium held at Velm-Vienna, Austria, 13-19 September 1981, Vol. 1), Vienna: Arbeitskreis für Tibetische und Buddhistische Studien Universität Wien, 163-173.
- Kortlandt, Frederik 1984, 'Old Irish subjunctives and futures and their Proto-Indo-European origins', *Ériu* 35, 179-187.
- Kumar, Braj Bihari and G. Chiring 1978, *Hindi Lepca (Ron) kosa*, Kohima: Nagaland Bhasa Parishad.
- Luksóm, Dóngtshen 1981, *Mútunci Róngthryum un Ríngtshuktóm. A Lepcha Grammar and Composition*, Gangtok: Department of Education, Government of Sikkim.
- Luksóm, Dóngtshen 1983, *Róng-Hindi-Ánggrezí tshukzât. Lepca Hindi Angreji Sabdakos. Lepcha Hindi English Dictionary*, Gangtok: Textbook Unit, Directorate of Education of the Government of Sikkim.
- Mainwaring, George Byres 1876, A Grammar of the Rong (Lepcha) Language as it Exists in the Dorjeling and Sikim Hills, Calcutta.
- Matisoff, James Alan 1975, 'Rhinoglottophilia: the mysterious connection between nasality and glottality', in: *Nasálfest. Papers from a symposium on nasals and nasalization*, Edited by Charles A. Ferguson, Larry M. Hyman and John J. Ohala, Language Universals Project, Department of Linguistics, Stanford University, Stanford, California, 265-287.

- Michailovsky, Boyd 1975, 'A case of Rhinoglottophilia in Hayu', Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area 2 (2), 293.
- Michailovsky, Boyd 1988, La langue hayu, Paris: Éditions du CNRS.
- Morris, J. 1938, *Living with Lepchas*. A book about the Sikkim Himalayas, London: Heinemann.
- Nebesky-Wojkowitz, René von 1952, 'Hochzeitslieder der Lepchas', *Asiatische Studien* (Bern) 6, 30-40.
- Nebesky-Wojkowitz, René von 1953a, 'Die Legende vom Turmbau der Lepcha', *Anthropos* 48, 889-897.
- Nebesky-Wojkowitz, René von 1953b, 'The religion of the Lepchas', *The Aryan Path* (Bombay), 24.
- Nebesky-Wojkowitz, René von 1956, Oracles and Demons of Tibet. The cult and Iconography of the Tibetan Protective Deities, The Hague: Mouton.
- Opgenort, Jean Robert 2004, A grammar of Wambule. Grammar, Lexicon, Texts and Cultural Survey of a Kiranti Tribe of Eastern Nepal, Brill's Tibetan Studies Library. Languages of the Greater Himalayan Region 2, Leiden: Koninklijke Brill.
- Perry, Cindy L. 1997, Nepali around the world. Emphasizing Nepali Christians of the Himalayas, Kathmandu: Ekta.
- Plaisier, Heleen 2003a, 'Lepcha', in: Graham Thurgood and Randy J. LaPolla, eds., *The Sino-Tibetan Languages*, Routledge Family Series 3. London and New York: Routledge, 705-716.
- Plaisier, Heleen 2003b, Catalogue of Lepcha Manuscripts in the Van Manen Collection, Kern Institute Miscellanea 11, Leiden: Kern Institute.
- Risley, Herbert Hope 1894, *The Gazetteer of Sikkim*, Calcutta: Bengal Secretariat Press.
- Rutgers, Roland 1998, *Yamphu: Grammar, Texts and Lexicon*, Leiden: Research School for Asian, African and Amerindian Studies.
- Schott, Wilhelm 1881, Über die Sprache des Volkes Rong oder Leptscha in Sikkim, Abhandlungen der Königlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften in Berlin (Phil. Hist. Klasse) 5, Berlin: Königlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften.
- Shafer, Robert 1955, 'Classification of the Sino-Tibetan languages', Word: Journal of the Linguistic Circle of New York 11, 94-111.
- Sinha, Prabhakar 1966, *A Descriptive Grammar of Lepcha*, unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, Pune: Deccan College Post-Graduate & Research Institute.

- Shipmú, Úgen and Karma Lode Rigimú, Nakú Tshering Likmú, Dorji Wángdi Kunchudyángmú 1996, *An English to Lepcha Dictionary*, Gangtok: Lyángdók Kurmóm.
- Siiger, Halfdan and Jørgen Rischel 1967, *The Lepchas. Culture and religion of a Himalayan people* (Nationalmuseets Skriften, Etnografisk række 11), Copenhagen: Gyldenal.
- Sprigg, Richard Keith 1966a, 'The glottal stop and glottal constriction in Lepcha and borrowing from Tibetan', *Bulletin of Tibetology* (Namgyal Institute of Tibetology, Gangtok, Sikkim) 3, 5-14.
- Sprigg, Richard Keith 1966b, 'Lepcha and Balti-Tibetan; tonal or non-tonal languages?', *Asia Major* new series 12 (2), 185-201.
- Sprigg, Richard Keith 1982, 'The Lepcha language and three hundred years of Tibetan influence in Sikkim', *Journal of the Asiatic Society* (Calcutta) 24, 16-31.
- Sprigg, Richard Keith 1983, 'Hooker's expenses in Sikkim, an early Lepcha text', *Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies* 46 (2), 305-325.
- Sprigg, Richard Keith 1986, 'The syllable finals of Tibetan loanwords in Lepcha orthography', *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 9 (1), 27-46.
- Sprigg, Richard Keith 1987, 'Rhinoglottophilia revisited: observations on the mysterious connection between nasality and glottality', *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 10 (1), 44-62.
- Sprigg, Richard Keith 1989, 'Oral vowels and nasalized vowels in Lepcha (Rong): as the key to a puzzling variation in spelling' in: Davidson, J.H.C.S., ed., *Contributions to South-East Asian linguistics: essays in honour of Eugénie J.A. Henderson*, London: School of Oriental and African Studies, 219-235.
- Sprigg, Richard Keith 1997, 'Lepcha orthography: An earlier and later stage', in David Bradley ed., *Tibeto-Burman languages of the Himalayas* (Papers in Southeast Asian Linguistics 14), Canberra: Pacific Linguistics, 175-182.
- Sprigg, Richard Keith 1998, 'Original and sophisticated features of the Lepcha and Limbu scripts', *Nepalese Linguistics* 15, 1-18.
- Start, William and Karl Gottlieb Niebel 1849, *The book of Genesis and part of Exodus in Lepshá*, Calcutta: Baptist Mission Press
- Start, William and Karl Gottlieb Niebel 1872, *The Gospel of John, in Lepcha*, Calcutta: Baptist Mission Press.

- Stocks, C. de Beauvoir 1925, 'Folklore and customs of the lap-chas of Sikkim', *Journal and proceedings of the Asiatic Society of Bengal* new series 21, 325-505.
- Támsáng, Khárpú 1978, *Róngríngthrím: A Grammar of the Lepcha Language*, Kalimpong: Lyángsóng Támsáng.
- Támsáng, Khárpú 1980, *The Lepcha-English Encyclopedic Dictionary*, Kalimpong: Mayel Clymit Támsáng.
- Támsáng, Khárpú 1982a, *Róng Chomíng ?ân Lâzóng*, Kalimpong: Mani Printing Works.
- Támsáng, Khárpú 1982b, *The Unknown and Untold Reality about the Lepchas*, Kalimpong: Lyángsóng Támsáng.
- Thakur, Rudranand 1988, *Himalayan Lepchas*, New Delhi: Archives Publishers.
- Waddell, Lawrence Austine 1892, 'Place and River-Names in the Darjiling District and Sikhim', *Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal* 60, 53-79.
- Waddell, Lawrence Austine 1895, *The Buddhism of Tibet or Lamaism*, London: W.H. Allen.
- Waddell, Lawrence Austine 1899, 'The Lepchas or Rong and their songs', *Internationales Archiv für Ethnographie* 12, 41-57.

INDEX

| ablative suffix (ABL) | 71-79, 120-123 |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|
| adhortative | 81-82, 119-120 |
| adjectives | 39-41, 47, 86-87 |
| adverbs | 39-40 |
| adversative conjunction | 134-135 |
| agreement | 47, 97, 100 |
| Aktionsart | 116-119 |
| alternative conjunction | 133-134 |
| approximative suffix | 66 |
| assertive particle (AST) | 105-106 |
| authorative particle (AUTH) | 126 |
| auxiliary verbs | 98 |
| beneficiary | 83-86 |
| causatives | 45-46 |
| certainty particle (CRT) | 129 |
| comitative suffix | 76-81 |
| comparison | 87-88 |
| completive auxiliary (CMP) | 119 |
| concessive conjunction | 136 |
| conditional conjunction | 135-136 |
| coordinative suffix | 132-133 |
| dative suffix (DAT) | 83-86 |
| definite article (DEF) | 54-59 |
| discovery particle (DSC) | 130-131 |
| dubitative particle (DBT) | 126-127 |
| dynamic auxiliary | 113 |
| ergativity | 121-123 |
| exhaustive auxiliary (EXH) | 118 |
| factitive marker (FCT) | 91, 115-116,137-138 |
| gerund | 107-109 |
| human plural suffix (PL.H) | 48-54 |
| imperative | 107 |
| imperfective | 115 |
| | |

226 INDEX

| individuative suffix (IND) | 59-60 |
|---------------------------------|----------------|
| inferential particle (IFR) | 127-129 |
| infinitive (INF) | 109-111 |
| instrumental suffix | 73, 77 |
| interrogative particle (Q) | 66 |
| lative suffix | 73-75 |
| locative suffix (LOC) | 81-85, 119-120 |
| manifoldness | 49-51 |
| mirativity | 130 |
| negation | 106 |
| non-human plural suffix (PL.NH) | 48-54 |
| non-preterite tense (NPR) | 113-115 |
| participle (PTC) | 107-109 |
| perfect auxiliary (PRF) | 116-117 |
| plurality | 48-54 |
| possibility particle (PSB) | 127 |
| preterite tense | 111-112 |
| progressive tense (PRG) | 113 |
| quotative particle | 132 |
| reification | 116 |
| reportative particle (REP) | 131-132 |
| request particle (REQ) | 125 |
| resultative auxiliary (RES) | 117 |
| rhinoglottophilia | 15 |
| supine | 81-82, 97-100 |
| topic marker | 55 |
| verb stems | 97-100 |
| word class | 39 |
| | |